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April 12, 2019

His Excellency, Governor ChristopherT. Sununu
and the Honorable Council

State House

Concord, New Hampshire 03301

REQUESTED ACTION

Authorize the Department of Health and Human Services, Division for Behavioral Health, to enter
into a sole source amendment with Granite Pathways, Inc., (Vendor #228900), 10 Ferry Street, Suite
319, Concord, New Hampshire 03301, by increasing the price limitation by $90,000 from $0to an amount
not to exceed $90,000 to enable the Contractor to access State Opioid Response (SOR) grant funds for
the provision of residential adolescent Opioid Use Disorder (CUD) treatment services, to be effective
retroactive to January 1, 2019 upon the date of Governor and Executive Council approval, through
September 30, 2020. The underlying contract completion date for services to be provided remains
unchanged as October 31, 2022. 100% Federal Funds.

I

This agreement was originally approved by the Governor and Council on October 3, 2018 (Late
Item #A-Vote 5-0).

Funds are available in the following account for State Fiscal Year 2019 and are anticipated to be
available in State Fiscal Year 2020, upon the -availability and continued appropriation of funds in the
future operating budgets, with authority to adjust encumbrances between State Fiscal Years within the
price limitation through the Budget Office.

05-95-92-920510-7040 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, DEPT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SVS, HHS:
BEHAVIORAL HEALTH DIV, BUREAU OF DRUG & ALCOHOL SERVICES, STATE OPIOID
RESPONSE GRANT

SFY Class/Account Class Title Job Number
Current

Amount

Increase/

Decrease

Total

Amount

2019 102/500731 Contracts for

Program Services

92057040 $0 $25,000 $25,000

2020 102/500731 Contracts for 92057040 $0 $65,000

Subtotal $0 $90,000

$65,000

$90,000
Total $0 $90,000 $90,000



EXPLANATION

This request is retroactive to allow Granite Pathways, Inc., to access SDR grant funds for
adolescent residential Opioid Use Disorder (DUD) services that have been provided under the agreement
since January 1, 2019. Due to the complexity of the SOR Grant Project, the amount of funding available
was not allocated when the agreement was initially approved.

This request is sole source because Granite Pathways, Inc. is currently the only organization in
New Hampshire that operates a residential treatment center for youth diagnosed with OUD. Additionally,
the grant funding exceeds ten percent (10%) of the original contract price limitation.

The purpose of this request is to support the continued provision of vital residential treatment
services to youth who are diagnosed with OUD and receive Medlcald. In response to the legislative
mandates included in MB 517, Chapter 156:166, Laws of 2017, Budget Trailer Bill, the Department
renovated excess capacity at the Sununu Youth Services Center in Manchester, New Hampshire for the
operation of a residential facility to provide substance use disorder treatment and recovery services for
adolescents. On October 3, 2018, the Governor and Executive Council approved a lease agreement for
premises located at the Sununu Youth Services Center and a sen/ice agreement with Granite Pathways,
Inc. Granite Pathways, Inc. has been successfully serving youth with substance use disorder since
November 15, 2018. Services assist adolescents in overcoming substance misuse and other mental
health and behavioral challenges that may inhibit their successful achievement of recovery.

The service agreement requires Granite Pathways. Inc. to provide residential treatment services
which include both low and medium intensity residential treatment consistent with ASAM Levels 3.1 and
3.5 for adolescents diagnosed with OUD. This amendment is part of the State's recently approved plan
under the State Opioid Response (SOR) grant, which Identi^ed access to residential treatment as a
funding priority. The SOR Project.has allocated federal dollars to be used to support residential treatment,
allowing billing of $100.00 per day for room and board costs associated with the treatment of adolescents
diagnosed with OUD, who are also receiving Medicaid. Funding through the SOR Grant Project is
available from January 1, 2019 through September 30, 2020. The underlying contract completion date
for services to be provided by Granite Pathways remains unchanged as October 31, 2022.

Granite Pathways, Inc. has the capacity to serve up to thirty-six (36) adolescents diagnosed with
OUD at a time, and the number of individuals served by the funding provided through this amendment
will vary based on the census. ^

The following performance measures/objectives will be used to measure the effectiveness of this
amendment to the service agreement:

The Contractor shall ensure that 100% of clients referred to them by the Regional Doon/vay
for SUD Services for residential levels of care 3.1 and/or 3.5 who will be covered by room

and board payments have proper consents in place for transfer of information for the

purposes of data collection between the DoonA/ay and the Contractor.

•  The Contractor shall ensure that 100% of clients covered by room and board payments

for ASAM residential levels of care 3.1 and/or 3.5 that enter care, directly through the

Contractor who consent to information sharing with the Regional Doon/vay for SUD

Services receive a Doorway referral for ongoing care coordination.

Should the Governor and Executive Council not authorize this Request, the delivery of residential
services for youth diagnosed with OUD may be ̂significantly diminished.

Area served: Statewide.



Source of Funds: 100% Federal Funds from SAMHA SOR Funds, CFDA 93.78 FAIN T1081685

In the event that the Federal (or Other) Funds become no longer available, General Funds will
not be requested to support this program.

^spectfully submitted,

Nieffrev A. ffrey A. Meyers
Commissioner

The Department of Heallh and Human Services' Mission is to join communities and families
in providing opportunities for citizens to achieve health and independence.



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Residential Adolescent Substance Use Disorder Treatment Services

State of New Hariipshire Department of Health dnd Human Services
Amendment #1 to the Residential Adolescent Substance Use

Disorder Treatment Services Agreement
'  • i ^

This 1" Amendment to the Substance Use Disorder Treatment Services Agreement (hereinafter
referred to as "Amendment #1") is by and between the. State of New Hampshire, Department of Health
and Human Services (hereihafter referred to as the "State" or "Department") and Granite'Pathways,
Inc.. (hereinafter referred to as "the Gontractor"), a nonprofit corporation With a place of business at 10
Ferry'Street, Suite 319, Concord; NH 03301. ■ ,

WHEREAS, pursuanfto the-Agreemeht approved by the Governor and Executive Council on October 3.
2018 (Late Item #A), the Contractor agreed to perform certain services based upon specified terrris and
.conditions; and .

4

WHEREAS, pursuant to Form P-37, General Provisions, Paragraph 18, the Agreement-'may be
amended upon written agreement of the parties and approval from the Governor and Executive
Council; and '

WHEREAS, the parties agree to. amend the Agreement to enable to Contractor to access State Opioid
Response (SOR) grant funds; and ' ' * '

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual covenants and conditions
contained In the Agreement and set forth herein, the parties hereto agree to amend the Agreement as
follows: . ' '

1. Modify Form P-37, General Provisions, Block 1'.6, Account Number, to read 95-92-926510-.
70400000-102. ^ ' i ■

2. Modify Form P-37, Price Limitation, to read $90,000. ' .

3. Modjfy Exhibit B, Pavrhent Schedule, bv adding the header "Section 1," amending* the first
paragraph of Section 1, and adding "Section 2" all as set forth In the attached revised Exhibit B
- Amendment #1, Pavment Schedule, which is incorporated by reference herein.

4. All terms and conditions of the Agreement not inconsistent with this Amendment #1 remain in
full force and effect.

5. Subject to the approval of the Governor and Executive Council, this Amendment #1, shall be
effective on January 1, 2019 and will terminate on September 30, 2020, at which .time the
revised Exhibit B - Amendment #1 will revert to the original Exhibit B approved by the Governor
and Executive Council on October 3, 2018.

Granite Pathways, Inc. ' Amendment #1
RFP-2018-BDAS-1'1-RESID Page 1 of3



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Residential Adolescent Substance Use Disorder Treatment Services

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have set their hands as of the date written below,

State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services

Date Katja S. Fox
Director, Division for Behavioral Health

4/2/19

Date

Granite Pathways, Inc.

Name; Kenneth Brezeni
Title: General Couns

Acknowledgment of Contractor's signature:

State of New York ,• County of New York on April 2, 2019 before the .

undersigned officer, personally appeared the person identified directly above, or satisfactorily proven to
be the person whose name Is signed above, and acknowledged that s/he executed this document in
the capacity indicated above.

—

Signature Notary Public or Justice of the Peace

A>n. P,;
Name anoLtitle of Notary or Justice of the Peace

My Commission Expires: )
^ A ̂  ̂  ̂  ̂

AMY REISNER

Notary Public • State of New York
NO. 01RE6215281

Qualified in Kings Countf j
My Commission Expires _ir/^/.U

Granite Pathways, Inc.
RFP-2018-BDAS-11-RESID

Amendment #1

Page 2 of 3



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Residential Adolescent Substance Use Disorder Treatment Services

The preceding Amendment, having been reviewed by this office, is approved as to form, substance,
and execution.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

Ul

Date Name:

Title:

I hereby certify that the foregoing Amendmerit was approved by the Governor and Executive Council of
the State of New Hampshire at the^Meeting on: • (date of meeting)

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE

Date. . Name:

Title:

Granite Pathways, inc. Amendment #1
RFP-2018-BDAS-11-RESID Page 3 of 3



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Residential Adolescent Substance Use Disorder Treatment Services

Exhibit B-Amendment#1'

Payment Schedule

Section 1

1. The Department will not provide payment to the Contractor for services provided by the
Contractor under this Agreement, except as specified in the terms set forth in Section 2
below.

2. The Contractor shall make payments to the Department according to the terms set forth in
the Lease Agreement between the Department and the.Contractor (referenced in Exhibit A
of this Agreement) for premises located at 1056 North ̂ iver Road in Manchester, New
Hampshire, where the Contractor will provide the Residential Adolescent Substance Use
Disorder Treatment Services required in this Agreement. ,

'' ^ '

3. In consideration of the work to be performed pursuant to Exhibit A herein, the Department
granted Contractor the right to lease the premises referenced above in accordance with the
Lease Agreement. Contractor agrees that the right to lease the premises as set forth in the
Lease Agreement is sufficient consideration under this Agreement.

Section 2 - Pavment for Residential Treatment Services under the State Ooioid Response Grant.

1. The payment terms for residential treatment services under the State Opioid Response
"(SOR) grant shall be effective January 1, 2019 through September 30, 2020.

.  1.1.1 Funds available in State Fiscal Year 2019 are $25,000. ,

1.1.2 Funds available lin State Fiscal Year 2020 are $65,000. ■

2. All obligations of the State are contingent upon receipt of federal funds under the SOR grant
from the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. The Contractor will
not receive any funds for services provided after September 30, 2020.

3. Paragraph 1.11 of Exhibit A of the Agreement "requires the Contractor to provide residential
treatment services which include both low and medium intensity residential treatment '
consistent with ASAM Levels 3.1 and 3.5 for,adolescents.

•  , >

4. The Contractor shall bill the Department $100.00 per day for room and board costs for
Medicaid clients who are diagnosed with Opioid Use Disorder that meets the ASAM Levels
3.1 or 3.5 for SUD residential treatment, in an amount not to exceed the funds available as
stated in paragraph 1 above. Any remaining grant funds for services provided after
September 30, 2020 will hot be paid to the Contractor.

5. Reimbursement for the residential treatment services referenced in paragraphs 3 and 4
above is funded by federal funds from the United States Department of Health and Human

Granite Pathways, Inc. • Exhibit B-1. Amendment#! Contractorlnilials tJb

RFP.2018-BDAS-11-RESip Page! of4 .Date '-4/2/19



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Residential Adolescent Substance Use Disorder Treatment Services

Exhibit B-Amendment #1

Payment Schedule

Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services'Administration,' State Opioid
Response Grant (CFDA) #93.788. Funding is available until September 30, 2020.

6. State Opioid Response (SCR) Grant Standards

.6.1. In order to receive payments for services provided through SOR grant funded initiatives,

the Contractor shall establish formal information sharing and referral agreements with all

Regional Doorways for Substance Use Services that comply'with all applicable
'  ̂ confidentiality laws, including 42 CFR Part 2.

6.2. In order to receive payment for any invoices submitted to the Department for services

provided through SOR granted funded initiatives, the Contractor shall complete patient

referrals to applicable Doorways for substance use,disorder services within three (3)

business days of a client's admission to the program. ' The Department shall verify client

referrals through the New Hampshire Web Information Technology Systern (WITS) and/or

through audits of Contractor invoices.

6.3. The Contractor shall ensure that only FDA-approved MAT (Medication-Assisted

.Treatment) for Opioid Use. Disorder (CUD) is utilized. FDA-approved MAT for CUD

includes: • ' ' • /

6.3.1. Methadone.

6.3.2. Buprenorphine products, including:

6.3.3. Single-entity buprenorphine products. "

6.3.4. Buprenorphine/naloxone tablets.

6.3.5. Buprenorphine/naloxone films.

6.3.6. Buprenorphine/naloxone buccal preparations.

6.3.7. Long-acting injectable buprenorphine products.

6.3.8. * Buprenorphine implants.

6.3.9. Injectable extended-release naltrexone.-

6.4. The Contractor-shall only provide'medical withdrawal management services to any
individual supported by. SOR grant funds if the withdrawal management service is

accompanied by the use of injectable extended-release naltrexone, as' clinically

appropriate..

6.5. The Contractor shall ensure that clients receiving financial aid for recovery housing

utilizing SOR funds shall only be in a recovery housing facility that.is aligned-with the

National Alliance for Recovery Residences standards and registered with the State of

Granite Pathways, Inc. Exhibit B-1, Amendment#! Contractor Initials

RFP-2018-BDAS-11-RESID Page 2 of 4 " • Date 4/2/19



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Residential Adolescent Substance Use Disorder Treatment Services

Exhibit B-Amendment #1

Payment Schedule

New Hampshire, Bureau of Drug and Alcohol Services in accordance with current NH

Administrative Rules.-

6.6. The Contractor shall assist clients with enrolling in public or private health insurance, if

the client Is determined eligible for such coverage.

6.7. The Contractor shall accept clients for MAT and facilitate access to MAT on-site or

through referral for all clients supported with SOR Grant funds, as clinically appropriate.

6.8. The Contractor shall coordinate with the NH Ryan White HIV/AIDs program for clients

identified as at risk of or with HIV/AIDS

6.9. The Contractor shall ensure that all clients are regularly screened for tobacco use,
treatment needs, and referral to the QuitLine as part of treatment planning.

6.10. The Contractor shall ensure that 100% of clients covered by room and board payments

for residential levels .of care 3.1 and/or 3.5 that enter care directly through the

Contractor who consent to information sharing with the Regional Doorway for SUD

Services receive a Doorway referral for ongoing care coordination.

6.11. The Contractor shall ensure that 100% of clients referred to them by the Regional

Doorway for SUD Services for residential levels of care 3.1 and/or 3.5 who will be

covered by room and board payments under this contract have proper consents in
place for transfer of information for the purposes of data collection between the

Doorway and the Contractor.

6.12. The Contractor shall ensure that clients receiving services rendered from SOR funds
have a documented history of/or current diagnoses of Opioid Use Disorder.

6.13. The Contractor shall coordinate ongoing client care for all clients with documented

history of/or current diagnoses of Opioid Use Disorder, receiving services rendered

from SOR funds, with regional Doorway(s) for Substance Use Disorder services in

accordance with 42 CFR Part 2.

7. Billing information for: Room and Board for Medicaid clients with Opioid Use DisoTder

7.1. The Contractor shall invoice the Department for Room and Board payments for Medicaid

clients with OUD in Residential Levels of Care ASAM 3.1 or ASAM 3.5 in the amount of

$100.00 per day, effective January 1, 2019 through September 30, 2020.

7.2. The Contractor shall maintain documentation of the following:

7.2.1. Medicaid ID of the Client;

7.2.2. WITS Client ID# of the Client {if applicable);

Granite Pathways, inc. Exhibit B-1. Amendment #1 Contractor Initials m.
RFP-2018-BDAS-11-RESID ' Page3of4 Date 4/2/19



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Residential Adolescent Substance Use DIsorder.Treatment Services

''Exhibit B-Amendmeht #1

Payment Schedule

7.2.3. Period for which room and board payments cover;

7.2.4. Level of Care for which the client received services for the date range

identified in 9.2.3. above;

7.2.5. Amount being billed to the Department for the sen/ice.

7.3. The Contractor shall submit ah invoice by the twentieth (20th) day of each month, which

identifies and requests reimbursement for, authorized expenses incurred for room and

board in the prior month.. The State shall make payment to the Contractor within thirty

(30) days of receipt of each invoice, subsequent to approval of the submitted invoice

and if sufficient funds are'available. Invoices must be submitted,to the Department in
an approved manner.

8. The Contractor shall keep detailed records of their activities related to Department-funded
programs and services. , • "

9. Notwithstanding an;^hing to the contrary herein, the Contractor agrees that funding under this
Amendment to the Agreement may be withheld, in whole or in part, in the event of non-
compliance with any Federal or State law, rule or regulation applicable to the services
provided, or if the services have not been satisfactorily completed.

10. Notwithstanding paragraph 18 of the General Provisions P-37, changes limited to adjusting
encumbrances between state fiscal years within the price limitation may be made by written
agreement of the parties through the Budget Office, if needed and justified.

Granite Pathways, inc. '' Exhibit B-1, Amendment #1 Contractor initials.
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state of New Hampshire

Department of State

CERTIFICATE

I, William M. Gardner, Secretary of State of the State of New Hampshire, do hereby certify that.GRANITE PATHWAYS is

a New Hampshire Nonprofit Corporation registcrcd to transact business'in New Hampshire on May 08, 2009. I further certify that,
f. .1 , ■

all fees and documents required by the Secretary of State's office have been received and is in'good standing as far as this office is

concerned.

Business ID: 613581

Certificate Number: 0004486191

SI IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF,

I hereto set my hand and cause to be afTixcd

the Seal of the State of New Hampshire,

this 2nd.day of April A.D. 2019.

William M. Gardner

Secretary of State



CERTIFICATE OF VOTE

I, ^'ilh/^h-\ T'- ^tclot^ , do hereby certify that:
(Name of the elected Officer of the Agency; cannot be contract signatory)

1. 1 am a duly elected Officer of Granite Pathways. Inc. .
(Agency Name)

2. The following is a true copy of the resolution duly adopted at a meeting of the Board of Directors of

the Agency duly held on /Q ' ^ ^ :
(Date)

RESOLVED: That the General Counsel
(Title of Contract Signatory)

Is hereby authorized on behalf of this Agency to enter into the said contract with the State and to
execute any and all documents, agreements and other Instruments, and any amendments, revisions,
or modifications thereto, as he/she may deem necessary, desirable or appropriate.

3. The forgoing resolutions have not been amended or revoked, and remain in full force and effect as of

the 2nd day of April 2019 .
(Date Contract Signed)

4. Kenneth Brezenoff is the duly elected General Counsel
(Name of Contract Signatory) (Title of Contract Signatory)

of the Agency.

ML
(Signature of the Elected Officer)

STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

County of V^;\khoroujW
The forgoing instrument was acknowledged before me this of ftpnl 20 .

By
(Name of Elected Officer of the Agency)

EXPIRES

CUal '¥■ CifflfM
■) (Notary Public/Justfce of the Peace)

(N'6taRY SEAL)

Commission Expires: ^



Client#; 1497832 FEDCAREH1

ACORD. CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

4/02/2019

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS

CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES '

BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER. AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

IMPORTANT: if the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must^have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or t>e endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on

this certificate does not confer any rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endor$ement(s).

PRODUCER

USI Insurance Services LLC

333 Westchester Ave, Suite 102

White Plains, NY 10604

914 459-6200

NAME*^^ Khaili Elaouni
r/t)?;ifo.Ex.t: 914 459-6200 610 537-4220

A^Ess: 'khalii.elaouni@usi.com
tNSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE NAiCi

INSURER A HMh«w*y SfMCtilty bv Co. 22276

INSURED

Granite Pathways, Inc.

303 Belmont Street

Manchester, NH 03103

INSURER B Bortishira Hothawiy HoituBtilo CompanUfl 20044

INSURER C

INSURER D

INSURER E

INSURER F

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER; . . REVISION NUMBER:

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED'TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD

INDICATED.' NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REOUIREMENT.'TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACTOR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERT/UN; THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS" SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH. POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS. •

INSR
LTR TYPE OF INSURANCE

ADDL
INSR

SUBR
WVO POUCY NUMBER

POUCY EFF
IMMrtJOriYYYl

POLICY EXP
(MM/ODfYYYYl .  OMR'S

A X COMMERCIAL G;nE>ULL LiABIUTY

3E 1 X| OCCUR '

*

47SPK25564203 09/30/2018 09/30/2019 EACH OCCURRENCE s1.000.000

CLAIMS-MA sl.OOO.OOO

MED EXP (Any one person) s20,000

PERSONAL S AOV INJURY sl.OOO.OOO ^

GENV AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER: GENERAL AGGREGATE s3.000.000

1  1 P''®- 1 1POUCY 1 1 JECT 1 1 LOC

OTHER;

PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGO S3,000,000
s

A AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY 47RWS14808204

>

09/30/2018 09/30/2019
COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT
(Ea ecddenn sl.OOO.OOO

X ANY AUTO '

HEOULED

rros
N.OWNED

ITOS ONLY

BODILY INJURY (Per person) s

OWNED
AUTOS ONLY

HIRED
AUTOS ONLY

sc
Al

BODILY INJURY (Per acddenl) s

X X
NC
Al

PROPERTY DAMAGE
(Per Hraarienll s

s

A X UMBRELLA UAB

EXCESS UAB

X OCCUR

CLAJMS-MAOE

47SUM14808304 09/30/2018 09/30/2019 EACH OCCURRENCE s25.000.000

AGGREGATE S25.000.000

DEO X RETENTIONSlOOOO s

B WORKERS COMPENSATION

AND EMPLOYERS' LlABILfTY y, ̂
ANY PRGPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECLmvEl 1
OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?. N
(Mandatory In NH)
If yea. describe under '
DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below

N/A

FEWC9211281 12/11/2018 12/11/2019 V PER OTH-
A RTATIITF ER

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT sl.OOO.OOO

E.L. DISEASE • EA EMPLOYEE sl.OOO.OOO

E.L. DISEASE POUCY LIMIT sl.OOO.OOO

A

A

Professional Liab

Abuse & Molest.

47SPK25564203

47SPK25564203

09/30/2018

09/30/2018

09/30/2019

09/30/2019

$3mm Agg/$1mm Occ
$3mm Agg/$1mm Occ

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS 1 VEHtCLES (ACORD 101, Additional Ramarkt Schadula, may ba attached If more apace la required)

State of New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services is included as additional insured as
required by written contract.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER CANCELLATION

State of New

Hampshire,Department of Health

and Human Services

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE

THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF. NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN

ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

129 Pleasant Street

Concord, NH 03301

'

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

UM

ACORD 25 (2016/03) 1 of 1
#825380182/M24449200

(S> 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved.

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD
KZECM
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Our Mission

Our mission is to support individuals with substance use disorders
and mental illness in achieving their life goalis as valued menibers of

their community.

Granite Pathways develops innovative, and sustainable solutions that
are changing people's lives.



Consolidated Financial Statements Together with
.Repont,ofJndependent-Certified-Bubllc-Accountants-

FEDCAP REHABILITATION SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

September 30, 2017 and 2016



FEDCAP REHABiUTATION SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSiDIARiES

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Pages

^ I •• J ^ A ^ ^
ivcpoi I I I lucp^l luvnt V^WlilllVU I UW4IV i 1 ncn ^ •-

Consolidated Financial Statements:'

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position as of September 30, 2017 and 2016 3

Consolidated Statements of Activities for the years ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 4

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 5

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 6-21

Supplementary Information:

Consolidating Statement of Financial Position as of September 30, 2017 23

Consolidating Statement of Activities for the year ended September 30, 2017 24

Consolidated Schedule of Functional Expenses for the year ended September 30, 2017
(with comparative totals for the year ended September 30, 2016) 25



GrantThornton

Grant Thornton LLP

757 Third Avenue, 9ih Floof
NewYork, NY 10017 '

1212.599.0100

F212.370,<520

-erantThomlon.com

Inkd.ln/GranlThomlonUS

tiMltter.cbm/GraniThomtonUS

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

To the Board of Directors of

FEDCAP Rehabititation Sendees, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of FEDCAP Rehabilitation Services, Inc. and
Subsidiaries (collectively, '"FEDCAP"), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as of
September 30, 2017 and 2016, and the related consolidated statements of activities and cash flows for the years then
ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Management's responsibility for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We

conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the

consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers inlemal control relevant to FEDCAP's preparation
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of FEDCAP's internal
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

Srail TlwmlaA LLP

U.S. rnemb* fm Grtnl Thomon IMtmMimir Ikf



w'e believe lliat the audit evidence we have obtained iS sufuCicnt and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

QpinlQn ..—.. ^ ——

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of FEDCAP Rehabilitation Services, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of September 30, 2017 and 2016,
and the changes in their net assets and their cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted In the United States of America.

Other matters

Supplementary Information

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a
whole. The accompanying supplementary information is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a
required part of the consolidated financial statements. Such supplementary information is the responsibility of
manag^^aiid was^erived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to
prepare the consolidated financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audits of the consolidated financial statements and certain additional procedures. These additional
procedures included comparing and reconciling the information directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated financial statements themselves,
and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America.- In our opinion, the supplementary information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the
consolidated financial statements as a whole.

New York, New York
May 11, 2018

-2-



FEDCAP REHABILITATION SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Cbnsolidated Statements of Financial Position
As of September 30, 2017 and 2016

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable (net of allowance for doubtful accounts of

approximately ($1,476,000 in 2017 and $2,080,000 in 2016)

Contributions receivable (net of allowance for uncollectible contributions

of approximately $0 and $ 115,000 in 2017 and 2016)

Inventories, net

Prepaidexpcnscsand-othcrasscts

Total current assets

LONG-TERM ASSETS

Investments

Fixed assets, net

An objects

Beneficial interest in remainder trust

Other assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Deferred revenues

Loans and advances from government contracts

Current portion of revolving loans

Current portion of obligations under capital leases

Current portion of long-term debt

Total current liabilities

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Obligations under capital leases

Long-term debt, net of current portion

Long-term revolving loans

Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies

NET ASSETS

Unrestricted

Temporarily restricted

Permanently restricted

Total net assets

Total liabilities and net assets

2017 2016

14,353,025

42,224,021

3,085,378

402,669

10,969,236

33,441,617

1,041,133

414,939

■2:2987491"571707104

65,185,197 48,165,416

14,724,135 17,345,073
74,924,787 75,855,170

21,-750 21,750
628,759 575,912
108,000 575,020

90,407,431 94,372,925

$  155,592,628 $ 142,538,341

$  32,382,996 $ 26,530,000
5,064,293 1,156,919
1,500,000

14,653,273
1,672,075. 1,663,775

674.420 754,995

55,947,057 30,105,689

34,867,513 35,008,645

22,750,756 23,415,325
3.000,000 16,486,698
3.407.780 2,191,849

119,973,106 107,208,206

32,810,556 33,176,435
2,224,538 1,569,272

584,428 584,428

35,619,522 35,330,135

$  155,592,628' $ 142.538,341

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidatedfinancial statements.
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FEDCAP REHABILITATION SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Activities
For the years ended September 30, 2017 and 2016

REVENUES

T(m|MrBrily

Reslricled

PcrmaneBlly

Restrtcled Adjailmcnl Unreitricled

Tcnporarily

Reslricled

Permanenlly

Reslricled jaslmenl

Conlncl services and products

Rchsbiliiaiionand vocational proyams

Contributions

Inherenl contribution

Unrealized gains on investments

Inteiest income

Miscellaneous revenue

Net assets released from restrictions

J  102.267.073 J

137.272,899

13.067.009

I.98S.80S

976.558

319.607

1.180.845

779.151

$

1.434.417

(779.1511

S S 102.267.073 S

137.272.899

14.501.426

1,985.805

976.558

319,607

1.180.845

10X312.128 S

120.306.703

3.416.316

202.380

129.415

124.717

1.797,383

745,820

J

140.000

(745.820)

$  ! S 102.31X128

120.306.703

3.556.316

202X80

129,415

124,717

1.797.383

Total revenues 257.848.947 655.266 258.504.213 229,034,862 (605.8201 228.429.042

EXPENSES

Program services:

Contract services and products

Rehabilitation and vocational programs

91,718.680

131.181.632

. . 91.718.630

131.181.632

90,986.554

105.862.539

, 90.986.554

105.862.539

222.900.313 . 222.900.312 196:849,093 . 196.849.093

Supporting services;

Management and general

Development

33.702.035

1.612.479

- 33.702.035

1.612.479

29,504,519

1.676.578

- - 29.504.519

1.676.578

35.314.514 . 35.314.514 31;181.097 . 31.181.097

Total expenses 258.214.826 . 258.214.826 228 030.190 ; 228.030,190

Change in net assets (365.8791 655.266
-

289,337 1.004.672 (605.820) 398,852

Net assets at beginning of year 33.176.435 1.569.272 584.428 35.330.135 32.171,763 2.175.092 584.428 1 34.931.283

Net assets at end of year S  32.810.556 $ 2.224.538 J 584.423 $ i 35,619.522 S 331176,435 J 1.569.272 $ 584.428 i i $ 35.330.135

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofthese consolidatedfinancial statements.

-4 -



FEDCAP REHABILITATION SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the years ended September 30, 2017 and 2016

2017 2016

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Change in nei assets

Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash (used in)
provided by operating activities;

Depreciation and amortization

Bad debt provision
inherent contribution

Unrcaiized-gain-on-investments

Changes in assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable

Contribution receivable

Inventories

Prepaid expenses and other assets

Beneficial interest in remainder trust

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Deferred revenue

Other liabilities

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities

$  289,387 $ 398,852

4,116,984

299,600
(1,985,805)

—(976;558)-

(8,829,574)

(594,742)

12,270

(1,951,224)

(52,847)

3,181,808

1,421,674
822,186

(4,246,841)

3,918,260

1,046,376

(202,380)

-(-I29;4t5-)-

(4,741,245)

1,292,092

258,879

(527,750)
152,897 ,

(1,455,478)

. 74,331
221,501

306,920

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sale of investments

Purchase of investments

Cash received in acquisition

Capital expenditures

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
ft

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Increase (decrease) in loan and advance from government contracts

Change in revolving loans

Repayment of long-term debt

Repayment of capital lease obligations

Net cash provided by financing activities

8,015,797

(4,415,301)

4,470,103

(2,228,568)

5,842,031

1,500,000

1,166,575

(745,144)

(132,832)

1,788,599

6,000,000

(6,283,333)

10,202

(2,627,789)

(2,900,920)

(1,800,000)

4,020,068

(738,317)

(130,071)

1,351,680

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 3,383,789 (1,242,320)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Beginning of year

End of year

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Cash interest paid during the year

10,969,236

$  E443,50I

12,211,556

$  14,353,025 $ 10,969,236

1,079,151

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofthese consolidatedfinancial statements.
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FEDCAP REKABILiTATiON SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2017 and 2016 ;

1. ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF ACTIVITIES

Fedcap Rehabilitation Services, Inc. ("FRS") is a private, nonprofit organization incorporated under
the laws ofNew York State. FRS is exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the
internal Revenue Code.

FRS was founded to provide a comprehensive range of vocational and related services to individuals with
disabilities and other work-related disadvantages who face significant barriers to employment. FRS's goal
is to help each person achieve independence, integration into the community and full participation in the
economic mainstream.

FRS provides contract services and products within custodial, homecare, office services, and industrial
divisions of FRS. The primary customers in these divisions are federal, and New York State and City
agencies and certified home health agencies, that contract with FRS for services.

As part of FRS's rehabilitation and vocation programs, FRS provides vocational evaluations, training, and
employment services and other government-funded employment and job search programs. Evaluations
combine aptitude tests, computerized assessments, and vocational counseling. After evaluation, FRS offers
training in mail clerk/messenger services, building/custodial services, culinary arts/food services, data
entry, office skills, document imaging, hospitality operations, and security operations. FRS then seeks to
employ individuals who have successfully completed FRS's rehabilitation and vocational programs. FRS
also offers the Chelton LofI, a voluntary clubhouse program for people with a history of serious mental
illness. FRS also has a vocational education program and a licensed mental health program.

On July 1, 2011, FRS acquired and became the sole member of Wildcat Services Corporation ("Wildcat"),
a nonprofit entity located in New York City that provides employment training, jobs placement and
"supportive employment" opportunities for individuals with barriers to employment.

On October 1, 2012, FRS acquired and became the sole member of ReServe Elder Service, Inc.
("Reserve"), a nonprofit entity located in New York City that matches continuing professionals age
55+ with organizations that need their expertise. ReServe provides direct services, administrative support,
and capacity-building expertise in schools, social service agencies, cultural institutions, and public agencies.

On October I, 2013, FRS acquired and became the sole member of Community Workshops, Inc. (d/b/a
Community Work Services) ("CWS"), a nonprofit corporation located in Boston, Massachusetts, whose
mission is to help people who have barriers to work obtain employment and achieve greater self-sufficiency
through job training, placement, and support services.

On September 1, 2015, FRS acquired and became the sole member of Easter Seals New York, Inc.
("ESNY"), a nonprofit entity whose.purpose is to provide program and services for people with disabilities,
assistance to people with disabilities and their families, assistance to communities in developing necessary
and.approp.riate resources for residents, and a climate of acceptance for people with disabilities which will
enable them to contribute to thevvell-being of the community.

On May I, 2016, ESNY received a contribution in the form of a Red Mango franchise, incorporated as
1 184 Deer Park Ave.. Inc. (" 1184"). 1184 is currently managed as a for profit corporation, and operates as
a social enterprise which includes a training center and employment opportunities for veterans.
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FEDCAP REHABILITATION SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

September 30, 2017 and 2016

On May 1, 2016, FRS acquired and became the sole member of Granite Pathways, Inc. ("CP"), a nonprofit
entity whose mission is to provide services to empower and support adults with mental illness to pursue
their personal goals through education, employment, stable housing, and meaningful relationships.

On September I, 2016, FRS acquired and became the sole member of Easter Seals Rhode Island, Inc.

("ESRI"). a nonprofit entity whose purpose is to provide services to ensure that all people with disabilities
or special needs and their families have equal opportunities to live, learn, work and play in their
communities.

On November I, 2016, OP became the sole member of Seacoast Pathways, Inc ("Seacoast") a nonprofit
entity whose mission is to support adults living with mental illness on their paths to recovery through the
work-ordered day.

On February 1, 2017, FRS became the,sole member of Single Stop USA Inc. ("SS"), a nonprofit entity that
provides coordinated services to holistically connect people to the resources they need to attain higher
education, obtain good jobs, and achieve financial self-sufficiency.

Collectively, FRS, Wildcat, ReServe, CWS, ESNY, 1184, OP, ESRI, Seacoast and SS are referred to as
''FEDCAP."

2. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of FEDCAP have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("US GAAP") using the accrual
basis of accounting. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

Accordingly, FEDCAP's consolidated financial statements distinguish between unrestricted, temporarily
restricted and permanently restricted net assets and changes in net assets as follows:

Unrestricted Net Assets - consist of all funds which are expendable, at the discretion of FEDCAP's
management and Board of Directors, for carrying on daily operations. These funds have neither been
restricted by donors nor set aside for any specific purpose.

Temporarilv Restricted Net Assets - net assets that have been limited by donor-imposed stipulations
that either expire with the passage of lime or can be fulfilled and removed by the actions of FEDCAP
pursuant to those stipulations.

Permanentiv Restricted Net Assets - net assets subject to donor-imposed stipulations that require
resources to be maintained as funds of a permanent duration.

Cash Equivalents

FEDCAP considers all highly liquid debt instruments with a maturity of three months or less at the date of
purchase, including investments in short-term certificates of deposit and certain money market funds, to be
cash equivalents.
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FEDCAP REHABILiTATiGN SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2017 and 2016

Contribution and Grant Revenue

FEDCAP records contributions of cash and other assets when an unconditional promise to give such
assets is received from a donor. Contributions are recorded at the fair value of the assets received and
contributions with donor stipulations that limit the use of donated assets are classified as either permanently
restricted if FEDCAP is required to maintain the contribution permanently or temporarily restricted if the
stipulation limits the use.of the contribution to specific purposes or a time period. Contributions with donor
restrictions that are received and met in the same fiscal year are recorded as unrestricted contributions.
Otherwise, once stipulated time restrictions end or purpose restrictions are accomplished, temporarily
restricted net assets are reclassified to unrestricted net assets as "net assets released from restrictions" in the
accompanying consolidated statements of activities.

Revenue Recognition and Deferred Revenue

FEDCAP's revenue primarily relates to contract services and products, and rehabilitation and vocational
programs. FEDCAP recognizes such revenue ratably over a contract's term for those with fixed rates. For
performance-based contracts, revenues are recognized in the period when related expenditures have been
incurred, milestones have been achieved, or services have been performed in compliance with the
respective contracts. FEDCAP also generates revenue from the sale of related products, which is
recognized at the time of shipment.

Deferred revenue represents cash received in advance of services and will be recognized as the services are
performed. Deferred revenue amounted to $5,064,293 and $1,156,919 as of September 30, 2017 and 2016,
respectively. •

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The carrying value of contributions and accounts receivable are reduced by an appropriate allowance
for uncollectible accounts, and therefore approximates net realizable value. FEDCAP determines its
allowance by considering a number of factors, including the length of time receivables are.past due,
FEDCAP's previous loss history, the donor's current ability to pay its obligation, and the condition of
the general economy and the industry as a whole. Receivables outstanding longer than the payment terms
are considered past due. FEDCAP writes off accounts receivables when they become uncollectible, and
payments subsequently received on such receivables are recorded as income in the period received.

Inventories

Inventories, mainly consisting of distress marker light products and related components, are valued at the
lower of cost or market. Cost is determined principally by the first-in, first-out method.

Fixed Assets

Fixed assets purchased for a value greater than $ 1,000 and with depreciable lives greater than one year are
carried at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful life
of the respective asset and ranges from 3 to 40 years. Significant additions or improvements extending
asset lives are capitalized; normal maintenance and repair costs are expensed as incurred. Leasehold
improvements are amortized based on the lesser of the estimated useful life or remaining lease term.



FEDCAP REHABILITATION SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2017 and 2016

Functional Allocation of Expenses

The costs of providing the various programs and other activities have been summarized on a functional
basis in the accompanying consolidated statements of activities. Accordingly, certain costs have been
allocated among the programs and supporting services benefited.

Commissions

FEDCAP pays commissions to an unrelated not-for-profit entity and a New York State entity to provide
-information-on-govepnment-contracts-that-need-competitive-bids-forservices~The-contractS"provide"
for commissions to be paid to these organizations in the range of 0.88% to 3.85% of the contract amount.
Commissions paid relating to these contracts amounted to $2,568,642 and $1,728,663 for the years ended
September 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and is included within contract services and products expense
in the accompanying consolidated statements of activities.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with US .GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses. These estimates
and assumptions relate to estimates of collectability of accounts receivable, accruals, useful life of property,
plant, and equipment, and impairment of long-lived assets. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued expenses and
other liabilities approximates their carrying value due to their short-term maturities. The fair value of long-

^  term debt approximates carrying value based on current interest rates for similar instruments.

Fair Value Measurements

FEDCAP follows guidance for fair value measurements that defines fair value, establishes a framework for
measuring fair value, establishes a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used to measure fair value and
enhances disclosure requirements for fair value measurements. It maximizes the use of observable inputs
and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that the observable inputs be used when
available.

Observable inputs are inputs that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability based on
market data obtained from independent sources. Unobservable inputs reflect assumptions that market
participants would use in pricing the asset or liability based on the best information available in the
circumstances.

The hierarchy is broken down into three levels based on the transparency of inputs as follows:

Level 1 - Quoted prices are available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities as of the
measurement date. A quoted price for an identical asset or liability in an active market
provides the'most reliable fair value measurement because it is directly observable to the
market.
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FEDCAP REHABiLiTATION SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2017 and 2016

Level 2 - Pricing inputs other than quoted prices in active markets, which are either directly or
indirectly observable as of the measurement date. The nature of these securities include
investments for which quoted prices are available but traded less frequently and investments
that are fair valued using other securities, the parameters of which can be directly observed.

Level 3 - Securities that have little to no pricing observability as of the measurement date. These
securities are measured using management's best estimate of fair value, where the inputs into
the determination of fair value are not observable and require significant management
judgment or estimation.

Innuts are.used.in.applying.the various.valuation teclmique^ajid broadly refer to the assumptions that
market participants use to make valuation decisions, including assumptions about risk. Inputs may include
price information, volatility statistics, specific and broad credit data, liquidity statistics, and other factors. A
financial instrument's level within the.fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is
significant to the fair value measurement. However, the determination of what constitutes "obser\'able"
requires significant judgment by the entity. FEDCAP considers observable data to be that market data that
is readily available, regularly distributed or updated, reliable and verifiable, not proprietary, and provided
by independent sources that are actively involved in the relevant market. The categorization of a financial
instrument within the hierarchy is based upon the pricing transparency of the instrument and does not
necessarily correspond to FEDCAP's perceived risk of that instrument.

Beneficial Interest in Remainder Trusts

Donors have established and funded trusts held by third parties under which specified distributions are to
be made to a designated beneficiary or beneficiaries over the trusts' term. Upon termination of the trusts,
FEDCAP will receive the assets remaining in the trusts. Trusts are recorded as increases to net assets at
the fair value of trust assets, less the present value of the estimated future payments to be made under the
specific terms of the trusts. At September 30, 2017 and 2016, FEDCAP's interest in these trusts is reflected
at fair value in the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position and is classified as Level 3
within the fair value hierarchy.

2017 2016

Balance, beginning of year $  575,912 ;e  693,049

Contributions'and purchases 8,578 7,930.

Sales and distributions (13,516) (10,580)

Appreciation (depreciation) 57,785 (114,487)

Balance, end of year $  628,759 :E  575,912

Impairment of Long-lived Assets

FEDCAP reviews the carrying values of its long-lived assets, including property and equipment and other
assets, for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of
such assets may not be fully recoverable. Recoverability of long-lived assets is assessed by a comparison of
the carrying amount of the asset to the estimated future net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset.
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FEDCAP REHABILITATION SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2017 and 2016

If estimated future net cash flows are less than the carrying amount of the asset, the asset is considered
impaired and an expense is recorded in an amount to reduce the carrying amount of the asset to its fair
value.

Tax-Exempt Status

FRS, Wildcat, ReServe, CWS, ESNY, 1184, GP, ESRI, Seacoast, and SS follow guidance that clarifies the
accounting for uncertainty in tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return, including issues
relating to financial statement recognition and measurement. This guidance provides that the tax effects
from an uncertain lax position can only be recognized in the financial statements if the position is "more-
likely-than-not" to be sustained if the position were to be challenged by a taxing authority. The assessment
of the tax position is based solely on the technical merits of the position, without regard to the.likelihood
that the tax position may be challenged.

FRS, Wildcat, ReServe, CWS, ESNY, GP, ESRI, Seacoast, and SS are exempt from federal income tax
under IRC section 501(c)(3), though they are subject to tax on income unrelated to their respective exempt
purpose, unless that income is otherwise excluded by the Code. These organizations have processes
presently in place to ensure the maintenance of their tax-exempt status; to identify and report unrelated
income; to determine their filing and tax obligations in Jurisdictions for which they have nexus; and to
identify and evaluate other matters that may be considered tax positions. FRS, Wildcat ReServe, CWS,
ESNY, GP, ESRI, SS and Seacoast and have determined that there are no material uncertain tax positions
that require recognition or disclosure in the consolidated financial statements.

II84, a for-profit corporation, commenced business operations in May of 2016; the organization has not
calculated a tax provision as the projected tax liability is immaterial from a financial statement perspective.
In addition, 1 184 has determined that there are no material uncertain tax positions that require recognition
or disclosure in the consolidated financial statements.

\

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications were made to the 2016 consolidated financial statements to conform to the 2017

presentation. Such reclassifications did not change total assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses or changes in
net assets as previously reflected in the 2016 consolidated financial statements.

3. CONTRIBUTIONS RECEIVABLE

,  At September 30, 2017 and 2016, contributions receivable, net of the allowance for doubtful accounts,
consisted of the following:

2017 2016

Amounts due within one year

Amounts due in one to five years

Less: allowance for uncollectible receivables

3,074,667

10,711

3,085,378

656,133

500,000

1,156,133

(M5;000)

$  3,085,378 $ 1,041,133



FEDCAP REHABILITATION SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2017 and 2016

Approximately 69% of the contributions receivable (gross) is due from two donors at September 30, 2017.
. Approximately 89% of the contributions receivable (gross) is due from one donor at September 30,2016.

\

4. INVESTMENTS

Investments, at fair value, consisted of the following at September 30:

2017 2016

Money market funds

iviutuariLinds"

$  3,176,676 $ 10,492,741

$  -14,724,135 $ 17,345,073

FEDCAP's mutual fund investments are classified as Level 1 within the fair value hierarchy. FEDCAP's
money market fund investnients do not meet the definition of a security under US GAAP, and as such, the
disclosure requirements for fair value measurements are not applicable.

5. INVENTORIES

Inventories consisted of the following at September 30:

Inventories;

Raw materials

Work-in-process and finished goods
Reserve

2017

369,867

122,802

(90,000)

2016

382,137

122,802

(90,000)

$  402,669 $ 414,939

6. FIXED ASSETS, NET

Fixed assets, net, consisted of the following at September 30:

Fixed assets:

Land

Building improvements

Buildings

Capital lease - building
Furniture, fixtures and computer systems

Leasehold improvements

Less: accumulated depreciation

2017

1,017,809

531,382

33,280,420

35,918,547

11,509,522

7,002,207

89,259,887

(14,335,100)

74,924,787

2016

1,017,809

498,951

33,280,420

35,918,547

9,023,535

6,357,782

86,097,044

(10,241,874)

75,855,170
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FEDCAP REHABILITATION SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

September 30, 2017 and 2016

Depreciation and amortization expense for the years ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 was $4,1 16,984
and $3,918,260, respectively.

/

7. CAPITAL LEASES

In May of 2014, FRS entered into a condominium leasehold agreement in a building located at 205 East
42nd Street in New York City for 64,303 square feet of space consisting of the entire second and third floor
and a portion of the ground floor. FRS began occupying the space in December 2014 and the agreement
expires-in-f[scal-204-37^he-interesrrate-is"fixed-ar4:20%rFRS'a"CCmmted'fcrtlTiS agreemenfaTacapital
lease, and as such, the related cost of $35,918,547, representing the present value of the total future
minimum lease payments due at the inception of the agreement, is included within "Fixed assets, net" in the
accompanying consolidated statements of financial position at September 30, 2017 and 2016. FRS •
occupied the condominium in December 2014 and recorded depreciation expense of $ 1,238,571 in fiscal
2017 and 2016. The outstanding principal balance on the lease as of September 30, 2017 and 2016, is
$36,461,573 and $36,564,980, respectively.

During fiscal 2015, FRS obtained financing pursuant to a capital lease to finance vehicles in the amount
of $22,074, principal and interest are paid monthly. As of September 30, 2017, and 2016, accumulated
depreciation associated with this lease agreement is $11,037 and $6,662, respectively. The outstanding
principal balance on the lease as of September 30, 2017 and 2016, is $11,038 and $15,452, respectively.
The maturity date is March 31, 2020 and the interest rate is fixed at 6.73%.

During fiscal 2015, CWS obtained financing pursuant to a capital lease to finance vehicles in the amount
of $44,464, principal and interest are paid monthly. As of September 30, 2017, and 2016, accumulated
depreciation associated with this lease agreement is $22,232 and $12,893, respectively. The outstanding
principal balance on the lease as of September 30, 2017 and 2016, is $22,233 and $31,125, respectively.
The maturity date is March 31, 2020 and the interest rate is fixed at 6.73%.

During fiscal 2015, ESNY obtained financing pursuant to a capital lease to finance vehicles in the amount
of $80,785, principal and interest are paid monthly. As of September 30, 2017, and 2016, the accumulated
depreciation balance was $36,040 and $ 19,922, respectively. The outstanding principal balance on the
lease as of September 30, 2017 and 2016, was $44,745 and $60,863, respectively. The maturity date is
June 30, 2020 and the interest rate is fixed at 6:97%.
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FEDCAP REHABiLiTATiON SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2017 and 2016 ^

The following Is a schedule by years of future minimum lease payments under capital leases together with,
the present value of the net minimum lease payments as of September 30, 2017:

Year Ending September 30,

2018 $ 1,672,075

2019 1,672,075

2020 1,888,151

2021 1,911,084

2022 1,911,084

Thereafter 5_^»^89,528
Total minimum lease payments 63,643,997

Less: Amount representing interest (27,104,409)
Present value of net minimum lease payments $ 36,539,588

8. REVOLVING LOANS

Israel Discount Bank of New York

FRS entered Into a revolving loan agreement with Israel Discount Bank of New York ("IDB") to finance
working capital needs with an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $15,000,000. The line is
collateralized by FRS's accounts receivable and matures on July 2018. The interest rate for the revolving
loan agreement is the Prime Rate. As of September 30, 2017, and 2016, FEDCAP had borrowings on this
line of credit of $14,653,273 and $13,453,272, respectively, at an interest rate of 4.25% and 3.50%,
respectively.

RBS Citizens Bank, N.A.

ESNY has an agreement with RBS Citizens Bank, N.A for a $3,500,000 revolving line of credit with FRS
as the co-borrower. The line of credit matured on December 15, 2016 and was extended to mature on
December 15, 2018, at which time the line was decreased to $3,000,000. As of September 30, 2017, and
2016, ESNY had borrowings on this line of credit of $3,000,000 and $3,033,426 at an interest rate of 3.50%
and 2.77%, respectively.

9. LONG-TERM DEBT

Notes Payable

In conjunction with leasing space for a program operated in the Bronx, New York, FRS borrowed $220,000
during fiscal 2012 from the landlord, LMKW L.P., for the costs to build out the space. This loan is being
repaid over a period of six years at an interest rate of 5%. As of September" 30, 2017, and 2016, the
principal balance outstanding was $-0- and $55,544, respectively.

On January I, 20,13, CWS borrowed $219,181 from the Georgianna Goddard Eaton Memorial Fund
("Eaton Fund"), a related party, to fund leasehold improvements. Under the terms of thie note, payments,
including interest at a rate of 3%, are due on a monthly basis commencing on April 1, 2013 and ending on
January 1, 2017. At September 30, 2017 and 2016, the principal balance outstanding was $-0- and $28,989,
respectively.
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FEDCAP REHABILITATION SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2017 and 2016

On September 15, 2014, ESNY entered into a $63,045 note payable to finance the purchase of computers.
The interest rate charged on the outstanding borrowings is fixed at a rate equal to 3.15%. Monthly
principal and interest payments of $1,841 commenced November 2014 and in October 2017 all remaining
outstanding principal and interest were due. The note is secured by the computers. At September 30, 2017
and 2016, the principal balance outstanding was $-0- and $21,475, respectively.

On December 5, 2014, ESNY entered into a $1,980,000 mortgage note payable to finance the acquisition
of certain property located in Valhalla, New York. The note was secured by the property and is guaranteed
'l5>^FRS~TlTrinter«t~Fate"ir3756%"fdrtlie"rifst"60 montHTlhen, as ofTKF"first day offhe sixty-first month,
the interest rate will reset to 1.75% in excess of the then bank's five-year Cost of Funds. In no event shall
the reset rate be less than 3.66%. Principal and interest of $9,153 is payable monthly through the maturity
date of January I, 2025. At September 30, 2017 and 2016, the outstanding principal balance was
$ 1,874,696 and $ 1,914,257, respectively.

Bonds Payable

In December 2013, FRS entered into a Loan Agreement with Build NYC Resource Corporation ("Build
NYC"), a local development corporation, for Build NYC to issue bonds to finance the purchase of the sixth
floor of a building located at 633 Third Avenue in New York City and related expenses. Build NYC issued
$ 18,450,000 of tax-exempt revenue bonds ("Series 2013 A"). Monthly payments of interest commenced in
June 2014. The Series 2013A bonds have a coupon rate of 4.2% with a maturity date of December 1, 2033.
The Series A bonds were placed with IDB and, as part of the bond purchase and continuing covenant
agreement between FRS and IDB, FRS must maintain a minimum balance with IDB of $4,000,000,
which is included within investments in the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position at
September 30, 2017 and 2016. At September 30, 2017 and 2016, the outstanding principal balance of the
Series 2013A bonds was $17,520,000 and $17,995,000, respectively.

In December 2010, ESNY in connection with the Monroe County Industrial Development Corporation arid
RES Citizens Bank, N.A. issued $5,250,000 in Series 2010 tax-exempt Revenue Bonds ("Series 2010").
The Series 2010 bonds were used to finance the acquisition of certain property located in Irondequoit,
New York and to refinance certain ESNY debt. The,Series 2010 bonds are secured by a mortgage on all
properties and improvements financed by the bond and are guaranteed by FRS. ESNY may elect to prepay
some portion or all of the outstanding bonds subject to a prepayment fee as defined in the agreement. The
agreement also requires bank approval prior to ESNY incurring additional indebtedness. The Series 2010
bonds are subject to tender for mandatory purchase at the election of the bondholder beginning June 1, 2016
and thereafter every five years through June 1, 2036. At September 30, 2017 and 2016, the outstanding
principal balance of the Series 2010 bonds was $4,537,395 and $4,683,050, respectively.

On February 23, 2011, ESNY entered into an interest rate swap agreement with a bank in connection
with the Series 2010 Bonds. The swap agreement had an outstanding notional amount of $4,526,910 and
$4,929,360 at September 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The outstanding notional amount decreases,
in conjunction with bond principal reductions, until the agreement terminates in January 2031. ESNY
remits interest at fixed rate of 2.99% and receives interest at a variable rate (68% of the sum of the monthly
LIBOR rate plus 2.65% (2.99% and 1.93% at September 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively)). The fair value
of the interest rate swap agreement as of September 30, 2017 and 2016 reflected a liability of $625,315
and $977,731, respectively. The swap is included within other liabilities in the accompanying consolidated
statement of financial position, and is classified as Level 2 within the fair value hierarchy.
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FEDCAP REHABILiTATION SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2017 and 2016

The following is a summary of minimum principal payments due on the notes and bonds at September 30,
2017:

, Notes Payable Bonds Payable Total

Year Ending September 30,
2018 $  40,967 $  633,453 $  - 674,420

2019 42,513 657,500 700,013

2020 ■  43,934 681,670 725,604

2021 45,776 706,050 751,826

2022 47;5U4 . " 7357490 782,994

Thereafter 1,654,002 18,643,232 20,297,234

Total $  1,874,696 $  22,057,395 $ 23,932,091

Less: current portion 674,420

Less: bond issuance cost / 506,915

Long-term debt, net of current portion $ 22,750,756

10. LOANS AND ADVANCES FROM GOVERNMENT CONTRACTS

On August 1, 2012, FRS entered in a contract with New York City Human Resources Agency ("HRA")
to operate HRA's WeCare program in the Boroughs of Brooklyn and Queens. Under the terms of the .
contract, HRA may make advances for working capital purposes. These advances are non-interest bearing
and will be recouped during the course of the contract in accordance with HRA policy, but no later than the
last year of the contract. On July 13, 2015, HRA made an advance of $1,800,000 for working capital
purposes. This advance was non-interest bearing and was to be recouped during the course of the contract
in accordance with HRA policy beginning January 2016, but no later than July of2016. This advance was
fully recouped in fiscal year ending September 30, 2016.

On September 29, 2017 FRS received a loan of $1,500,000 from the Fund for the City of New York to
cover operating expenses pending contract registration and receipt of funds from HRA. This loan is non-
interest bearing and will be repaid no later than 30 days from the date of the loan, upon receipt of the funds
from HRA or on demand for payment by the Fund for the City of New York. At September 30, 2017, the
balance from this loan was $ 1,500,000. This loan was repaid in November of 2017.
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FEDCAP REHABILITATION SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

September 30, 2017 and 2016

11. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

FEDCAP has leases for offices, program related facilities, and equipment expiring at various dates through
2032. The approximate future minimum lease commitments under existing operating leases are as follows:

Year Ending September 30,

2018 $ 10,159,601

201 9 5.691.351

2020 3,448,781 ..

2021 2,853,460

2022 2,543,432

Thereafter 6,307,258

Total $ 31,003,883

Certain office leases contain renewal and escalation clauses. For leases with escalation clauses, FEDCAP
recognized rent expense on a straight-line basis and recognized a deferred rent liability of $1,773,782
and $1,161,996 at September 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively, which is included in other liabilities in the
accompanying consolidated statements of financial position. In addition to the base rents, FEDCAP is
obligated to pay additional amounts for increased operating costs.

Rent expense was $1 1,208,061 and $10,118,415 for the years ended September 30, 2017 and 2016,
respectively.

CWS sublets a portion of its facilities to tenants under operating leases that expire between April 2017 and
May 2020. For the years ended September 30, 2017 and 2016, rental income from these subleases was
$293,318 and $324,857, respectively. The future minimum sublease rental payments to be received are as

,  follows:

Year Ending September 30,

2018 $ 242,815

2019 170,000

2020 57,500

Total $ 470,315

FEDCAP is engaged in various lawsuits incidental to its operations. In the opinion of management, the
ultimate outcome of pending litigation will not have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial
position and results of operations of FEDCAP.

FEDCAP participates in a number of federal and stale programs. These programs require that FEDCAP
comply with certain requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and agreements applicable to the
programs in which it participates. All funds expended in connection with government grants and
contracts are subject to audit by government agencies. While the ultimate liability, if any, from such
audits of government contracts by government agencies is presently not determinable, it should not, in
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FEDCAP REHABiLiTATION SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2017 and 2016

the opinion of management, have a material effect on FEDCAP's financial position or change in net
assets. Accordingly, no provision for any such liability that may result has been made in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

12. TUITION REVENUE

FRS receives funding for the Career Design School from the New York State Education Department,
administered by the Bureau of Proprietary School Supervision. Gross tuition income, which equaled net
tuition income, was $ 1,094,605 and $ 1,158,080 for the years ended September 30, 2017 and 2016, .
respectively, and has been included within rehabilitation and vocational prograrhs in the accompanying
corisolidai;eH.statement.s of activities.

13. TEMPORARILY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS

Temporarily restricted net assets were restricted for the following purposes as of September 30,2017 and
2016:

2017 2016

For use in future periods for:

Employment and job search programs $ 602,1 11 $ 413,139
Time restricted 1,622,427 1,156,133

Total $ . 2,224,538 $ 1,569,272

Net assets released from restrictions during the years ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

2017 2016

Employmentand job search programs S 779,151 $ 745,820

14. PERMANENTLY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS

Permanently restricted net assets are comprised of the following as of September 30, 2017 and 2016:

2017 2016

Easter Seals endowment $ 509,428 $ 509,428

ReServe endowment 75,000 75,000
$  584,428 $ 584,428

15. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Members of the Board of Directors of FEDCAP are associated with a law firm that has provided legal
services to FEDCAP with fees of $312,012 and $285,776 during the years ended September 30, 2017 and
2016, respectively.
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FEDCAP REHABILITATION SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2017 and 2016

A CWS Board member is a trustee of the Eaton Fund, the holder of the CWS promissory note (refer to
Note 9). CWS also leases its facilities from the Eaton Fund. Rent paid to Eaton Fund for the years ended
September 30, 2017 and 2016 was $129,996.

16. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS '

Effective January 1, 1991, FEDCAP established a Tax Deferred Annuity Retirement Plan under
Section 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code for employee volunlary.salary reduction contributions.
Employeerare-eligible-TO"participate"in'the"plan^"DTth?rr*enTploymentTlate:

Effective October 1, 1991, FEDCAP established a Tax Deferred Annuity Retirement Plan under
Section 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code for employees working on government contracts with a
defined contribution pension plan based on a contractual formula. Employees are eligible to participate
in the plan upon satisfactory completion of a three-month probationary period.

Effective October 1, 1994, FEDCAP established a Defined Contribution Plan under Section 403(b) of the
Internal Revenue Code for qualified participants, primarily employees who do not work on contracts. In
November 1,2010, the Defined Contribution Plan was amended to allow all employees to participate in
the plan immediately upon hire. FEDCAP matches employee contributions up to 3%'Of their'salaries.
Employer matching contributions fully vest after three years of employment.

i

Plan contributions are invested in one or more of the funding vehicles available to "participants under the
plans. Each participant is fully and immediately vested in employee contributions. Employer contributions
to the plans amounted to $6,186,322 and $6,492,132 for the years ended September 30, 2017 and 2016,
respectively. 'i'

17. ACQUISITION

Effective February 1, 2017, FRS entered into a combination agreement with Single Stop USA, Inc. to
become its sole member. The determination to acquire Single Stop USA, Inc. was predicated on the
similarities in mission. Single Stop provides coordinated services to holistically connect people'to the
resources they need to attain higher education, obtain good jobs, and achieve financial self-sufficiency.
This acquisition was affected without the transfer of consideration, and as such an inherent contribution of
$ 1,947,081 was recognized, which represented the excess of the acquisition date fair values of the
identifiable assets acquired over the acquisition date fair values of the liabilities assumed.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2017 and 2016

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at
the date of acquisition:

Cash and cash equivalents S 4,434,379
Accounts receivable, net 252,430
Contributions receivable 1,449,503
Prepaid expenses and other assets ' 131,553
Other assets 271,816

Fixed assets 958,033

Accounts payable and accrued expenses (2,671,188)
Deferred revenue (2,485,7W))

Other liabilities (393,745)

$  1,947,081

Effective November 1, 2016, GP entered into a combination agreement with Seacoast Pathways, Inc. to
become its sole member. The determination to acquire Seacoast Pathways, inc. was predicated on the
similarities in mission and a geographic expansion of services in the New England Region. The mission of
Seacoast Pathways is to support adults living with mental illness on their paths to recovery through the
work-ordered day. v

This acquisition was effected without the transfer of consideration, and as such an inherent contribution of
$38,724 was recognized, which represented the excess of the acquisition date fair values of the identifiable
assets acquired over the acquisition date fair values of the liabilities assumed.

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at
the date of acquisition:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 35,724
Investments

$  38,724

18. CONCENTRATIONS

FEDCAP provides building services for federal buildings, which comprised 20% and 21% of total revenues
during the years ended September 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively. FEDCAP provides offsite data entry
personnel, custodial and other services to various branches of the state and city government through one
New York State organization, which comprised 5% and 10% of total revenues during the years ended
September 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively. FEDCAP provides homecare services to one customer
comprising 1.1% and 2% of total revenues during the years ended September 30, 2017 and 2016,
respectively.

Financial instruments that potentially subject FEDCAP to concentrations of credit and market risk consist
principally of cash and cash equivalents on deposit with financial institutions, which from time to lime may
exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") limit. Management does not believe that a
significant risk of loss exists due to the failure of a financial institution.

.  -20-
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Notes to Consolidated Fmancial Statements
September 30, 2017 and 2016

19. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

FEDCAP evaluated its September 30, 2017 consolidated financial statements for subsequent events through
May I I, 2018, the date the consolidated financial statements were available for issuance. Except as
discussed in Note 8, above, and the subsequent paragraphs, FEDCAP is unaware of any events which
would require recognition or disclosure in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

On October 31, 2017, FRS entered into a combination agreement with Benevolent to become its sole
memberr-This'combination"was"predicated"on'theTrmtlaritie?TJf^i?5irinrand"^hancement"of ourabilit>^to~
provide economic wellbeing for the individuals we serve. The combination further diversifies funding to
individuals and families in need, through non-government sources.

On November 21, 2017, FRS entered into a combination agreement with MVLE to become its sole
member. MVLE provides employment, support and rehabilitation services to individuals with disabilities
in the Northern Virginia and Washington, D.C. area. This combination was predicated on the synergies of
mission and geographic expansion of services in the Mid-Atlantic Region.

On January 3, 2018, FRS entered into a combination agreement with Easter Seals Central Texas ("ESCT")
to become its sole member. ESCT provides services to individuals with disabilities throughout the life
cycle through outpatient medical rehabilitation, workforce development and community housing and
integration programs in the Central Texas region. This combination was predicated on the similarities of
mission and geographic expansion of services into the Southwest Region. The addition of ESCT expands
the core services to the populations served through our Easter Seals brand whose current operations are in
New York and Rhode Island.

in December 2017, FRS entered into a Loan Agreement with Build NYC, a local development corporation,
for Build NYC to issue bonds to finance the renovations of the headquarters site located at 633 Third
Avenue in New York City, program operations site located at 210 East 43 Street in New York City and the
acquisition and installation of equipment for Oracle enterprise resource planning infrastructure. Build NYC
issued $9,280,000 of tax-exempt revenue bonds ("Series 2017A") and $715,000 of taxable revenue bonds
("Series 2017B") carrying an interest rate of 3.912% and 4.53%, respectively. Monthly payment of interest
and principal commenced on February I, 2018, with a maturity date of December I, 2042. The Series
20I7A and 20I7B bonds were placed with TD Bank.

On April 4, 2018, FRS entered into a combination agreement with Easter Seals North Texas ("ESNT") to
become its sole member. ESNT provides services to individuals with disabilities throughout the life cycle
through early childhood programs, outpatient rehabilitation, home care, employment and veterans
integration programs in the North Texas region. This combination was predicated on the similarities of
mission and geographic expansion of services into the Southwest Region. The addition of ESNT expands
the core services to the populations served through our Easter Seals brand whose current operations are in
New York and Rhode Island.
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EXPENSES

Propva senicet:

Conliaci sen ices and pradKis 83.150.325 7.274.833 1.293.570 52 91.718,680

RehriiUitBlioB ind > ocationl pnpins 80.802.239 2.371.489 4.818.954 2.554.070 26308.023 1.251.068 535.056 1.010.905 11398.414 131.424 131.181.632

163.952.454 9,646.322 4.818.954 3.847.640 26.308.075 1,251.068 535.056 1.010.905 1 1.398.414 131.424 222.900.312

Supponiag senicet;

ManagcmeBl and {encrel 27.508.167 1.205.178 182.815 1.190.977 2.654.030 30,503 • 134.110 795355 33.702.035

Detebpment 1,083.683 - 94.520 1.239 245,868 187.169 r 1,612.479

28J92.550 1.205.178 182.815 1.285.497 2.655.269 30,503 379.978 982.724 . 35,314.514

Totil expenses I92i45.00t 10.85li00 5.001.769 5.133.137 28.963.344 1.281.571 535.056 1.390.883 12.381.138 131.424 258.214.826.

Cbinge in net BSSeU - vnietincted (287.866) (386,695) (602,657) (198,234) 421.861' 274.418 (196.708) (144,835) 800,551 (45,714) (365,879)

Nelessetsu beginnii^ofyett-gniettncted 34.768,272 (959.018) (505.442) 227,736 (603.422) 100.016 116.552 31.741 33.176.435

Net itiett il end of t eni - nnRstncted S  34.480.406 8  (1.345.713) 8 (1.108.099) 8  29.502 8  (181.561) 8 374.434 8 (80.156) 8  (113.094) 8 800.551 (45.714) 8  32.810.556

Tenperarilr Restricted

Fedcap

ReksbilltaliBB iiildeal Senices CaaBBsitv Easter Scab Craaitc RH Caster Seab Siatle I Seacesst

Senices Inc. Cortenitioa ReSene Worfc Senices Sew Yerk Pitkw iM .MaBra RWde Wind Step Patkw axs Cesfolidated

RENmiES

CoBOftBlioss end |tanu $  . 8  8 8 8 8 8 8  8 1,434,417 81 - 8  1.434.417

Net Bssets leicBsed fnm lestnctsoas 1513.093) (46.170) (219.888) . . (779.151)

Total texeaues (513.093) (46,170) (219.888) . . 1.434.417 1 655.266

Clai^ in net asselt - TeapanfiK Rettiicted (513.093) (46,170) (2I9.8U)
•

1,434,417 !
•

655,266

NeltsKisai bejiBBingoryeu-Tesipennh'Rettiicted IJ07J05 42.079 219.888 •  . 1 1.569.172

NelisKUtI eadorycif-Tempotarih'Restiicled 794.211 (4,091) J_ 1.434.417 J 3,224.S)J

This statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying consolidatedfinancial statements and notes thereto.
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FEDCAP REHABILITATION SERVICES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Schedule of Functional Expenses
For the year ended September 30, 2017 (with comparative totals for the year ended September 30, 2016)

2017

Proeram Strvices Supporling Sen-lces 2016

Contract Rehabilitation

Services and and Vocational Management , Total Total

Products Programs Total and General Oevclopment Total Expenses Expenses

Salaries and relaied expenses S 62.495.423 S 75,531,865 S 138,027.288 S  15,885,828 C  747,382 S 16.633,210 S  154,660,498 S  141.026,223
Professional fees 61.093 14.117.598 14,178.691 2.739.261 173,008 2.912,269 17,090,960 6.108.672
Professional developmeni and e\'aJuation 5.212 566.041 571.253 87.949 1.785 89.734 660.987 612.999
Materials and supplies 4.005.974 1,350,142 5,356,116 265,167 8,043 273,210 5.629.326 6.504,743
Commissions 2.933.502

• 2,933.502 10.018 . 10,018 2.943.520 2,550.631
Telephone 95.865 737.298 833,163 432,274 5,911 438,185 1.271,348 1,274,436
Postage and shipping 802,608 118.708 921,316 99,807 1,073 100.880 1,022.196 1.199.494
Insurance 1,055.962 870.960 1,926,922 443,601 1,187 444,788 2,371.710 2.614,504
Occupancy costs 547,684 13.734.382 14.282.066 1.358.804 115,357 1,474,161 15,756.227 13.642.766
Erjuipmenl rental and maintenance 631.204 500.178 1,131,382 385,369 3,431 388,800 1,520.182 889,987
Equipment purchases 274,331 649,616 923.947 38,797 243 39.040 962.987 330,557 •
Client transportation and travel 154,761 4.409,347 4.564,108 1.057,626 46,886 1,104,512 5,668,620 4,632,240
Subscription and priming 61,372 87.672 149,044 84,032 18,046 102.078 251,122 254.946
Technolog>' 196,552 1.196.688 1,393,240 1,842,067 49,130 1,891.197 3.284,437 2.451.276
Interest expense and bank charges 11,212 43.878 55,090 3,023,970 90 3,024,060 3,079,150 3,476,490
Bad debt provision (recovery)

• 5.093 5.093 294,507 - 294,507 299,600 1.046.376
Subcontractor expense 17,653,581 10.109.133 27.762.714 45,193 . 45.193 27.807.907 27.191.804
Stipends 29,786 3,748,285 3,778,071 46,575 10.395 56,970 3.835.041 4.428,846
Security guard expense 1.225 891,233 892,458 31,673 . 31.673 924,131 750.358
Other 553.609 I.7I8.0I4 2.271,623 2,356.558 429.712 2,786.270 5.057.893 3.124.582

Total expenses before depreciation and amortization 91,570.956 130.386.131 221.957.087 30,529,076 I.6II.679 32,140,755 254.097,842 224,111.930

Depreciation and amortization 147.724 795.501 943.225 3.172.959 800 3.173,759 4.116.984 3.918.260
Total expenses S 91.718,680 5 131.181.632 S 222.900.312 S 33.702.035 S 1.612.479 S 35.314,514 $ 258.214.826 .S 228.030.190

This schedule should be read in conjunction with the accompanying consolidated financial statements and r otes thereto.
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Robin J. Fisk
23 West St, Suite 4, ^ http://www.linkedin.eom/m/fisicrobiri/
P.O. Box-521 (603) 968-3810; (866) 717-2049 F
Ashland, NH 03217 . ' . RFisk@Fedcap.org

.. , PROFESSIONAL-EXPERIENCE

FEDCAP REHABILITATION SERVICES, INC., 8/2017 — present: Senior Vice President, Occupational Health.
Oversee and develop the clinical services division of the company, including mental health, primary care, substance
use disorder vocational health, home health and service coordination services. Responsible for setting and
monitoring budgets, establishing systems'and tools to monitor productivity and sustainability and developing new
services to meet client needs.

APRIA ELEALTHCARE LLC, 9/2016 — 7/2Q17. Corporate Counsel, advising on managed care contracts for
national durable medical equipment company. ■ >

FISK LAW OFFICE/ PLLC,"2000 — present. Represented health providers, insurers and plans with an emphasis on
commercial. Medicare & Medicaid plans, business arrangements,' contract negotiations, claim payment; compliance &
regulatory relations. Functioned as in-house counsel for"managed care companies in rnetropolit^ New York,'^Tex^ and
Massachusettf Served as lead^couhsel for"4 insurer start-ups, several service line and service.area expahsioiis and as
contract counsel to a national provicier. Also from 1997 - 98.

PLYMOUTH STATE UNIVERSITY MBA Program, 2014 - Adjunct Instructor, Health Law & Ethics.

MANAGED CARE CONTRACTING & PROVIDER PAYMENT, April 2006 — 2011. Author of on line column on
managed care contracting and issues between payers and providers.

ORR & RENO, P.A., Concord, New Hampshire, July 1,1998 - December 31,1999, Of Counsel. Practice areas same
as above with general business representation.

HEALTHSOURCE, Inc., New Hampshire, January 1994 - December 1997, Associate General Counsel responsible for
Health Plans, Government Programs line of busineiss. Supported start-up Medicare risk plans and communicated
compliance issues to commercial lines ofbusiness. Liaison with trade organization for Medicare risk issues, participating
on Physician Incentive Plan, Grievance & Appeals and Safe Harbor Task Forces. Assisted with plan work, contracting
and member materials. Left position when company was sold.

Regional General Counsel. Primary attorney to affiliated HMOs, TPAs, PPOs and insurance companies. Negotiated and
drafted contracts with heaith care providers, purchasers of insurance, and provider organizations. Drafted and interpreted
descriptions of benefits. Performed start up work for several affiliates, including general corporate work, applications for
licensure/certification, and working with regulators on compliance. Promoted to Associate General Counsel.

OBER, KALER, GRIMES & SHRIVER, Baltimore, MD September 1988 - January 1994, Health Law & Employee
Benefits Departments Drafted health benefit plan documents for self-funded plans, agreements with managed care
providers and advised plans on administrative issues. Counseled health providers on compliance with state requirements
and regulatory developments including the Americans with Disabilities Act, the Medicare Secondary Payer Program and
fi-aud and abuse provisions. Extensive involvement Medicare cost and prospective payment appeals on behalf ofhospitals
and prepaid health plans, devising winning arguments on pension funding, time and intensity adjustments and accrued
earnings on HMO reserves.

MEMBERSHIPS MEMBER, Healthcare Financial Management Association, MEMBER 1999 - present, DIRECTOR
& ACTIVITIES NH-VT, 2008-10, Educational, Physician Practice and LIINK Committees

LIFE MEMBER, American Health Lawyers Association, 1988 - present.
BOARD OF ADVISORS, Managed Care Contract Negotiator 1997 - present.
DIRECTOR, Mid-State Health Center, 2006 - 2015.

DIRECTOR, Speare Memorial, 2016-present.
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SECRETARY, Health Law Section, New Hampshire Bar Association, 2008 - 2009
VICE CHAIR RESEARCH, American Health Lawyers, Payers, Plans & Managed Care Group, 2009-10

EDUC ATION DARTMOUTH COLLEGE, tuck School -TTie Da^
Science, 2017

BOSTON UNIVERSITY School of Law, Boston, MA. J.D.
UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH, Pittsburgh, PA, B.A.

Additional Courses: Courses toward LLM in Taxation at the University of Baltimore School of Law.
Courses in Financial and Managerial Accounting," Harvard University Extension

LICENSES Maryland; New Hampshire

PRESENTATIONS

11/2015 "Organizational Design Principles to Support Value-Based Contracting", HFMA Webinar
1 1 /'>/> 1 A 'tt¥T >/f A . A TJT A XX/Akmor
1 I/aUIH riui"iupicd m f*lCUI»^aiU A lOU-l IV*1WV4 J * • ..

3/2013 "Health Insurance Exchanges - The New Hampshire Partnership Exchange"
11/2012 "PPACA and ACOs" North Country Health Consortium
4/2012 "Strategies for Negotiating Managed Care Contracts" Association for Quality Imaging, DC
11/2011 "The PPACA Insurance Reforms", NH-VT HFMA, Annual Claims Workshop
10/2011 "Contracting Strategies for New Payment & Delivery Systems" Healthcare Association of New York State
5/20! 1 "The New Basics of Appeals" National Council for Behavioral Health", San Diego, CA
2/2011 "Accountable Care Organizations" 2011 Network Contracting Confess
10/2010 "Strategics for Dealing with Payers in the Health Reform Environment" HANVS
3/2010 "Contracting in a Time of Uncertainty" Managed Care Online, Health Plan Contracting Summit
02/10 "2010 Challenges, Solutions and Opportunities for Network Contracting", Network Contracting Congress
05/2009 "Silent PPOs -Developments & Preventative Strategies" HFMA Region 1
04/2009 "The Carrot & The Stick" Payment Incentives for Quality" HFMA
11/2008 "Red Flag Rules & Readiness" NH - VT HFMA Audioconfercnce
10/2008 "Basics of Managed Care Contracting", AHLA Payors, Plans & Managed Care Conf.
6/2008 "Hot Topics in Managed Care" AHLA In House Counsel Conference
"Discounting Best Practices" HCPro Audio Conference
"Burning Ethical Issues for Health Lawyers" NH Bar Assn - HFMA Health Law Update
"High Deductible Health Plans - Collection Issues for PFS Staff' CHCA PFS Conference
"High Deductible Health Plans -Issues for Contracting Staff' CHCA Contracting Conference
"Issues Presented by Medicare Advantage Plans" Northem New England Home Care Conference
"Negotiating Effective Private Payer Contracts", DccisionHealth, MD Payment Seminar
"High Deductible Health Plans: Navigating the Minefield" DccisionHealth
"Payer Initiated Healthcare Transparency", Progressive Business Conferences
"Managed C^e Contracting from Soup to Nu^ts",_NH - VT HFMA
"When Payers m^e your Quality & Cost Data Public", DccisionHealth
"Consumer Directed Health Plans: Strategies to help Boost Collections", Teleconference, HCPro
"Health Care Law Update", New Hampshire Bar Association; Manchester, NH
"Managed Care Contracting: Using Denial Data to Improve Financial Performance", HCPro
"Contemporary Health Law Issues in New Hampshire"; NBl, Concord, NH;
"Developments in Managed Care Contracting" New Hampshire Hospital Ass'n;
"Emerging Trends in Health Care Law in New Hampshire"; NBl, Concord, NH;

PUBLICATIONS I
AHLA Health Plan Contracting Handbook 5^ 6'^ & editions, chapter 5 "Payer Programs & Policies";
CMS Issues Final Rule for Medicare Shared Savings Program. AHLA Alert 6/10/2015;
CO-OPs: A Little Known Provision of the Health Reform Law. ABA The Health Lawyer, \ 0/2011
The ABCs of ACOs -What we know ahout Accountable Care Organizations so far. New Hampshire Bar Association 12/2010
Recent Federal Regulations Mandate Toueh New Minimum Health Benefit Adoeal Rights. AHLA PPMC Summary 9/2010
What Are "Never Events" and Whv Do Thev Matter? ABA, The Health Lawyer, Fall '08
The Future of Silent PPOs. AHLA, Payors. Plans and Managed Care Newsletter, June '08, Vol. 11, Issue 2
Contributing Editor, Ton Managed Care Contracting Clauses for Providers. HCPro, Fall, 2007
Silent PPOs: Develnnments & Resources. Health Care Review, July 2007
Contributing Editor, Revond the Contract HCPro Publications, Due Fall, 2006
Patient Financial Responsibility Under Hioh Deductible Health Plans: What Providers Can do if the Patient Can't Pav: ABA Health
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Lawyer.
When the HMO Savs No ■■■. Aspen Health Care Law Bulletin;
EEOC Finds the ADA Bars AIDS Exclusions/Caps from Self-Insured Plans. ABA Health Lawyer,
Fraud and Abuse Issues for Prepaid Health Plans. Medical Interface;
Medicare and Medicaid Patient Protection Provisions. Medical Interface;
Published the following articles in the Ober Kaler Health Law Alert:

Cafeteria Plans Allow Small Employers to Increase Benefits at Minimum Cost:
Self-Insured Plan Exclusions Could Cloud Covera2e Detemiinations In Patient Emergency!

:  Incr^sed Antitrust ^sks of Hospital - Home Care Exclusive Referral Arrangements:
Leased Employee Rules Can Affect Your Employee Benefit Plan's Qualified Status.

ADDITIONAL On line column: http;//ManagedCareContracting.com
ACTIVITIES Prc-Law School: Personnel and recruiting.

Paid 100% of educational expen.ses through schnlnrships and earnings,



PATRICIA M. REED

NEW HAMPSHIRE STATE DIRECTOR

QUALIFICATIONS

Demonstrated executive with more than 30 years' experience serving individuals^ with disabilities in
children and youth services, addiction services, and residential treatment programs
EXPERIENCE

2018 New Hampshire State Director, Fedcap Rehabilitation Services, Inc., Manchester, NH
•  Responsible for overall program management, program expansion and development, fiscal

integrity, quality compliance and external relationships in New Hampshire for Granite Pathways,
Inc.

I

2017 to 2018 Consultant

•  Provide system analysis and consultation for a variety of entities providing services to individuals
with intellectual and other developmental disabilities and behavioral health needs

•  Led three NH regional agencies serving this population to plan for youth with challenging
behaviors to receive adult services to meet their needs in a community based context

2015 to 2017 Vice President and Chief Operating Officer, Lakeview Management, Inc., Austin TX

•  Responsible to provide program and operations consultation and support to Lakeview Specialty
Hospital and Rehabilitation Center in Waterford, Wl

•  Directed to develop relationships with funders and providers in other states to pursue program
development to most effectively utilize Lakevlew's resources

•  Represented the company in all matters for New England, New Jersey and Pennsylvania

2015 Executive Director, Lakeview Neurorehabilitation Center, Inc., Effingham, NH
•  Responsible to provide program and operations consultation and support to Lakeview Specialty

Hospital and Rehabilitation Center in Waterford, Wl
•  Directed to develop relationships with funders and providers in other states to pursue program

development to most effectively utilize Lakevlew's resources
•  Represented the company in all matters for New England, New Jersey and Pennsylvania

2014 to 2015 Children's Director, NH Bureau of Behavioral Health, Concord, NH

•  Responsible to provide leadership in planning and development of the state children's behavioral
health system, act as liaison between CMHC Children's programs and the state office for program
and client specific information exchange and problem solving

•  Provided support to implement statewide Initiatives

•  Represented the Department of Health and Human Service on the Children's Behavioral Health

Collaborative Executive Committee, Steering Committee and various workgroups
•  Co-coordinated the Safe Schools/Health Students grant with the Department of Education



2011 to 2014 Project Director, Health Profession Opportunity Project, NH Office of Minority Health and
Refugee Affairs, Concord, NH

•  Directed and implemented a five-year, $12 miiilon-dollar healthcare workforce development
grant to recruit, train and place low income individuals in healthcare jobs

»  npvpinppH RFP's. nggntiat^ a^nd man^aeed contradts._aiid nionitored grant^ a^nd^^ntr^ctor
budgets

• Worked closely with regional health care providers to understand their workforce needs;
partnered with educational programs and other community groups to ensure that the Individuals
are well prepared to meet employer expectations for technical and soft skills

•  Provided leadership and direction to develop innovative strategies to overcome system based
barriers to education, training and self-sufficiency for NH citizens

•  Collaborated with other NH workforce programs to efficiently use available resources to achieve
shared employment goals

2002 to 2010 Senior Director of Clinical Services, Easter Seals of NH, Manchester, NH

pTovidldleadirship arTd"^^ foT the design, ofgahlzatidn and delivery ot ciihicai services tor
Easter Seals NH, including the development of Autism Services, an adolescent program for dual
disorder treatment, residential DBT program and management of a residential treatment
program for adults with substance abuse issues
Provided oversight for the DCYF Administrative Case Review contract
Developed and riiohitdred budgets for programs
Worked collaboratively with Easter Seals Development to write federal, state, and foundation
grants, progress reports and.budget monitoring
Developed reiatibTiships'w^^^ and "providers in NH'and 6ther"states to pursue "program
development and effective treatment and services for individuals and families

EDUCATION

•  1982 -1987 Boston College, Chestnut Hill, MA: Graduate School of Arts and Science Department of
Sociology (Four Year Doctoral Work)

•  1982 B.A. Norte Dame College, Manchester, NH Major- Behavioral Science/ Minor- English Summa
Cum Laude, Dean's List ,

RESEARCH EXPERIENCE

Contracted to assist staff and clients on three community based residential facilities in the development
of client.self-government prograrns through participant observation and didactics. Responsible for both
training and evaluation. Sites included Seacoast Mental Health Center- Portsmouth, NH and Greater
Manchester Mental Health Center- Manchester, NH. Responsible for leading the research design, data
collection and reporting for the evaluation of a partial Hospital Program. The primary methodology was
intensive interviewing.



DONNA KEEFE

r •

EDUCATION I Trinity High School, Manchester, NH
Springfield College - BS Human Services/Administration
Recovery Coach Academy & Training of Trainers - certified

EXPERIENCE I 12/1/2015 - Present

DIRECTOR OF NEW INITITIVES - GRANITE PATHWAYS NH

Granite Pathways is a subsidiary of Fedcap. As the Director of New
Initiatives, I manage the local day to day infrastructure and work with
referring agencies to identify, develop and maintain relationships
pertaining to billing, community relations and development. I was also
instrumental with the startup program development and implementation of
5 programs in NH, other duties include: staff supervision, communication
management with our corporate office and BOD communications.

9/2013-12/1/2015

NE DIRECTOR OF ADMISSIONS & CLIENT SERVICES

FEDCAP REHABILITATION SERVICES
As the NE Director of Admissions & Client Services, I supervised the
admissions process throughout the Fedcap NE regions working with all
the referring agencies to identify, develop and maintain relationships
pertaining to billing & client services. In this role, I worked in Rl to
systematically manage the federally mandated Interim Settlement
Agreement that shut down segregated workshops for the DD population.
The Fedcap team in Rl developed programs and systems to train the IDD
population to be gainfully employed in the community. This effort is
nationally recognized as Fedcap continues to educate other national
agencies via our Rl, National Center Institute for System Improvement
seminars available on the Fedcap website.

1995-2013

DIRECTOR OF ADMISSIONS

EASTER SEALS NH, ME, NY, VT
As Director of Admissions for the Adolescent Residential/Educational
Psychiatric & Neurobehavioral Programs I was responsible for the
admissions and transitions process within the continuum of care
programs as well as the final discharges from Easter Seals. I managed
referrals from various states and agencies where I applied knowledge of
differing state and agency placement requirements/laws. In addition to
working with families I managed the monthly billing, file retention,
census/wait list for 6 satellite intensive residential group homes and over
75 foster homes. I implemented may systems to manage the complex
admission/discharge process.



1992-1995

City of Manchester NH School Department
Served as a liaison between team members - parents, teachers,
administrators and students. I was responsible to implement behavior -
plans/procedures to transition speciaVeducation students back into the
traditional classroom from an alternative/self-contained classroom. I also
worked closely and supported low income families through the lEP
process at the inner-city schools.

1988-1992

SERESC - BIRCHWOOD HIGH SCHOOL
Aided In developing class curriculums in this alternative setting for the
Seriously Emotionally Disturbed students. Taught classes under
supervision of teacher, organized field trips and participated in all goal-
oriented programs working 1:1 with the students if needed.

AWARDS/RECOGNITIONS/Tralnings

-1997 _ Easter Seals President's Meritorious Award - for outstanding

service by an employee

2000 - Easter Seals NH, VT. NY, Employee of the Year - Chosen from
1,200 employees

2003 - Easter Seals" Service First"Award - Customer ServiceTVward

2004 - Crisis Intervention and Physical Restraint Training

2005 - State of NH DCYF/DJJS Directors Award - this award is given
yearly to one NH individual who goes above and beyond to help the state
workers solve their difficult cases

2015-Mental Health First Aid USA

2016 - CCAR Recovery Coach Academy & Training of Trainers Program

2016 - NAMI NH's Connect Suicide Prevention Training

2016 - Crisis Intervention in the Workplace

2016 - Breaking the Stigma - Language Training

2017 - First Aid/CPR and Narcan Training

PAGE 2



Lorene T, Zammuto, MSN RN

Linkedin: https://www.linkedln.com/in/lorene-zammuto-msn-rn-8ab245139

PROFILE SUMMARY

Experienced interim and permanent healthcare/nursing executive with a comprehensive background in operational
healthcare leadership over complex populations Including behavioral health, psychiatric, substance use disorder, DD,
neuro rehab, home health and LTC, specializing in program development and systems implementation.

Expert with start-up operations, operational stabilization, crisis management and consolidation. Highly proficient In
QAPI/Quallty measures and cost reduction/utilization review. Excellent track record of team building and department
restructuring, yielding significant Improvements in safety, compliance, quality, cost savings; and crisis management.

Extensive experience working with physicians, home health, and hospital organizations. Broad, general management
skills encompassing all functional disciplines. Excellent organizational and communication skills with strong

-independent-declsion-making-abilityi-E-xpert-proGess-and-projeet-management-capability.-Strong-negotiation-and-
analytical skills. Solid development and mentoring skills.

EDUCATION & CERTIFICATIONS

Doctor of Nursing Practice (DNP) Grand Canvon Universitv. Phoenix, A2 attending
Master of Science In Nursing (MSN) Grand Canvon Universitv. Phoenix, AZ 2016

Bachelor of Science In Nursing (BSN) Grand Canvon Universitv. Phoenix, A2 2014

Associate In Nursing (AS) Lakes Region Communitv College. Laconia, NH 2010
Masters Practlcum, NH Board of Nursing, Concord NH 2016

Special project on Therapeutic Cannabis completed and submitted to Board.

BLS, Certification

Certified level 1 Investigator, Labor Relations Alternatives Inc.

Lean Six Sigma White Belt

Current unrestricted RN llcensure: NH, MA

HEALTHCARE EXPERIENCE

Granite Pathways Youth Residential Treatment Center Manchester, NH
36 bed non-profit adolescent residential substance use disorder treatment facility
Executive Director 6/2018 to present

•  Report directly to the State Director

•  Led startup operations from RFP issued by state Bureau of Drug and Alcohol Services
•  Developed initial programming and staffing models

•  Supervise operations including medical, nursing, clinical, residential and administrative services

•  Report to board of directors quarterly

•  Responsible for budget management

•  Extensive outreach, community partnering and fundraising

Baystate Health/Baystate Wing Hospital Palmer MA
74 bed non-profit community hospital with medical, surgical, critical care, emergency and psychiatric services
Interim Behavioral Health Nurse Manager . 6/2018 to present
•  Report directly to the Chief Nursing Officer

•  Direct leadership of acute adult psychiatric unit, and acute geriatric psychiatric unit
•  Brought in post-survey to develop and Implement operational improvements and special projects
•  Resppnsible for budget finalization and management
•  Supervised 90 PTEs

• Worked closely with senior leadership team to Institute quality and process Improvement initiatives
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•  Developed training modules and communication systems to improve management of milieu and staff
productivity

LORENE ZAMMUTO, MSN, RN CONSULTING Portsmouth, NH
Independent healthcare and nursing program consulting for residential and community healthcare systems
Independent Consultant 2/2018-6/2018

•  Independent healthcare operations, start-up, and nurse program consulting for healthcare systems
ih(iiudihgsubstance use programs:- - -

PARADIGM HEALTH PUNS Portsmouth, NH

Privately held health plan administrator for self-funded groups
Vice President of Operations 4/2017 to 2/2018

Reported directly to CEO

.Organization that designed and administered health plans for self-funded groups. 4000 members on plan
Leadership over multiple programs including; account management, client services, call center, telehealth
program, wellness program, nurse coaching program, human resources, IT, and implementation
Served as Corporate Privacy Officer
r'omnlotoH moHiral i inHorv*/ntino rax/ip\A/«
ww. ... o

Developed nurse coaching program

98% group renewal under my leadership

NORTHWOODS HOME HEALTH & HOSPICE Lancaster, NH

Non-profit partner facility of North Country Healthcare serving the upper 1/2 of the state. Average patient census
exceeds 400 across all programs. Largest home health & hospice provider in the North Country. .
Interim Executive Director/Administrator 6/2016 to 12/2016

•  Reported directly to CEO of North Country Healthcare
•  Bro'ught In to help merge home health'agency with another community home health organization and to join

North Country Healthcare, a 4-hospltal healthcare system serving northern NH
•  Responsible for ail administrative and clinical programs

•  Increased hospice census by 40%

•  Stabilized staffing and made numerous operational changes to better utilize resources
•  Extensive community and partner outreach

•  Highest revenue generating Hospice Gala in company's history
•  Successfully transitloned organization into newly consolidated agency
•  Served as Home Health Administrator

•  Responsible for financial and service outcomes

•  Collaborated with partner hospital CMOs and clinical teams for improved patient outcomes

GREEN MOUNTAIN TREATMENT CENTER Efflngham, NH

For-profit 75-bed addiction/recovery residential facility specializing in SUD and comorbidities including psychiatric
diagnosis

Director of ODeratlons &' Nursing Services/Administrator 11/2015 to/2016

•  Reporteddlrectly to COO of parent company

•  88 bed start up, new residential substance use disorder facility that took over the property formerly
operated by Lakeview NeuroRehabilitation Hospitals.

•  Retained by new owners for startup oversight and leadership
•  Collaborated with both state and local agencies to secure permissions for new business model

•  Direct oversight of $300k in'renovations to 200-acre property and buildings
•  Hired all.75 employees including medical and nursing teams

•  Developed administrative and programming policies and procedures
•  Developed staff training program
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•  Successfully opened facility In January of 2016

LAKEVIEW NEUROREHABILITATION HOSPITALS Effingham, NH/Waterford Wl
Privately held 88 bed residential treatment facility for adults and children with severe behavioral issues related to
developmental disabilities, mental health, psychiatric diagnoses, and traumatic brain injury as well as other
neurological diagnoses

Chief Clinical Consultant (NH and Wl locations) 9/2015-11/2015
Director of Nursing & Health Services 12/2012 to 9/2015

Home Health Administrator 4/2013-7/2015

Reported directly to COO of hospital system

Oversight of nursing, pharmacy and health services programs, and medical services for main campus as
well as 6 community living facilities and a home health agency
Functioned as School Nurse Administrator for campus elementary, middle and high schools
Deficiency free surveys for Joint Commission, CARF and DHHS for nursing services
Saved $900k annually by closing onslte pharmacy and partnering with Omn.icare
Worked closely with QAPI Director serving on QAPJ tpam
Served on Trauma Response Team

Provided legal advice and legal nurse consulting for organization
Developed extensive root cause analysis and performance Improvement programs to address quality
Issues

Ownership closed the Effingham location in 9/2015. 1 wasone of only 2 employees that were kept on for
this transition out of 400 employees

Closed the NH campuses and facilities

Traveled to Wl to provide clinical and nursing consulting for LTACH hospital location
Secured new operator for Effingham campus

GENESIS HEALTHCARE Concord, NH
Leading provider of short-term post-acute, rehabilitation, skilled nursing and long-term care services

Nurse Practice Educator 4/2012 to 12/2012
•  Reported to Director of Nursing

•  Joined facility to develop and oversee transitional care unit education program
•  Developed training program for all nursing staff with individual modules and hands-on practice
•  Collaborated with Unit Manager on training needs and drills
•  Provided bedside clinical training with nursing staff
•  Served on Wound Team

•  Developed performance Improvement plans to address survey outcomes from prior year

BELKNAP COUNTY NURSING HOME Laconia, NH
94-bed LTC county facility with collective bargaining agreement
Nursing Supervisor 6/2011 to 4/2012
•  Responsible for entire facility on night shift. Oversight of nursing services and patient care for this 93 bed

SNF facility

•  Served on leadership team

• Worked with DON and Administrator on union State Employee Association (SEA) Issues relating to nursing
staff

•  Reduced falls on shift to zero after piloting a rounding system that I personally developed. Falls on shift were
averaging over 25 per month previously

•  Responsible for hiring, training, and managing all employees on shift

SPEARE MEMORIAL HOSPITAL Plymouth, NH
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Non-profit Critical Access Hospital
Registered Nurse-Labor & Delivery, Med/Surg, Emergency Dept 6/2010-4/2011
Nurse Extern-Emergency Dept 5/2009-6/2010
Licensed Nursing Assistant Med/Surg,- Emergency Dept, ICU 4/2006-5/2010
Plymouth, NH

•  Joined this critical access hospital as an LNA in 2006. Received LNA of the year in 2008. Assigned to multiple
units

Department on all shifts
•  joined the Labor and Delivery team in 2010 as a Registered Nurse. Assisted in multiple deliveries and

cesarean section deliveries

•  Float RN to ED> Med/Surg, CCU

•  Assisted in preparing Infants and mothers for emergency transport
•  Certified in neonatal resuscitation

•  Certified in fetal monitoring

•  Served on Trauma Response Team

SPECIAL

Budget development and stabilization .
Substantial cost reduction

Staffing stabilization

Deficiency free survey (CARF/JOINT COMMISSION,
CMS)

Accreditation readiness

Process implementation

Policy development

Safety improvement

Fall reduction

Medication administration occurrence rate-

reduction

Patient safety

EMR implementation

Consolidation/merger/closure

Staff development program implementation

SKILLS

Executive leadership committees

Board presentations

Workflow improvement

Proposal review

Program development and systems-implementation
Complex populations (behavioral health, -substance
use disorder, DD, Neuro-behavioral, Neuro rehab, LTC,
children)
Experienced with start-up operations, -operational
stabilization, crisis management and consolidation

Highly proficient in QAPI/Quality measures -and cost
reduction/utilization review

Team building and department restructuring
Physician Relations/Hospital systems/ACOs
Broad, general management expertise

Personal Leadership Qualities
•  Servant leader • • Expert project management leadership
•  Visionary, creative, and entrepreneurial • Change agent
•  Excels in fast paced and changing • Fiscally responsible/Strong negotiation and

environments analytical skills
•  Effective communicator • Strong development and mentoring skills
•  Strong independent decision-making ability
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Objective

To acquire employment utilizing my graduate degree as a Master of Science in Mental
Health Counseling an^ piy experience with the substance dependent populatlori. I
hope,to have my iic^ertsihg requirements fulfilled by the end of the year for my LCMHC.

License/Certification^ •

State OF NH

2018

Master Licensed Alcohol Drug Counselor, pending

Education

Springfield collegE

Manchester, NH

2014

Master of Science, Mental Health Counseling

Southern NH University
Manchester, NH

2006



\
\

Resume of Meredttti Belesca ̂

Bachelor of Arts Degree, Psychology

n Concentration - Children 8 Adolescents

□ Minor-Sociology

2004 . liAssociate of Arts Degree, Liberal Arts
^ • 'Hi-

Vi

B^riehce

Clinician [LowellHouse
February 2018 - Currentfc>-^ - .. ^..

Fee for service clinician^prpvidjng ciinicpl seryjcesf^^^^ substarice ■
dependerit population.^6ompfetedihtdl<es,'bgiitcbs coiripleted
substance abuse evalgations/didgnosed clients, developed ;
treatment plans, provided case management. Worked individually
with clients, motivating them for treatment, and supporting them in
their efforts to maintain sobriety.

Cose Manager | Cynthia Day Family Center/Keystone Hall
March 2017 - January 2018

Provided intensive case management for pregnant/postpartum
women and women with children in residential treatmenfwith
substance use and co-occurring disorders. Connected clients with
community resources. Utilized clinical skillset daily-in Individual
sessions using a strengths-based approached with motivational
interviewing and CBT. Developed treatment plans, completed
treatment reviews, maintained timely documentation, and completed
insurance reviews on clients' progress in treatment. Worked
collaborotively with DCYF and other integrated care entities.
Facilitated evidence based groups. Received ongoing supervision
toward my MLADC and LCMHC.

LADC On Call- Managed an on-call crisis line for clients accessing
the Safe Station. Completed LADC evaluations telephonically and

• -t
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referred clients to an appropriate level of care based on ASAM
criteria.

CF^ Manager I Aware Recovery Care
November 2016 - February 2017

Recruited to interview, tiire, and oversee peer recovery coaches, for a
start-up In-home addiction treatment service provider. Met with
clients, in their homes, and carried out ARC'S own curriculum.

Provided clinical insight. Administrativeduties as needed. Built
relationships within the community, assisted with marketing.

"Therapist j Greater Nashua Mental Heolth Center
March 2015 - February 2017

Children and Adolescent Services- Complete assessments & Intakes
of new clients, diagnose, develop treatment plans, maintain timely
documentation, engage in Individual counseling with clients using
solution-focused, person-centered therapy, and provided case
management. Advocated for clients with school personnel.
Provided therapy to clients In school through Mental Health In
Schools program. Gained experience with children, adolescents,

.  and families affected by substance use. Provided family therapy
and psycho-education for parents around childhood disorders.
Developed incentive and rewards programs. Effectively upheld
continuity of care. Attended trainings, received supervision toward
mental health licensure. Clinically trained In evidence based
practices such as DOT, TF-CBT, CBT, Motivational Interviewing,
Attachment theories, and other clinical modules.

Substance Abuse Services- Fee for Service Clinician - facilitated
group lOP sessions with adults weekly. Helped clients explore risky,
behaviors, develop healthy coping skills, and facilitated relapse
prevention. Worked with the Drug Court. Received supervision.
Clinically trained in evidence based practice, utilizing the Matrix
model.

Acute Care Services- Manage the after-hours emergency services
phone, providing crisis intervention, de-escalatlon coaching, and
brief support to clients in crisis. Maintained documentation.

Intern | Keystone Hall
May 2013 - August 2014

Page 3'
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Complete assessments & intakes of new clients, develop treatment
plans, facilitate group counseling sessions, maintain progress
notes, engage in individual counseling with clients using evidence
based practice, use a psychoeducationdl model to help clients
learn copin^sklirs,^d^rd\^ed case mmd'g^ in ~
developing discharge plans. Gained experience working in
out-pdtient, residential, and on the Cynthia Day unit with moms
suffering from substance use disorders.

Server 199 Restaurant
October 2011 -r^ay2015

Serve guests using exemplary customer service,skills. Primarily
worked In the lounge, built relationships with guests. Work as a
team with other staff members to help create a memorable
experience for guests. Meet and greet guests, serve food, run
fdod, have fun, multi-task, maintain professionalism.

Meeting Development Executive | Marathon Stafflng/SLC Global .
June 2010-July 2011

Provided banquet staffing for Marathon Staffing at various hotel and
6h-ldcdtioh events & furictiohs. Took on position of Meeting "development
Executive when I was placed at SLC Global, making outgoing phone calls to
top company executives in an effort to schedule meetings with lower level
executives. Multi-tqsking, scheduling, excellent phone skills and maintaining
a high-level of professionalism necessary.

Teller | Bank of America
January 2010- May 2010

Provided top quality customer sen/ice to customers on a daily basis.
Received money, counted money, balanced drawer, followed policies 8
procedures, met 8 exceeded sales goals, completed customer transactions
in a timely manner.

SubstltuteToacherl RStC Inc.
2007-January 2010

On-call, as needed, primarily for Summit School, a high school for
adolescents with behavioral needs. This included kids with juvenile
probation officers or kids who simply couldn't maintain attendance at a
mainstream school.

Memtal Health worker skills

Page 4
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□ Record and maintain records of client report; condition and activity,
mood/affect, and betiavior. Monitor, evaluate, and record client progress with
respect to treatment goals. Maintain up to dote documentation.

□ Counsel clients and individuals to assist them In dealing with mental and
physical illness, behavioral challenges, poverty, substance use, unemployment,
and/or trauma. Proficient in meeting the client where they're at, and providing
nonjudgmental, objective, therapeutic support.

□ Assist clients in adhering to treatment plans, such as setting up appointments,
arranging for transportation to appointments, and providing support. Assisted
with ongoing ease management:

□ Organize, supervise, and encourage patient participation In social, educational,
and recreational activities.

References

Annette Escalante, MSW, MLADC

Director, BOAS

Former Vice President, Keystone Hall

603-867-2224 (cell)

Jaime Gormley, LICSW, MLADC

Director of Residential Services, Keystone Hal)

603-459-4993 (cell)

Trad Weaver, LCMHC, MLADC

Greater Nashua Mental Health & Hillsborough County Drug Court

603-459-9462 (celt)
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GRANITE PATHWAYS YOUTH TREATMENT CENTER

CONTRACTOR NAME

Key Personnel

Last Name First Name Title

% Paid from

this contract

Amount paid from this

Contract

Fisk Robin V.P. Occ Health 4% $, 15,300.00

Reed Patricia State Director 25% $  22,947.00

Keefe Donna Dir Program Services 8% $  • 20,400.00

Zammuto Lorene Executive Director 100% $, 130,000.00

Belesca Meredith Clinical Case Manager 100% S  55,000.00



Jeffrey A. Meyeri
Coaimluioner

K«ij« S. Foi
Direccor

STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

DIVISION FOR BEHA VIORAL HEALTH

BVREAUOFDRUG AND ALCOHOL SERVICES

105 PLEASANT STREET, CONCORD. NH 03301
603-27U1I0 1-800^52.3345 Ext 6738

Fax: 603*271.6105 TOD Access: 1*800.735-2964

www.dhhs.nh.gov

A /

October 1, 2018

His Excellency, Governor Christopher T. Sununu
and the Honorable Council

State House'

Concord, New Hampishire 03301

REQUESTED ACTIONS

(1) Contingent upon approval and directly related to Requested Action (2) below, authorize the
Department of Health and Human Services. Sununu Youth Services Center, to enter into a. lease
agreement with Granite Pathways, Inc. Vendor #228900, 10 Ferry Street, Suite 319, Concord, New
Hampshire 03301, for premises located at 1056 North River Road in Manchester, New Hampshire.
03104 upon the date of Governor and Executive Council approval, or November 1, 2018, whichever
date is later, through October 31, 2022. Rent paid to the Department in support this request will be
deposited into the following account for State Fiscal Years 2019, 2020, 2021, 2022, and 2023.

✓

(2) Contingent upon approval of and directly related to Requested Action (1) above, authorize^he
Department of Health and Human Services, Division for Behavioral Health, to enter into a service
agreement with Granite Pathways, Inc. Vendor #228900. 10 Ferry Street, Suite 319, Concord, New
Hampshire 03301, to provide residential adolescent substance use disorder treatment services,
effective upon the date of Governor and Executive Council approval, or November 1, 2018,
whichever date is later, through October 31, 2022.

010-092-9205-33820000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, HEALTH AND HUMAN SVCS DEPT
OF. HHS: DIV FOR BEHAVORIAL HEALTH, BUREAU OF DRUG & ALCOHOL SVCS, GOVERNOR
COMMISSION FUNDS

SFY Revenue Receipt Account No. Class Title Rent Amount Due

2019 403596 Other Leases/Services Income $374,000

2020 403596 Other Leases/Services Income $374,000

2021 403596 Other Leases/Services Income $374,000
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2022 403596 Other Leases/Services Income $374,000

TOTAL $1,496,000

EXPLANATION

The Department submits both requested actions in response to the legislative mandates
included in HB 517, Chapter 156:166, Laws of 2017, Budget Trailer Bill. As required by this legislation,
the Department renovated excess capacity at the Sununu Youth Services Center in Manchester, New
Hampshire for the operation of a residential facility to provide substance use disorder treatment and
recovery services for adolescents ages twelve (12) through eighteen (18). This legislation specifically
states that the facility must be operated by a non-govemmental entity.

Requested Action (1) allows the Department to enter Into a lease agreement with Granite
Pathways, Inc. Pursuant to the terms of the lease agreement, Granite Pathways. Inc. will pay the
Department monthly rent to occupy three (3) designated floors of the Sununu Youth Services Center,
each consisting of twelve (12) bedrooms for a total of thirty-six (36) bedrooms. The rent wilt be applied
to maintenance and utility expenses for the premises defined in the lease agreement.
Additionally, the lease agreement defines the building maintenance and sen/ices, as well as optional
food and laundry services offered by the Department. On August 31, 2018, the Council on Resources
and Development (CORD) voted to recommend approval of the lease agreement. On September 5,
2018, the Long Range Capital iPlanning and Utilization Committee (LRCPU) granted conditional
approval of the agreement, contingent upon submission of a fully executed lease with no material
changes as reviewed by the Office of Legislative Budget Assistant. On September 28, 2018, the
Legislative Budget Assistant sent a letter to LRCPU, indicating that it conducted a comparative review
of the lease documents and that the Committee's contingent approval was satisfied, as no material
changes were made. Copies of all required letters of approval are attached.

Requested Action (2) allows the Department to enter into a service agreement with Granite
Pathways, Inc. to provide residential adolescent substance use disorder treatment services for up to
thirty-six (36) clients at the premises defined in the lease agreement in Requested Action (1). This
residential treatment option will align with the Resiliency and Recovery Oriented Systems of Care
(RROSC) through the Continuum of Care model that engages adolescents, youth and their families and
coordinates with the System of Care as outlined in RSA 135-F. Services will assist adolescents in
overcoming substance misuse and other mental health and t>6havioral challenges that may inhibit their
successful achievement of recovery. Treatment will support clients with their transition from
adolescence to^adulthood in a manner that builds upon their strengths and needs as well as those of
their families. The vendor will support the delivery of services by billing Medicaid, commercial insurers,
and other third-party payors for services provided.

Substance use disorder treatment and recovery support services are part of the Department's
overall strategy to respond to the opioid epidemic that continues to negatively irhpact New Hampshire's
individuals, families, and communities. In 2017, New Hampshire had 395 opioid-related deaths. 2,774
emergency naloxone (Narcan) administrations, and 6,684 emergency department opioid-related visits.
New Hampshire is ranked as having the third highest overdose rate in the country at 39 individuals per
100,000 of the population. Currently., the state of New Hampshire is experiencing an increase in the
need for substance use disorder treatment and recovei7 support services for adolescents and it does
not have the capacity to meet the demand for these essential services.
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Granite Pathways. Inc. has been determined to be qualified to provide residential substance use
disorder treatment and recovery services for adolescents and their families in an effective manner that
will help mitigate the negative impacts of substance misuse. Granite Pathways was selected for this
project through a competitive bid process. A Request for Proposals was posted or) the Department's
web site from March 6, 2018 through April 10. 2018, and a bidder's conference was held on March 20.
2018.

The Department received two (2) proposals. The proposals were reviewed and scored by a
team of individuals with program specific knowledge. The review included a thorough discussion of the
strengths and weaknesses of the proposals. The Bid Summary is attached.

As referenced in the Request for Proposals, Exhibit C-1 of the service agreement, and section
three (3) of the lease agreement, the lease agreement and service agreement may be extended for up
to four (4) additional year(s), contingent upon satisfactory delivery of services, available funding, written
agreement of the parties and approval of the Governor and Executive Council.

The following performance measures/objectives will be used to measure the effectiveness of the
agreement;

•  Access to Services: for each client who screens eligible for services and starts receiving
services, other than evaluation, v^ether for the identified service for the ASAM Level of

Care of interim services, within 10 business days following the eligibility screening;

•  Completion: for each client who is discharged from the program because they have
completed treatment or transferred to another treatment provider as recorded in the
Discharge Type field of the WITS Discharge Module;

•  Performance will be measured against an established baseline to ensure services are
mitigating the negative impacts of substance use and that there are demonstrable
improvements in reported National Outcome Measures;

•  Client access to services and program completion or transfer to other treatment provider;

•  Client reports of abstinence from substance use;

•  Client reports of Increased or retained employment or reports of retuming to or staying in
school;

•  Client reports of no arrests;

•  Client reports of obtaining stable housing:

•  Client reports of engagement in Recovery Support Services, Care Coordination, and/or
Community Based Support Groups.
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Should the Governor and Executive Council not authorize these Requests, the Department will
not be in compliance with HB5 17 and access to critical residential substance use disorder treatment
services for New Hampshire's youth will be significantly diminished.

Area served: Statewide.

Funding: No federal or state funds will be provided to Granite Pathways. Inc.

Respectfully submitted,

Ka^^S^^Fox^^
Director ^

Approved by:

Jeffrey a. Meyers
Commissioner

The Deparlnienl of Health and Human Services'Mission is to Join communities and families
in providing opportunities for citizens to achieve health and independence.



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Office of Business Operations

Contracts & Procurement Unit

^^^^^^^^^Simimar^^Scorln£Shee^^^^^^_^_

ResidentJal Adolesctnt Sut»tanc* Use

Disorder Treatment Services

RFP Name

RPP.201 S-BDAS-11 -RESID

RFP Number Reviewer Names

■y Erica UngarelS. Director. Buretu of
' Children's Behavioral Health

Bidder Name
Paae/Fall

Mailmum

Points

Actual
Points

2. Jamia Powers, Clinical & Recovery
Srvca Admin li. BOAS

1.
Easter Seats NH 700 317

3. Beth E. Kelly. Financial
Administrator li

2.
Granite Pattiwaye 700 034

4. Abby ShocUey. Senior Policy
ArtalMt, Substance tJse Services

5. Bredy Serallrf. Ccmmunity A
Family Support Admin SYSC



New Hampshire Council on
Resources and Development
NH Office of Strategic Initiatives
107 Pleasant Street, Johnson Hall

Concord, NH 03301
Phone: 603-271-2155

Fax: 603-271-2615

rv

TOO Access; Relay NH
1^00-735-2964

MEMORANDUM

TO: Jeffrey A. Meyers, Commissioner
NH Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS)
(Via email to Jefffev.Mevers@dhhs.nh.govl

FROM: Michael Klass, Principal Planner
NH Office of Strategic Initiatives

DATE: August 31,2018

SUBJECT: Surplus Land Review, SLR 18-006 (Manchester)

••I

On August 31, 2018, the Council on Resources and Development (CORD) took action on the
following Surplus Land Review application:

Request from DHHS to lease excess capacity at the Sununu Youth Services Center to a
non-govcmmcntal entity that will operate a Residential Adolescent Substance Use
Disorder Treatment Facility through an agreement with the Department, pursuant to HE
517.

At such time, CORD members voted to RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF SLR 18-006
(Manchester).

cc: Melissa St. Cyr, Department of Health and Human Services
(Via cmai 1 to Mclissa.St;Cvr@dhhs:nhiBOv)

David Clapp, Department of Health and Human Services
(Via email to David.Ciapb@dhhs.nh.gov)

Jared Chicoine, NH Office of Strategic Initiatives
(Via email to Jared.Ghic6inc@.osi.nh.gov)

Long Range Capital Planning and Utilizatior\ Committee
(Via email to nam.ellis@leg.state.nh.us)

MEMBER AGENCIES; Ofllce of Strategic Initiatives • Natural and Cultural-Resources • Environmental Services
Agriculture. Markets, and Food • Fish and Game * Selety • Education • Health and Human Services • Transportation

Business and Ecoromic Affairs • AdmirtistraUve Services • New Hampshire Housing Rnanco Authority^



MIOHAISI. W. KANIS. MPA

Otidsnl AiMtatajil
(P0n)27iniAl

LRCP 18-036

^fatp of ̂cUi ̂ ampsl|irp
CHPiarOPHJilR M. fiHRA, MPA STJ5PMEN C. SMITH. CPA

Dnp,..y l^tfl.lMlv« AiM.l.un, OFFICE OF LECISLATtVE BUDCETT ASSISTANT
-  - (003)271-9101 Slate Houae. Rooni 102 (tioy)27i-27ti6

Concord. New Hanipaliire 03001

September 5^ 2018

JclTrcy A. Meyers, Commissioner
Department of Health and Human Services
129 Pleasant Street

Concord, New Hampshire 03301

Dear Commissioner Meyers,

The Long Range Capital Planning and Utilization Committee, pursuant to the
provisions ofRSA 4:40, on September 5..2018. conditionally approved the requestor the
Department of Health and Human Services, for approval of a four-year lease agreemciil,
with a four-year renewal nrovision. for premises located at the Sununu Youth Services
Center, 1056 North River Road, Manchester, New Hampshire, contlngcnf uncm
.submission of a fully executed lease agreement with no material changes as reviewed

by (he Legislative Budget Assistant and further waive the 51.100 Administrative

Fee, as specified in the request dated September 4, 2018.

Sincerely,

Chrisiophcr.M. Shea
Deputy Legislative Budget Assistant

CMS/pe
Attachment

Cc: David Clapp, Director of Finance & Support Operations
New Hampshire Hospital

TOO Access: lUlay NH 1 800-735 29^



MICHAEL W. KANE. MPA

Lagislniiva B(id|tei Amwuuii
(603) 271-9101

CHRI^TOPHEH M. SHEA. MPA

Depuiy LesiaJuii^** BudgtiL.AcidxiMii

{ecn»2^>oioi

^tatc of ̂'clu JDlanipsl|irc
OFFICE OP USCrSLATIVE BUPCET AS.S15TANT

Stnte House. Roquj 102
Coucord. New Hauipsltire 03301

STEPHEN C. SMITH. CPA

Du-ceier. Atwlii OivlsiOM

lft0a)27l,-2786

September 26, 2018

The Honorable John Qraham, Chairman
Long Range Capital Planning and Utilization Committee
Legislative Office Building, Room 201
Concord, NH 03301

Dear Chairman Graham,

On September 5, 2018, the Long Range Capital Planning and Utilization
Committee (LRCPU) approved item LRCP 18-036 .from the Department of Health and
Human Sen/ices relative to the approval of a four-year lease agreement for premises
located at the S.ununu Youth Services Center. Said approval vyas hriade contingent
upor) submission of-a fully executed lease with no material changes as reviewed by the
Office of Legislative Budget Assistant.

On September 28. 20.18, our Office received the fully executed lease and
conducted a comparative review of the docurnent alongside the preliminary docurneht
submitted to the Committee under LRCP 18-036.- Based on our review, we conclude
there are rio material changes between the two docurtients and the terms of the
Committee's contingent approval have been satisfied.

Sincerely yours,

Michael W. Kane

Legislative Budget Assistant

Cc; Jeffrey A, Meyers. Commissioner, Department of Health and Human Services

TDD Access: ReUiy KH I •800-735-29&4



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Lease Agreement with Granite Pathways

Lease Agreement

This Lease Agreement Is agreed upon in conjunction with the Service Agreement entered Into
by and between the State of New Hampshire, Department of Health and Human Services and
Granite Pathways for Residential Adolescent Substance Use Disorder Treatment Services
(RFP-2018-8DAS-11-RESID), (hereinafter referred to in this Lease Agreement as "the Sen/ice
Agreement."

1. Parties to the Lease:

This indenture of Lease is made by the following parties:

1.1 The Lessor, (hereinafter referred to as the "Landlord") is: THE STATE OF NEW
HAMPSHIRE, acting by arxl through its Commissioner.of:

Department Name: Department of Health ,and Human Services.-Sununu Youth
Services Center

Address: .129 Pleasant Street. Concord. NH .03301

Street Address: 1056 North River Road. Manchester. NH 03104

Telephone Number: (6031 62S-5471

1.2 The Lessee (hereinafter referred to as the "Tenant") is:

Name: .Granite Pathways. Inc.

State of Incorporation: New Hampshire

Corporate Address: 633 Third Avenue - Slirth Floor. NeW York. NY 10017

Local Address: 10 Ferrv Street.- Suite 319. Concord. NH 033Q1

2. Demise of the Premises: For and in consideration of the rent and the mutual covenants and
agreements herein contained, the Landlord hereby demises to the Tenant, and the Tenant
hereby leases from the Landlord, the following premises (hereinafter called the "Premises')
for the Term, (as defined herein) at the Rent, (as defined herein) and upon the terms and
conditions hereinafter set forth:

Location of Space to be leased: 1056 North River Road. Wina H. Manchester. New
Hampshire.

The demise of the Premises consists of 25.542 rentable Muare footaoe

"Demise Documentation" has been provided which includes accurate floor plans depicting
the Premises showing the extent of the space for the Tenant's exclusive use, together with a
site plan showing all entrances to the Premises and all parking areas for the Tenant's use;
these documents have been reviewed, accepted, agreed-to and signed by both parties and
placed on file at the Department, and shall be deemed as part of this Lease Agreement.

Page 1 of 13



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Lease Agreement with Granite Pathways

The Tenant acknowledges that the Premises are located In a separate Wing of the Sununu
Youth Services Center, which is in the same building where the Landlord operates the
secure Youth Detention Services Unit. Landlord and Tenant shall meet before accepting
admissions, and as often as required by the Director of the Sununu Youth Services Center
(or his or her designee), to schedule and coordinate the use of all common areas (Identified
and defined in the Demise Documentation), to ensure that Tenant's staff and residents have
no contact with the individuals served by the secure Youth Detention Services Unit. The
Tenant's use of the Premises shall not interfere with the Landlord's operation of the secure
Youth Detention Services Unit. Both parties understand that Tenant must have limited
access to the Common Areas in order to fulfill the obligations of the Service Agreement and
any failure by either party to-agree on reasonable use of the Common Areas shall be

•"•grounds for terminatlon' of this Lease.

3. Effective Date: Term: Extensions: and Conditions uoon. Commencement:

3.1. Effective Date: The effective dates of this Lease Agreement shall be:
Commencing on the 1st .dav, of November in the« year 2016 or the date of
occupancy.-which shall be no later than Noverribef 15. 2018. and ending on the
Si^idav of October in the vear 2022. unless terminated sooner in accordance
with the provisions.hereof and.the.Service Agreement.

3.2. , Occupancy Term: Occupancy of the Premises and commencement of rental
payments shall be for a term (hereinafter called the "Term") of four years
commencing on the Effective Date and ending on October 31. 2022, unless
sooner terminated in accordance with the provisions hereof and the Service
Agreement.

3.3. Extension of Term: In accordance with Exhibit C-1 of the Service Agreement, the
Tenant has the option to extend the Term of this Lease, with the Landlord's
written consent, upon the same terms and conditions as set forth herein for the
same term as any extension of the Service Agreement.

3.4. Conditions of the Commencement and Extension of Term:

3.4.1. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, it is hereby understood and
agreed by the parties that this Lease and the commencement of any
Term, and any ameridrnent or extension thereof, is conditioned upon its
approval by the Governor and Executive Council, in the event that said
approval is not given until after the date for commencement of the Term,
the Term shall begin on the date of said approval.

3.4.2. Notwithstanding sections 3.1 and 3.2 above, any breach or termination of
the Service Agreement by the Tenant constitutes a material breach of the
Lease Agreement, permitting the Landlord to terminate the Lease
Agreement in accordance with the terms of the Service Agreement. The
Lease Agreement and the Service Agreement run concurrently and will
terminate on the same date.

3.4.3. The Landlord confirms that to the best of Its knowledge the ground level
of the Premises conforms with the Americans with Disabilities act (ADA)
and that the Premises complies with all program access required by the
ADA.
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4. Rent:

4.1. During the Term, and any extended Term, the Tenant shall pay the Landlord
annual rent payable In advance at the Landlord's address set forth in Section 1
above, in twelve equal monthly installments. The first such installment is due
and payable on the following date; the 10"* dav of November In the vear 2018
and subseoLient .D'avrhehts shall be due 'bv the tenth day of the mdhth'ln whi(^
th'e bavmeht Is due. The rent due and payable for each year of the Term, and
any supplemental provisions affecting or escalating said rent or specifying any
additional payments for any reason, is set forth in the Schedule of Payments,
which Is attached hereto and incorporated herein as "Exhibit A." Landlord shall
present an Invoice for the next month's rent to Tenant at least ten (10) days prior
to the first calendar day in which the rent will be due.

4.1.3. Taxes and other Assessments: the Landlord shall be responsible for, and
pay for all taxes and other assessmentfs) applicable to the Premises.

5. UtilitiM and Fumish'tnos:

5.1. The Landlord shall, at its sole expense, furnish all of the following utilities to the
Tenant: heat, water and sewer services, HVAC ("air conditioning") and electricity.

5.2. The Landlord shall include the following furnishings, which shall be in good
condition:

5.2.1. A total of three (3) sofas, ten (10) tables and forty (40) chairs.

'  5.2.2. For each of the thirty-six (36) bedrooms; a desk, a desk chair, a bedframe,
a mattress and a pillow.

5.2.3. Three office desks for offices located on the ground floor.

5.3. Any built in furnishings will remain on the Premises at the termination of the lease.

5.4. tenant shall be solely responsible for maintenance, repair and replacement of
the furnishings provided for the Tenant's use in Section 5.2 above.

6, Other Required Services:

6.1. The Tenant is required to provide food and laundry services for clients in
accordance with Section 7, Facilities, of the Service Agreement.

6.2. The Tenant may utilize the Landlord's laundry and food services as follows:

6.2.1. Laundry services;

6.2.1.1. At the rate of $5 (five dollars) per client, per week, based
on the average number of clients as determined by a
weekly census;

6.2.2. Food services;
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6.2.2.1. At the rate of $15 (fifteen dollars) per client, per day,
based on a daily census of the number of clients counted
at midnight and the number of clients discharged between
noon and midnight. Food ser^ce choices served to
Tenant's clients shall be at the sole option of the Landlord
and shall be the same as are provided to any residents of
the Landlord in the Sununu Youth Detention Center.

6.2.2.2. All food shall be delivered to the .Tenant's Premises by the
Landlord at agreed upon times.

6.3. The Tenant may discontinue the laundry and food services provided by the
Landlord by providing 30 (thirty) days written notice to the Landlord. The
Landlord may discontinue the laundry and food services provided to the Tenant
by providing 30 (thirty) days written notice to the tenant.

6.4. Rates for laundry and food services are valid through June 30. 2019 and are
subject to annual review and adjustment.

7. Maintenance and Repair:

7.1. General Provisions: The Landlord shall nieet with the Tenant upon reguest and
as necessary to review and discuss the condition of the Premises. The Landlord
shall, at Its own expense, maintain the exterior and interior of the Premises In
good repair and condition, Including HVAC systems, any •common" building
spaces such as parking areas, and walkways which provide access to the
Premises. The Landlord shall not provide any janitorial or cleaning services to
the Tenant. Landlord shall make all routine repairs within seventy-two (72) hours
or as soon as practicable, and all emergency repairs within twelve (12) hours or
as soon as practicable. Emergency repairs shall be defined as those repairs
necessary to the health and safety of the residents and staff.

7.2. Snow Plowing and Removal: The Landlord shall make best efforts to provide Ice
and snow plowing and/or removal from all steps, walkways, doorways, sidewalks,
driveway entrances and parking lots, Including accessible paricing spaces and
their access aisles, providing sanding and/or salt application as needed. Plowing
and/or removal will be provided prior to Tenant's normal working hours, however,*
additional work will be provided as needed during the Tenant's working hours if
Ice accumulates or if more than a two (2) inch build-up of snow occurs. Best
efforts will be made to provide and maintain bare pavement at all times.

7.3. Maintenance and Repair of Lighting, Alarm Systems, and Exit Signs:
Maintenance of the Premise includes the Landlord's timely repair and/or
replacement of all lighting fixtures, ballasts, starters, incandescent and
fluorescent lamps as may be required.- The Landlord shall provide and maintain
alt emergency lighting systems, exit signs and fire extinguishers In the Premises
and/or located in the building to which the Premises are a part in conformance
with requirements set forth by the State of New Hampshire Departmerit of Safety,
Fire Marshall's Office and/or the requirements of the National Fire Protection
Agency. Said systems and fire extinguishers will be tested as required and any
deficiencies corrected.
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0. Insurance: During the Occupancy Term and any extension thereof, the Tenant shall at its
sole expense, obtain and maintain in force, and shall require any^ subcontractor or any
assignee to obtain and maintain in force, the following insurance with respect to the
Premises: (A) Comprehensive general liability insurance insuring the Tenant against liability
for all claims of bodily injury, personal injury, death and property damage (including loss of
use of property) occurring on (or claimed to have occurred on) in or about the Premises,
including contractual liability. Such insurance Is to provide minimum insured coverage
conforming to: General liability coverage of not less than three million ($3,000,000) per
occurrence and not less than five million ($5,000,000) general aggregate, with coverage of
excess/umbrella liability of not less than three million ($3,000,000). The initial amount of
Insurance will be subject to periodic increases reasonably specified by the landlord based
upon Inflation, increased lialjility awards, recommendations of the Landlord's professional
insurance advisors, and other relevant factors. The liability insurance obtained by the
Tenant under this Lease Agreement will (1) be primary and (2) Insure the Tenant's
obligations to the Landlord hereunder and (3) list the Landlord as a named additional
Insured. The amount and coverage of such insurance will not limit the Tenant's liability nor
relieve the Tenant of any other obligation under this Lease. The policies described herein
shall be on policy forms and endorsements approved for use In the State of New Hampshire
by the New Hampshire Landlord of Insurance and issued by Insurers licensed in the State of
New Hampshire. Each C8rtlficate(s) of insurance shall contain a clause requiring the Insurer
to provide the Landlord no less than ten (10) days prior written notice of cancellation or
modification of the policy. The Tenant shall deposit with the Landlord certificates of
insurance for all insurance required under this Lease Agreement (or for any extension
thereoO no later than the date set forth In Section 3.2 Occupancy Term herein. In no
Instance shall the Tenant commence occupancy or payment of rent prior to providing the
certlficate(s) of Insurance to the Landlord. During the Occupancy Term, the Tenant shall
furnish the Landlord with certjficate(s) of renewal(s) of insurance required under this Lease
Agreement no later than fifteen (15) days prior to the expiration date of each policy.

8.1 Worlcer's Compensation Insurance: Worker's Compensation Insurance In the
statutory amount covering all employees of the Tenant employed at or
performing services at the Premises, In order to provide the statutory benefits
required by the laws of the State of New Hampshire.
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8.2 Personal Property Insurance: Personal Property Insurance covering leasehold
improvements and the Tenant's personal property and fixtures from time to time
in, on, or at the Premises. In an amount not less than 100% of the full
replacement cost, without deduction for depredation, providing protection against
events protected under "All Risk Coverage." as well as against sprinkler damage,
vandalism, and malicious mischief. Ariy proceeds'from the Personal Property
Insurance will be used for the repair or replacement of the property damaged or
destroyed. If the Premises are not repaired or restored in accordance with this
Lease, the Landlord will receive any proceeds from the personal property
Insurance allocable to the Tenant's leasehold improvements.

9. Indemnity: To the fullest extent permitted by law. the Tenant hereby waives ail claims
against the Landlord and its directors, officers, employees, agents, affiliates, and
subcontractors (collectively, the "Indemnitees") for damage to any property or injury to or
death of any person in, upon or about the Premises arising at any time and from any
cause. The Tenant shall hold Indemnitees harmless from and defend Indemnitees from
and against all claims, liabilities, judgments, demands, causes of action, losses, damages,
costs and expenses, including reasonable attorney's fees, for damage to any property or
injury to or death of any person arising from the use or occupancy of the Premises by the
Tenant or persons daiming under the TenanL except such as is caused by the ads or
omissions of the Indemnitees. This paragraph does not apply to claims arising from the
Landlord's maintenance and repair of the Premises, in accordance with Section 7 of this
Lease Agreement.

10. Manner of Use: The Tenant will use the Premises only for the purposes described in
Exhibit A: Scope of Work, of the Service Agreement. Any use of the Premises outside the
scope of the Service Agreement will require prior written consent from the Landlord. If
the Service Agreement Is terminated, this Lease Agreement will also be terminated,
effective on the date of termination of the Service Agreement. The Tenant will not cause
or ̂ rmit the Premises to be used in any way which (a) constitutes a violation of any
Legal Requirements (as defined below), (b) constitutes a nuisance or waste or will
invalidate any insurance carried by the Landlord. The Tenant will take all actions
necessary to comply with all applicable Federal, State or local statutes, ordinances, notes,
regulations, orders, recorded declarations, covenants and requirements (collectrvety,
"Legal Requirements") regulating the use by the Tenant of the Premises. Including,
without limitation, the Occupational Safety and Health Act and the Americans With
OisabilKies Act.
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11..Ehvirc>nmental ReQulrements: The Tenant will not cause or permit any Hazardous
Material to be generated, produced, brought upon, used, stored, treated or disposed of in
or about the Premises by the Tenant, its agents, employees, contractors, or invitees that
were not present on the Premises on the commencement of the Term without (a) the
prior written consent of the Landlord, and (b) complying with all applicable Legal
Requirements pertaining to the transportation, storage, use or disposal of such
Hazardous Material (collectively, "Environmental Laws"), including, but not limited to.
obtaining proper permits. The Landlord Is entitled to take Into account such other factors
or facts the Landlord deems reasonably relevant in granting or withholding consent to the
Tenant's proposed activity with respect to Hazardous Material.

11.1. If the Tenant's transportation, storage, use or disposal of Hazardous Materials
results in the contamination of the soil or surface-or ground water, release of a
Hazardous Material or loss or damage to person(s) or property or the violation of
any Environmental Law, then the Tenant agrees to: (a) notify the Landlord
immediately of any contamination, claim of contamination, release, loss or
damage, (b) after consultation with the Landlord, clean up the contamination In
full compliance with all Environmental Laws and (c) indemnify, defend and hold
the Landlord harmless from and against any claims, suits, causes of action, costs
and fees, Including, without limitation, attorney's fees and costs, arising from or
connected wHh any such contamination, claim of contamination, release, loss or
damage. The Tenant will fulfy cooperate with the Landlord and provide such
documents, affidavits and information as may be requested by the Landlord (a) to
comply with any Environmental Law, (b) to comply with the request of any lender,
purchaser or the Tenant, and/or (c) as otherwise deemed reasonably necessary
by the Landlord in its discretion. The Tenant will notify the Landlord promptly in
the event of any spill or other release of any Hazardous Material at, In, on, under
or about the Premises which Is required to be reported to a governmental
authority under any Environmental Law, will promptly forward to the Landlord
copies of any notices received by the Tenant relating to alleged violations of any
Environmental Law. will promptly pay when due any fine or assessment against
the Landlord, the Tenant or the Premises and remove or bond any lien filed
against the Premises relating to any violation of the Tenant's obligations vwth
respect to Hazardous Material.

11.2. "Hazardous Material" means any flammable items, explosives, radioactive
materials, hazardous or toxic substances, material or waste or related materials,
including any substances defined as or Included in the definition of "hazardous
substances", "hazardous wastes", "hazardous materials" or "toxic substances"
now or hereafter regulated under any Legal Requirements, including without
limitation petroleum-based products, paints, solvents, lead, cyanide, DDT,
printing Inks, acids, pesticides, ammonia compounds and other chemical
products, asbestos, PCBs and similar compounds, and including any different
products and materials which are found to have adverse effects on the
environment or the health and safety of persons; provided, however, "Hazardous
Materlar does not include any de minimis quantities of office or other cleaning
supplies commonly used In accordance with Legal Requirements.
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11.3.' The. Landlord will have the right, but not the obligation, without in any way limiting
the Landlord's other rights and remedies under this Lease, to enter upon the
Premises, or to -take such other actions as it deems necessary or advisable, to
investigate, clean up, remove or remediate any Ha2ardous Material or
contamination by Hazardous Material present on. in, at, under or emanating from
the Premises in violation of the Tenant's obligations under this Lease or under
any laws regulating Hazardous Material or that the Tenant is liable under this
Lease to clean up, remove or remediate. The Landlord will have the right, at its
election, in its own name or as the Tenant's agent, to negotiate, defend, approve
and appeal, at the Tenant's expense, any action taken or order issued by any
governmental agency or authority against the Tenant, the Landlord or the
Premises relating to any Hazardous Material or under any related law or the
occurrence of any event or existence of any condition that would cause a breach
of any of the covenants set forth in this Section.

11.4. If the Landlord determines in good faith that a new release or other
environmental condition may have occurred for the first time during the Term, at
the Tenant's cost, the Landlord may require an environmental audit of the
Premises by a qualified environmental consultant. The Tenant will, at its sole
cost and expense, take all actions recommended in such audit to remediate any
environmental conditions for which it is responsible under this Lease.

11.5. Pursuant to applicable law, the Tenant is hereby notified as follows: Radon is a
naturally occurring radioactive gas that, when it has accumulated in a building in
sufficient quantities, may present health risks to persons who are exposed to it
over time. Levels of radon that exceed federal and state guidelines have been
found In buildings worldwide. Additional information regarding radpn and radon
testing may be obtained from State health officials.

12. The Laridl'ord's Acce'ss to the. Premises: The Landlord or its agents rhay enter the Premises,
upon twenty-four (24) hours' notice to the Tenant (except in the case of an emergency), to
show the Premises to potential buyers, investors or the Tenants or other parties, for routine
property inspections and maintenance, or for any other purpose the Landlord deems
reasonably necessary.

12.1. Tenant acknowledges and agrees that during any emergency situation, the
Landlord shall have immediate access to the Premises.

13. Outside Areas: 'Outside Areas" means all areas within the Premises which are outside of

the Building envelope, as defined in the Demise Documentation. The Tenant will have the
right to use the Outside Areas for the purposes intended, subject to such reasonable rules
and regulations as the Landlord may establish or modify from time to time and which shall
not unreasonably interfere with Tenant's ability to operate the program set forth In the
Service Agreement. The Tenant agrees to abide by all such rules and regulations and to use
its best efforts to cause others who use the Outside Areas with the Tenant's express or
implied permission to abide by the rules and regulations, which shall be provided to Tenant.
At any time, the Landlord may close any Outside Areas to perform any acts as, in the
Landlord's reasonable judgment, are desirable to maintain or improve the Building. The
Tenant will not Interfere with the rights of the Landlord, or any other person entitled to use
the Outside Areas.
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14. Condition and Maintenance of Premises: Subject to the Tenant's right to a full Inspection
before taking occupancy, the Tenant hereby accepts the Premises in Its present condition,
"AS IS". 'WHERE IS", and 'WITH ALL FAULTS", subject to all Legal Requirements. The
Tenant acknowledges that neither the Landlord nor any agent of the Landlord has made any
representation as to the condition of the Premises or the suitability of the Premises.for the
Tenant's Intended use. The Tenant represents and warrants that the Tenant has made its
own inspection of and inquiry regarding the condition of the Premises and is not relying on
any representations of the Landlord or any broker with respect thereto. The Building and
the Outside Areas shall be maintained in at least the condition which exists upon the
execution of this Lease, which tenant acknowledges is in newly renovated condition, subject
to wear and tear from reasonable use.

15. Alterations.. Additions and Improvements: The Tenant may not make any installations,
alterations; additions, or improvements or major repairs in or to the Premises without
obtaining the Landlord's prior written consent. All work will be performed In accordance with
plans and specifications approved In advance by the Landlord. The Tenant will procure all
necessary permits and licenses before undertaking any work on the Premises and will
perform all work consistent with acceptable industry standards employing materials of good
quality and in conformity with all applicable Legal Requirements. Nothing contained in this
Lease shall authorize the Tenant to do any act which may create or be the foundation for
any lien, mortgage or other encumbrance upon the reservation or other estate of the
Landlord, or of any interest of the Landlord in the Premises or any improvements thereof; It
Is agreed that should the Tenant cause any alterations, changes, additions, improvements
or repairs to be made in the Premises, or cause materials to be furnished or labor to be
performed therein, neither the Landlord nor the Premises shall, under any circumstances, be
liable for the payment of any expenses incurred or for the value of any work done or material

j furnished to the Premises or any part thereof. No liens or mortgages shall be permitted with
respect to the Premises. The filing of a lien or mortgage against the Premises shall be a
material default hereunder. if the Tenant fails to keep thls covenant, in addition-to any other
remedies available to the Landlord under this Lease, the Tenant agrees to pay the Landlord
the sum equal to the amount of the lien thus discharged by the Landlord plus all costs and
expenses, including without llmitaticn attomie/s and paralegal's fees and court costs
incurred by the Landlord In discharging such lien.

16. Condition' Upon Expiration of Lease Term: Upon the expiration of the Term or termination of
the Lease, the Tenant will surrender the Premises to the Landlord in the condition the

Premises were In at the commencement of the Lease, allowing for reasonable wear and tear.
The Landlord may require the Tenant, at the Tenant's expense, to remove any alterations,
additions or improvements made by the Tenant prior to the expiration of the Lease and to
restore the Premises to the condition the Premises were in at the commencement of the

Lease. With respect to any alterations, additions or improvements which require the
Landlord's approval, the Landlord will specify if the Tenant will be required to remove the

. same at the time of such approval. Any work which the Tenant is^not required to remove will,
at the Landlord's option, become the Landlord's property and will be surrendered to the
Landlord upon the expiration or earlier termination of the Lease, except that the Tenant may
remove any of The Tenant's machinery or equipment which can be removed without
damage to the Premises so long as the Tenant repairs any damage caused by such
removal. Tenant shall remove all of Its personal property and shall surrender the Premises
in broom clean condition.

Page 9 of 13



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Lease Agreement with Granite Pathways

17. Gasualtv and Condemnation: The Tenant and the Landlord agree that In the event of fire or
other damage to the Premises, the party first discovering the damage shall give immediate
notice to the other party. Should ail or a portion of the Premises t)e substantially damaged
by fire or other peril, or be taken by eminent domain, the Landlord or the Tenant may elect
to terminate this Lease.' When such fire, damage or taking renders the Premises
substantially unsuitable for their intended use. a just and proportionate abatement of the rent
shall be made as of the date of such fire, damage, or taking, remaining in effect until such
time as the Tenant's occupancy and use has been restored in entirety.

16. Assignment The Tenant shall not assign or transfer this Lease Agreement by any means
without the prior written consent of the Landlord, which shall not be unreasonably withheld,
and only In conjunction with an agreed upon assignment of the Service Agreement. For
purposes of'thls paragraph, a change of control shall constitute assignment. Change of
Control means (a) a rnerger or consolidation, (b) a transaction or series of related
transactions in which a third party, together with Its affiliates, becomes the direct or indirect
owner of fifty percent (50%) or more of the shares or similar equity interests, or combined
voting power, or (c) the sale of ail or substantially all of the assets. Any attempted
assignment or transfer in contravention of this paragraph will be null and void.

19. Defaults and Reryiedjefi: In the event that the Tenant shall default in the payment of any
installment of Rent or in any other covenant, agreement or obligation, including the terms of
the Service Agreement, and such default shall continue for thirty (30) days after written
notice thereof, then the Landlord may serve thirty (30) days written notice of cancellation of

• ' this Lease upori^tlf^Tenant, and upon the expiration of such thirty (30) days, this Lease
shall terminate. Upon such termination the Landlord may, without demand or notice, enter
into or upon the Premises and repossess the same.

20. Extent-of instrument. Choice of Laws. Amendment., etc.: This- Lease, which may be
executed In a number of counterparts, each of which shall have been deemed an original
but which shall constitute one and the same instrument. Is to be construed according to the
laws of the State of New Hampshire. It is binding upon. Inures to the benefit of, and shall be
enforceable by the parties hereto, and to their respective successors and assignees, and
may be canceled, modified, or amended only by a written instrument executed and
approved by the Landlord and the Tenant, subject to approval by the Governor and
Executive Council.

21. No Waiver or Brea'ch: No assent by either party, whether express or implied, to a breach of
covenant, corKlition or obligation by the other party, shall act as a waiver of a right for action
for damages as a result of such breach, nor shall it be construed as a waiver of any
subsequent breach of the covenant, condition, or obligation.

22. Unenforceable Terms: If any terms of this Lease, or any application thereof, shall be invalid
or unenforceable, the remainder of this Lease and any application of such terms shall not be
affected thereby.

23. Meaning of "the Landlord" arid "the Tenant": Where the context so allows, the meaning of
the term "the Landlord" shall include the employees, agents, contractors, servants, and
licensees of the Landlord, and the term "the Tenant" shall include the employees, agents,
contractors, servants, and licensees of the Tenant.

24. Headings: The headings of this Lease are for purposes of reference only, and shall not limit
or define the meaning hereof.

25. Entire Aorieement: This Lease embodies the entire agreement and understanding between
the parties hereto, and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings relating to the
subject matter hereof.
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26. Third Parties: The parties hereto do not intend to benefit any third parties.- and this
agreemerft shall not be construed to confer any such benefit.

27. Force Maie'ure: Landlord shall not be liable for any delays or failures In performance of this
Lease resulting from events beyond the reasonable control of such party and without fault or
negligence. Such events shall Include, but not be limited to, acts, of God. strikes, lock outs,
riots, acts of war. epidemics, acts of government, fire, power failures, nuclear accidents,
earthquakes, and unusually severe weather.

28. Signs: Tenant has the right to erect a sign or signs on the Premises identifying the
Tenant, only after obtaining the written consent of the Landlord prior to the
installation of the signs; such consent shall not be unreasonably denied.
The Tenant shall comply with ail applicable lavtrs and shall pay for all signs. All signs
that have been provided for by the Tenant shall be removed by them, at their own
expense, at the end of the Term or any extension thereof. All damage due to such
removal shall be repaired by Tenant if such repair is requested by the Landlord.

29. Sovereign Immunitv: No provision of this Lease is Intended to be, nor shall It be Interpreted
by either party to be a waiver of the State's sovereign immunity. . '

30. Property Manaoerheht and Goritact Persons:

30.1 Prooertv Management: The Landlord shall employ and/or Identify a property
manager or management team for the Premises v^o shall be responsible for
addressing maintenance of the Premises. The landlord's Property Management
Contact Person is designated as follows:

Name: Rhonda Henault forimarvl: David Giapp fsecondarv^ . - - - ■

Trtie: Ihterirn Director: Director of Facilities

■ Address: 1056 North River Rd.. Manchester. NH 03104

Phone Number:. f603^ 825-5471 ^

Email Address:. Rhonda.Hehautt@dhhS:nh.QQv: Davld:Clapp@dhhSrrih.QOv

30.2 Tenant's Contact Person: The Tenant shall employ and/or Identify a designated
contact person who shall be responsible for conveying all concerns regarding
maintenance of the Premises to the Landlord's Property Management Contact
Person. The Tenant's Contact Person Is designated as follows:

Name: Donna Keefe ^ ^

Title: •

Address: 10 Fe'nv Street. Gohcbrd. NH 03301

Phone Numt)er: (6031931-3709

Email Address: DKeefe@f^caP:OrQ

30.3 During the Term, each party shall Issue written notification to the other of their
.  contact person(s) changes and shall provide updated contact information at the

time of said notice.
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31. Notice: Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 30 alx>ve. any notice sent by a party
hereto to the other party shall be deemed to have been duly delivered or given at the time of
mailing by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, in. a United States Post Office
addressed to the parties at the addressed provided in Section I herein.

IN WiTNESS WHEREOF; the parties hereto have set their hands as of the day and year first
written above.

THE LANDLORD:

The State of New Hampshire, acting through the Commissioner of the Department

of Heaitb^nd Human Services. Sununu Youth Services Center

JeKcgfy A. Meyers. Commissioner Date

THE TENANT:

Granite Pathways, Inc.

Name.-

Titie. f

7 U
Date

■HAMPSNIRg
^ .

The foregoing Instrument was acknowledged before me on this

STATE OF NeW HAMPSNinE
COUNTY OFtotuA

. ZQIgby IC^v-iA<VV\ .

the Peace t
My Cdfhmission Spires: ^1
Notary. Bdblic/Ju
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AMY REISNER
Notary Public • State ot New York

N0.01RES21S281
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The preceding Lease Agreement, having been reviewed by this office, is approved as to form,
•substance, and execution.

DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

icpf ' I
Date \ I NaTTTer^<v^i)u---

I hereby certify that the foregoing Lease Agreement was approved by the Governor and
Executive Council of the State of New Hampshire at the Meeting on: ^^(date
of meeting)

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE

Date Name:

Title:
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Exhibit A

SCHEDULE OF PAYMENTS

Four Year Lease Proposal Monthly Payment .Yearly Payment

Year 1 $31,166.67 $374,000.00

Year 2 $31,166.67 $374,000.00
Year 3 $31,166.67 $374,000.00 .

Year 4 $31,166.67 $374,000.00

Total Four Year Lease

Term $1,496,000.00

Total Square Footage; 25.542 - Price per Square Foot = $14.6425

ADDITIONAL PAYMENTS:

Pursuant to Section 6 of this Lease Agreement and Section 7 of the Service Agreement,
the Tenant shall pay the Landlord for the cost of ail food services and laundry sen/ices if
supplied by the Landlord.

The Landlord shall submit an invoice to the Tenant which identifies and requests
reimbursement for expenses incurred in the prior month. The Tenant shall make
payment to the Landlord within thirty (30) days of receipt of each invoice. The final
invoice shall be due to the Landlord no later than thirty (30) days after the Lease
Agreement terminates.

PAYMENT INFORMATION:

The Tenant shall submit all payments due under the Lease Agreement to the Landlord
at the following address:

NH Department of Health and Human Services
Attn: Finance

129 Pleasant Street

Concord. NH 03301

ExNtAA
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Subject; RFPi26l8.DbAS-i l.RESID
FORM NUMBER P-37 (vcnlon S/8/1S)

Notice: This agreement and all of its anachments shall become public upon submission to Governor and
Executive Council for approval. Any information that is private, confidential or proprietary must
be clearly identified to the agency and agreed to in writing prior to signing the contract.

AGREEMENT

The State ofNew Hampshire and the Contractor hereby mutually agree as follows:

GENERAL PROVISIONS

IDENTIFICATION.

I.I State Agency Name
NH Departrhent of Health and Human Services

1.2 State Agency Address
129 Pleasant Street

Concord. NH 03301-3857

1.3 Contractor Name

Granite Pathways, Inc.
1.4 Contractor Address

633 Third Avenue • Sixth Floor, New York, NY

local - 10 Ferry Street-Suite 319. Concord, NH 03301

I.S Contractor Phone

Number

Primary: (603) 493-9751
Secondary: (603>968-3810

1.6 Account Number

N/A

.7 Completion Date

October 31,2022

1.8 Price Limitation

N/A

1.9 Contracting Officer for State Agency
Nathan D. White, Director
Bureau of Contracts and Procurement

1.10 Slate Agency Telephone Number
603-271.9331

I.TI Contractor Signature 1.12 Name and Title of Contractor Signatory

Kenneth Brezenoff, General Counsel

1.13 Acynpwicdgcmcnt:. Slate of New /drj^ .County. of'Ncw York

On i0/l'/18, before the undersigned personally appea^ the f^rson identified in bloclt 1.12, or sntisfaci6rily.prbvcn:tobc
the person whose name is signed in block 1.11, and acknowi^ged that s/he executed this document in the capacity Indicated in
block 1.12.

1.13.1 Signature of Notary Public or Jusiice-of the Peace

[Seal]

AMY REISNER

Notary Public • State of New York
N0.01RE62l52et

Qualllied In Kings County'Ouniy

rijv/lL1.13.2 Name and Title of Notary or Justice of the Peace

Amy RAmer, Wotary Public

Mv ucmmisston biomt J >V./.y/II
V'W V 'tw v"'

1.16 App byova

By:

1.14 S: icy Signatyr^ I 1.15 Name and Title of Ste

^ ̂ D..C: (t/l /| i? I I
the N.H. Departmeiit of Administration, Orvlsion of Personne^fi/ appncabU)

1.15 Name and Title of Sta

.H.'Department of Administration, Division of ?tnot\nt\Of opphcable^

te Agency Signatory

Director, On;

1.17 Approval by the Attorney General (Form, Substance and Execution) (ifapplicable) ,

On:

.
1.18 AppNivflToy the Governor and Executive Council (ifapplicable)

By: On:

Page 1 of 4
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1. EMPLOYMENT OF CONTRACTOR/SERVICES TO

BE PERFORMED. The St£ie of New Hampshire, acting
through the agency identified in block 1.1 C'State"), engages
contractor identified in block 1.3 C'Contrector") to perform,
and the Contractor shall perform, the work or sale of goods, or
both, identified and more particularly described in the attached
EXHIBIT A which is incorporated herein by reference

("Services")-

3. EFFECTIVE DATE/COMPLETION OF SERVICES.

3.1 Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the
contrary, and subject to the approval of the Governor and
Executive Council of the State of New Hampshire, if
applicable, this Agreement, and all obligations of the parties
hereunder, shall become effective on the date the Governor

and Executive Council approve this Agreement as indicated in
block 1.18, unless no such approval is required, in which case
the Agreement shall become elective on the date the
Agreement is signed by (he State Agency as shown in block
1.14 C'Effective Dale").
3.2 If the Contractor commences the Services prior to the
Effective Date, all Services performed by the Contractor prior
to the Effective Date shall be performed at the sole risk of the
Contractor, and in the event that this Agreement does not
become effective, the State shall have no liability to the
Contractor, including without limitation, any obligation to pay
the Contractor for any costs incurred or Services performed.
Contractor must complete all Services by the Completion Date
specified in block 1.7.

4. CONDITIONAL NATURE OF AGREEMENT.

Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the
contrary, all obligations of the State hereunder, including,
without limitation, the continuance of payments hereunder, are
contingent upon the availability and continued appropriBtion
of funds, and in no event shall the State be liable for any
payments hereunder in excess of such available appropriated
funds. In (he event of a reduction or termination of

appropriated funds, the State shall have the right to withhold
payment until such funds become available, if ever, and shall
have the right to terminate this Agreement immediately upon
giving the Contractor notice of such termination. The State
shall not be required to transfer funds from any other account
10 the Account identified in block 1.6 in the event funds in that

Account are reduced or unavailable.

5. CONTRACT PRICE/PRICE LIMITATION/

PAYMENT.

5.1 The contract price, method of payment, and terms of
payment are identified and more particularly described in
EXHIBIT B M^iich is incorporate herein by reference.
5.2 The payment by the State of the contract price shall be the
only and the complete reimbursement to the Contractor for all
expenses, of Nvhatever nature incurred by the Contractor in the
performance hereof, and shall be the only and the complete .
compensation to the Contractor for the Services. The State
shall have no liability to the Contractor other than the contract
price.

Page

5.3 The State reserves the right to offset Irom any amounts
otherwise payable to the Contractor under this Agreement
those liquidated amounts required or permined by N.H. RSA
80:7 through RSA 80:7-c or any other provision of law.
5.4 Notwithstanding any provision In this Agreement to the
contraiy, and notwithstanding unexpected circumstances, in
no event shall the total of all payments authorized, or actually
made hereunder, exceed the Price Limitation set forth in block
1.8.

6. COMPLIANCE BY CONTRACTOR WITH LAWS

AND regulations/ EQUAL EMPLOYMENT
OPPORTUNITY.

6.1 In connection with the performance of (he Services, the
Contractor shall comply with all statutes, laws, regulations,
and orders of federal, state, county or municipal authorities
which impose any obligation or duty upon the Contractor,
including, but not limited to, civil rights and equal opportunity
laws. This may include the requirement to utilize auxiliary
aids and services to ensure that penons with communication
disabilities, including vision, hearing end speech, can
communicate with, receive inforination from, and convey
information to (he Contractor. In addition, the Contractor
shall comply with all applicable copyright laws.
6.2 During the term of this Agreement, (he Contractor shall
not discriminate against employees or applicants for
employment because of race, color, religion, creed, age, sex,
handicap, sexual orientation, or national origin and will take
affirmative action to prevent such discrimination.
6.3 If this Agreement is funded in any part by monies ofthe
United States, the Contractor shall comply with all the
provisions of Executive Order No. 11246 ("Equal
Employment Opportunity"), as supplemented by the
regulations of the United States Department of Labor (41
C.F.R. Part 60), and with any rules, regulations arid guidelines
as the State of New Hampshire or the United States issue to
implement these regulations. The Contractor further agrees to
permit the State or United States access to any ofthe
Contractor's books, records and accounts for the purpose of
ascertaining compliance with all rules, regulations and orders, ̂
end the covenants, terms and conditions of this Agreement.

7. PERSONNEL.

7.1 The Contractor shall at Its own expense provide all
personnel necessary to perform the Services. The Contractor
warrants that all personnel engaged in the Services shall be
qualified to perform the Services, and shall be property
licensed and otherwise authorized to do so under allapplicable
laws.

7.2 Unless otherwise authorized in writing, during the term of
this Agreement, and for a period of six (6) months after the
Completion Date in block 1.7, the Contractor shall not hire,
and shall not permit any subcontractor or other person, firm or
corporation with whom it Is engaged in a combined effort to
perform the Services to hire, any penon who is a Stale
ethployee or official, who is materially involved In (he
procurement, administration or pe'rformance ofthis
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Agreemenl. This provision shall survive termination of (his
Agreement
7.3 The Contracting Officer specified in block 1.9, or his or
her successor, shall be the State's representative. In the event
of any dispute concerning the interpretation of this Agreement,
the Contracting Officer's decision shall be final for the State.

8. EVENT OF DEFAULT/REMEDIES.

8.1 Any one or more of the following acts or omissions ofthe
Contractor shall constitute an event of default hereunder

("Event of Default"):
8.1.1 foilure to perform the Services satisfactorily or on
schedule;

8.1.2 failure to submit any report required hereunder, and/or
8.1.3 failure to perform any other covenant, term or condition
of this Agreement.
8.2 Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, the State
may t^c any one, or more, or all, ofthe followingactions:
8.2.1 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event
of Default and requiring it to be remedied within, in the
absence of a greater or lesser specification of time, thirty (30)
days from the date of the notice; and if the Event of Default is
not timely i^edied, terminate (his Agreement, effective two
(2) days after giving the Contractor nMice of termination;
8.2.2 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event
of Default and suspending all payments to be made under this
Agreement and ordering thai the portion of the contract price
which would otherwise accrue to the Contractor during the
period from the date of such notice until such time as the State
determines that the Contractor has cured the Event of Default

shall never be paid to the Contractor,
8.2.3 set off against any other obligations the State may owe to
the Contractor any damages the State suffers by reason of any
Event of Default; and/or
8.2.4 treat the Agreement as breached and pursue any ofits
remedies at law or in equity, or both.

9. DATA/ACCESS/CONFIDENTIALITY/

preservation.

9.1 As used in this Agreement, the word "data" shall mean all
information and things developed or obtained during the
performance of, or acquired or developed by reason of, this
Agreement, including, but not limited to, all studies, reports,
files, formulae, surveys, maps, charts, sound recordings, video
recordings, pictorial reproductions, drawings, analyses,
graphic representations, computer programs, computer
printouts, notes, letters, memoranda, papers, and documents,
all whether finished or unftnished.

9.2 All data and any property which has been received from
the State or purchased with fiirids provided for (hat purpose
under this Agreement, shall be the property ofthe Slate, and
shall be returned to the State upon demand or upon
termination of this Agreement for any reason.
9.3 Confidentiality of data shall be governed by N.H.RSA
chapter 91-A or other existing law. Disclosure of data
requires prior written approval of the State.

Page 3

JO. TERMINATION. In the event of an early termination of
this Agreement for any reason other than the completion ofthe
Services, the Contractor shall deliver to the Contracting
OfTicer; not later than fifteen (IS) days after the date of
termination, a report CTerminailon Report") describing in
detail all Services performed, and the contract price earned, to
and including the date of terminaiion. The form, subject
matter, content, and number of copies of the Termination
Report shall be identical to those of any Final Report
described in the attached EXHIBIT A.

11. CONTRACTOR'S RELATION TO THE STATE. In

the performance of this Agreement the Contractor is in all
respects an independent contractor, and is neither en agent nor
an employee of the State. Neither the Contractor nor any of its
officers, employees, agents or members shall have authority to
bind the State or receive any benefits, workers' compensation
or other emoluments provided by the State to Its employees.

12. ASSIGNMENT/DELEGATION/SUBCONTRACTS.
The Contractor shall not assign, or otherwise transfer any
interest In this Agreement without (he prior written noticeand
consent of the State. None of the Services shall be

subcontracted by the Contractor without the prior written
notice and conMnt of the State.

13. INDEMNIFICATION. The Contractor shall defend.
Indemnify and hold harmless the State, Its officers and
employees, from and against any and all losses suffered by the
State. Its ofTicers and employees, and any and all claims,
liabilities or penalties asserted against the State, its officers
and employees, by or on behalf of any person, on account of.
based or resulting from, arising out of (or which may be
claimed to arise out oO the acts or omissions of the
Contractor. Notwiihstandinjg the foregoing, nothing herein
contained shall be deemed to constitute a waiver of (he

sovereign immunity of the State, which immunity is hereby
reserved to the State. This covenant In paragraph 13 shall
survive the termination of this Agreement.

14. INSURANCE.

14.1 The Contractor shall, at its sole expense, obtain and
maintain in force, and shall require any subcontractor or
assignee to obtain and maintain in force, the following
insurance:

14.1.1 comprehensive general liability Insurance against all
claims of bodily injury, death or property damage, In amounts
of not less than $1 .OOO.OOOper occurrence and 82,000,000
aggregate; and
14.1.2 special cause of loss coverage form covering all
property subject to subparagraph 9.2 herein, in an amount not
less than 80% of the whole replacement value of the property.
14.2 The policies described in subparagraph 14.1 herein shall
be on policy forms and endorsements approved for use in the
Slate of New Hampshire by the N.H. Department of
Insurance, and issued by insurers licensed in the State of New
Hampshire.
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14.3 The Contractor shall furnish to the Contracting OfFicer
identified in block 1.9, or his or her successor, a certir>cate(s)
of insurance for all insurance required under this Agreement.
Contractor shall also furnish to the Contracting Officer
Identified in block 1.9, or his or her successor, cenificate(s) of
insurance for all renewal(s) of insurance required under this
Agreemeni no later than thirty (30) days prior to the expiration
date of each of the insurance policies. The certificate{s) of-
insurance and any renewals thereof shall be attached and are
incorporated herein by reference. Each cenjficate(s) of
insurance shall contain a clause requiring the insurer to
provide the Contracting OfHcer identified in block 1.9, or his
or her successor, no less than thirty (30) days prior written
notice of cancellation or modification of the policy.

15. WORKERS' COMPENSATION.

I S.l By signing this agreement, the Contractor agrees,
certifies and warrants that the Contractor is in compliance with
or exempt from, the requirements ofN.H. RSA chapter 281 -A
("Workers' Compensation ").
15.2 To the extent the Contractor is subject to the
requirements of N.H. RSA chapter 281-A, Contractor shall
maintain, and require any subcontractor or assignee to secure
and maintain, payment of Worlcers' Compensation in
connection with activities which the penon proposes to
undertake pursuant to this Agreement. Contractor shall
fiumish the Contracting Officer identified in block 1.9, or his
or her successor, proof of Workers' Compensation in the
manner described in N.H. RSA chapter 281 -A and any
applicable renewal(s) thereof, which shall be anached and are
incorporated herein by reference. The State shall not be
responsible for payment of any Workers* Compensation
premiums or for any other claim or benefit for Contractor, or
any subcontractor or employee of Contractor, which might
arise under applicable State of New Hampshire Workers'
Compensation laws in connection with the performance of the
Services under this Agreement

16. WAIVER OF BREACH. No failure by the State to
enforce any provisions hereof after any Event of Defauh shall
be deemed a waiver.of its rights with regard to that Event of
Default, or any subsequent Event of Default. No express
failure to enforce any Event of Default shall be deemed a
waiver of the right of the State to enforce each and all of the
provisions hereof upon any further or other Event of Default
on the pan of the Contractor.

n. NOTICE. Any notice by a party hereto to the other party
shall be deemed to have been duly delivered or given at the
time of mailing by cenifted mail, postage prepaid, in a United
States Fost Office addressed to the parties at the addresses
given in blocks 1.2 and 1.4, herein.

18. AMENDMENT. This Agreement may be amended,
waived or discharged only by an instrument in writing signed
by the parties hereto and only after approval of such
amendment, waiver or discharge by the Governor and
Executive Council of the State of New Hampshire unless no

such approval is required under the circumstances pursuant to
State law, rule or policy.

19. CONSTRUCTION OF AGREEMENT AND TERMS.

This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the
laws of the State of New Hampshire, and is binding upon and
inures to the benefit of the parties and their respective
successors and assies. The wording used in this Agreement
U the wording chosen by the parties to express their mutual
intent, and no rule of construction shall be applied against or
in favor of any party.

20. THIRD PARTIES. The parties hereto do not intend to
benefit any third parties and this Agreement shall not be
construed to confer any such benefit.

21. HEADINGS. The headings throughout the Agreement
are for reference purposes only, and the words contained
therein shall In no way be held to explain, modify, amplify or
aid in the Interpretation, construction or meaning of the
provisions of this Ajp^ment.

22. SPECIAL PROVISIONS. Additional provisions set
forth in iHe attached EXHIBIT C are incorporated herein by
reference. '

23. SEVCRABILITV. in the event any of the provisions of
this Agreement are held by a court of competent jurisdiction to
be contrary to any state or federal law, the remaining
provisions of (his Agreement will remain in full force and
effect.

24. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement, which may
be executed in a number of counterparts, each of which shall
be deemed an original, constitutes the entire Agreemjenl and
understanding between the parties, and supersedes all prior
Agreements and understandings relating hereto.
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Residential Adolescent Substance Use Disorder Treatment Services

Exhibit A

Scope of Services

1. Provisions Applicable to All Services

1.1. The Contractor shall operate a thirty-six (36) bed Residential Adolescent
Substance Use Disorder Treatment facility, pursuant to recently enacted
legislation.

1.2. The Contractor has entered into a Lease Agreement with the Department for
premises located at 1056 North River Road, Manchester, New Hampshire, as
defined in the Demise Documentation of the Lease Agreement, where the
Contractor will provide the Residential Adolescent Substance Use Disorder
Treatment required under this Service Agreement.

1.3. The Contractor shall submit a detailed description of the language assistance
services they will provide to persons with limited English proficiency to ensure
meaningful access to their programs and/or services within ten (10) days of
the contract effective date.

1.4. The Contractor agrees that, to the extent future legislative action by the New
Hampshire General Court or federal or state court orders may have an impact
on the Services described herein, the State Agency has the right to modify
Service priorities and expenditure requirements under this Agreement so as
to achieve compliance therewith.

1.5. The Contractor shall provide services to eligible clients who:

1.5.1. ■ Are aged twelve (12) to eighteen (18) years:

1.5.2. Have been diagnosed with a substance use disorder; and

1.5.3. Require the level of care being provided based on ASAM criteria.

1.6. The Contractor shall receive permission of the court, for any adolescent
requiring such permission, prior to admittance to the program.

1.7. The Contractor shall provide services to clients facing barriers to program
entry, Including but not limited to:

1.7.1. The client's parent's inability and/or unwillingness to pay for

services; or

1.7.2. The client's decision to receive confidentlal services pursuant to
RSA318-B;12-a:or

1.7.3. The client having previously left treatment against the advice of

staff; or

1.7.4. The client having relapsed from an earlier treatment; or •

1.7.5. The client being on any class of medications, including, but not
limited to opiates or benzodiazepines; or

Granite Pathwsyfi EjtfiibaA Contractor I nttlstt.
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Residential Adolescent Substance Use Dtsorder Treatment Services

Exhibit A

1.7.6. The client having been diagnosed with a mental health disorder.

1.8. The Contractor shall assist pregnant adolescents when unable to admit
pregnant adolescents for the needed level of care within twenty-four (24)
hours by providing interim services until the appropriate level of care
becomes available. Assistance shall include referral to outpatient services
and local regional access point services or Regional Hub.

1.9. The Contractor shall work to meet the needs of clierits requiring Americans
with Disabilities Act (ADA) accommodations, including, but not limited to:

1.9.1. Accessing available program provided services, such as group
therapy sessions; and.

1.9.2. Ensuring clients understand facility limitations.

1.10. The Contractor shall obtain consent from individuals receiving services prior
to providing services for individuals whose age is twelve (12) years and older.

1.11. The Contractor shall provide Residential Treatment Senrices which include
both Low and Medium Intensity Residential Treatment consistent with ASAM

■ Levels 3.1 and 3.5 for adolescents.

1.12-. The Contractor shall provide services that assist adolescents and their
families in overcoming mental health, substance misuse and other behavioral
challenges that may inhibit successful achievement of recovery and
transitions from adolescence to adulthood.

1.13. The Contractor shall provide services to adolescents who present with
challenging behaviors as a result of their co-occurring substance use disorder
and mental health diagnoses.

1.14. The Contractor shall ensure programing provided incorporates services that
are family driven and adolescent guided in a manner that builds upon the
strengths and needs of the adolescent and the family.

1.15. The Contractor shall ensure that all services are adaptive, flexible and
address the dynamic needs of the population served and preferably are
evidence based or promising practices.

1.16. Web Information Technology

1.16.1. The Contractor shall use the Web Information Technology System
(WITS) to record all client activity and client contact within (3) days
following the activity or contact as directed by the Department

1.16.2. The Contractor shall, before providing services, obtain written
informed consent from the client stating that the client understands
that:

1.16.2.1. The WITS system is administered by the State of New
Hampshire;

Grsnto Pathways A Cortractor inUsb
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Residential Adolescent Substance Use Disorder Treatment Services

Exhibit A

1.16.2.2. Authorized state eoiployees have access to all
information that is entered into the WITS system;

1.16.2.3. Any Information entered into the WITS system
becomes the property of the State'of New Hampshire.

1.16.3. The Contractor shall have any client whose information is entered
into the WITS system complete a WITS consent to the
Department. Any client whose services are paid for by Medicaid or

other New Hampshire public funds who refuses to sign the
informed consent in 1.16.2. and/or consent in 1.16.3:

1.16.3.1. Shall not be entered into the WITS system; and

1.16.3.2. The Contractor shall submit de-identified data for the

client to the Department that matches critical data from

the WITS system.

1.17. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the parties acknowledge that some clients
may refuse to answer certain questions and the Contractor shall document its
attempt to obtain the information and the client's refusal and such partial
refusal shall not disqualify a client from obtaining services or payment from
appropriate sources for those services.

1.18. The Contractor may seek the permission of the Commissioner of the
Department of Health and Human Services to operate other services on the
Premises. Any pemnission granted by the Commissioner must be granted in
accordance with the terms of the least agreement. Any additional services
provided by the Contractor will require a separate service agreement.

2. Scope of Services

2.1. The Contractor shall have capacity to enroll with and bill Medicaid,
commercial Insurance, and other third party payors.

2.2. The Contractor shall comply with NH Administrative Rule He-W 513,
Substance Use Disorder (SUD) Treatment and Recovery Support Sen/ices.

2.3. The Contractor shall submit a plan defining how they will achieve full thirty-six
(36) bed capacity for residential treatment services to the Department within
thirty (30) days of Contract approval.

2.4. The Contractor shall implement and adhere to the following treatment and
engagement approaches:

2.4.1. The Contractor shall ensure adolescents receiving services are

served with treatment and engagement approaches that are
adolescent oriented and adolescent driven, aligning with the
System of Care values and principles as described in RSA 135-F.

Granite Pathways E>MWA Contractor iftfito
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New Hampshire Department of Health end Human Services
Residential Adolescent Substance Use Disorder Treatment Services

Exhibit A

2.4.2. The Contractor shall ensure clients are able to move between

levels of care without significant gaps in services.

2.4.3. The Contractor shall support the Department's transition to a
Resiliency and Recovery Oriented Systems of care model, to all
eligible clients and implement the Department's Continuum of Care
Model by conducting activities including but not limited to;

2.4.3.1. Informing the Integrated Delivery Network(s) (IDNs) of
services available at the Residential Adolescent

Substance Use Disorder Treatment facility in order to

align this woric with IDN projects that may be similar or

impact the same populations;

2.4.3.2. , Coordinating client services with other community
service providers involved in the client's care and the
client's support network to;

2.4.3.2.1. Ensure no gaps in services, treatment,

and care exist.

2.4.3.2.2. Ensure no unnecessary significant
'  overlaps in services, treatment, and care

exist.

2.4.3.3. The Contractor shall coordinate all services delivered

to clients with the local Regional Hub, including but not
limited to accepting referrals for clients directly from

the Hub(s).

2.4.3.4. Aligning treatment services with the State Youth
Treatment Implementation (SVT-I) Strategic Plan;

2.4.3.5. Being sensitive to the diversity of clients being served
and providing relevant services, treatment, and care;

2.4.3.6. Providing trauma informed services, treatment and
care following Substance Abuse and Mental Health

Services Administration recommendations Including

but not limited to; '

2.4.3.6.1. Recognizing the impact of trauma on
clients and understanding the

implications for potential pathways to

recovery;

Granite Pathways ExWbll A Contractor Inltiats.
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Residential Adolescent Sut)$tance Use Disorder Treatment Services

Exhibit A

2.4.3.6.2. Recognizing the signs and symptoms of

trauma in youth, family, staff and others;

2.4.3.6.3. Responding by fully integrating
knowledge into policies, practices and
procedures; and ^

2.4.3.6.4. Seeking to actively ' resist
retraumatization.

2.5. The Contractor shall ensure all services provided include a rrielhod to obtain
clinical evaluations informed by:

2.5.1. Diagnostic information from the current edition, at the time services

are provided, of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental

Disorders (e.g. DSM 5 on the Effective Date); and

2.5.2. Recommendations for a level of care based on the current, at the
time services are provided. American Society of Addiction
Medicine Criteria, (e.g. ASAM Criteria published in October, 2013
on the Effective Date).

2.6. The Contractor shall complete a clinical evaluation for each client:

2.6.1. Prior to admission to the program as part of interim services, or
within three (3) business days following admission;

2.6.2. During treatment, only when determined necessary by a licensed
clinician;

2.6.3. As consistent with the accepted standards of practice, the
Contractor shall use clinical evaluations completed by a licensed
counselor from a referring agency when applicable, to inform
treatment decisions.

2.7. The Contractor shall provide crisis services, at a minimum of Monday through
Friday, 8:00 am to 5:00 pm, to existing residential clients and/or their parents
or legal guardians as follows;

2.7.1. Assist individuals in addressing a current crisis related to their
and/Of their family member's substance use disorder;

2.7.2. Refer clients to resources in the client's service area as

appropriate;

2.7.3. Provide encounter notes in the client's health record; and

Granite Pathways ExhWtA Contractor InKiats
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2.7.4. The Contractor shall assist clients and/or their parents or legal
guardians who are lacking the financial resources necessary for
initial entry Into the program with obtaining necessary funds (e.g.
through enrollment In public or private insurance such as Medicaid

and Managed Care within fourteen (14) days of initial client intake.

2.8. The Contractor shall implement the following medication procedures:

2.8.1. Medication, including physician samples, shall be administered by
a  licensed medical practitioner, working within their scope of
practice.

2.8.2. All medication shall be kept in a storage area, that is:

2.8.2.1. Locked and accessible only to authorized personnel;

2.8.2.2. Organized to ensure correct identification of each

client's medication;

2.8.2.3. Illuminated in a manner sufficient to allow reading of all
medication labels; and

2.8.2.4. Equipped to maintain medication at the proper
temperature.

2.8.3. All prescription medication brought by a client to the program shall
be in the original container and legibly display:

2.8.3.1. The client's name;

2.8.3.2. The medication name and strength;

2.8.3.3. The prescribed dose;

2.8.3.4. The route of administration;

2.8.3.5. The frequency of administration; and,

2.8.3.6. The date ordered.

2.8.4. All changes to a client's prescription shall be in writing from a
licensed medical practitioner.

2.8.5. All prescription medication, with the exception of nitroglycerin. epi-
pens, and 'rescue inhalers, which may. be kept on the client's
person or stored in the client's room, shall be stored as follows:

2.8.5.1. Schedule II controlled substances, as deftned by RSA
318-B:1-b, shall be kept in a separately locked
compartment within the locked medication storage
area and accessible only to authorized personnel; and

Granite Pathways E*NbiiA Contractor intiiais
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2.8.5.2. Topical liquids, ointments, patches, creams and

powder forms of products shall be stored in a manner

such that cross-contamination with oral, optic,

ophthalmic, and parenteral products shall not occur.

2.8.6. Medication belonging to staff, contracted staff, volunteers, and
student interns shall be stored so as to be inaccessible to clients

and shall be stored separately from client medication.

2.8.7. Over-the-oounter (OTC) medication shall be handled in the
following manner:

2.8.7.1. Only original, unopened containers of OTC medication
shall be allowed to be brought into the program.

2.8.7.2. OTC medication containers shall be marked with the

name of the client using the medication and taken in

accordance with the directions on the medication

container, or as ordered by a licensed medical

practitioner.

2.8.8. All medication self-administrated by a client, with the exception of
nitroglycerin, epi-pens, and rescue inhalers, which may be taken
by the client without supen/lsion, shall t^e supen/ised by the
program staff, as follows: <

2.8.8.1. Staff shall remind the client to take the correct dose of

medication at the correct time;

2.8.8.2. Staff may open the medication container, but shall not
physically handle the medication rtsetf in any manner;
and,

2.8.8.3. Staff shalbremain with the client to observe the client

taking the prescribed dose and type of medication.

2.8.9. Staff shall document, for each medication taken and in an

individual client medication log, information including but not limited

to:

2.8.9.1. The medication name;

2.8.9.2. The medication strength;

2.8.9.3. The medication dose;

2.8.9.4. The medication frequency;

2.8.9.5. The medication route of administration;

Granite Pathways EMtiH A Contractor Initials
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2.6.9.6. The date and time.medication is taken;

2.8.9.7. The signature, or idenlrfiable initials, of the person
supervising the taking of the medication; and,

2.8.9.8. The reason for any medication refused or omitted.

2.8.10. The Contractor shall, upon client discharge from the program;

2.8.10.1. Include the client's medication log in the client's
record; and

2.8.10.2. Give client possession of cllenrs remaining
medication.

2.9. The Contractor shall have a licensed counselor, or an unlicensed counselor
under the supen/ision of a licensed supervisor, develop and maintain a written
treatment plan for each client within seven (7) days of client admission to the
program, which shall include, but not be limited to. the following elements:

2.9.1. Client centered goals, objectives and interventions, written in terms
that are specific, measurable, attainable, realistic and timely;

2.9.2. The client's clinical needs, treatment goals, and objectives;

2.9.3. The client's strengths and resources for achieving goals and
objectives;

2.9.4. The strategy for providing services to meet client's needs, goals
and objectives;

2.9.5. Referrals to outside providers for the purpose of achieving a
specific goal or objective, when the service cannot be delivered by
the program;

2.9.6. Criteria for terminating specific interventions;

2.9.7. A description of the specific indicators to be used to assess the

clierit's progress;

2.9.8. Documentation of participation by the client in the treatment

planning process, or the reason the client did not participate; and

2.9.9. Signatures of the client and the counselor agreeing to the .

treatment plan, or, if applicable, documentation of the client's
refusal to sign the treatment plan.

2.10. The Contractor shall ensure treatment plans are updated based on any
changes In any ASAM criteria domain.

2.11. The Contractor shall ensure treatment plans are updated no less frequently

Granite Pathways Dtfilbil A Contraclor intUsis.
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than every four (4) sessions, or every four (4) weeks, whichever is less
frequent.

2.12. The Contractor shall ensure treatment plan updates include:

2.12.1. Documentation detailing the degree to which the client is meeting
treatment plan goals and objectives;

2.12.2. Modification of existing goals or addition of new goals based on
changes in the clients functioning relative to ASAM domains and

treatment goals and objectives;

2.12.3. The counselor's assessment of whether or not the client needs to

move to a different level of care based on changes in functioning in
any ASAM domain and documentation of the reasons for this

assessment;

2.12.4. The signature of the client and the counselor agreeing to the
updated treatment plan, or if applicable, documentation of the
client's refusal to sign the treatment plan.

2.13. The Contractor shall provide client education on topics including but not
limited to:

2.13.1. Substance use disorders;

2.13.2. Relapse prevention;

2.13.3. Infectious diseases associated with injection drug use, including
but not limited to, HIV. hepatitis, and TB;

2.13.4. Sexually transmitted diseases;

2.13.5. Emotional, physical, and sexual abuse;

2.13.6. Nicotine use disorder and treatment options; and

2.13.7. The impact of drug and alcohol use during pregnancy, risks to the
fetus, and the importance of informing medical practitioners of drug
and alcohol use during pregnancy.

2.14. The Contractor shall provide clients with case management services Including
but not limited to:

2.14.1. Referring clients to and coordinating with other service providers
including but not limited to:

2.14.1.1. Clients primary healthcare provider;

Granile Pathways 6*N«A ConUBCtor WtoH
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2.14.1.2. Mental health care providers when serving clients with

coK>ccuiTing substance use and mental health

disorders; and

2.14.1.3. Medication assisted treatment providers when serving

clients for whom medication assisted treatment is

clinically appropriate; and

2.14.1.4. Peer recovery support services providers in the client's

home community.

2.14.2. Coordination with local recovery'community organizations (where
available) to bring peer recovery support providers into the
treatment setting to meet with clients to describe available peer

support services, and to engage clients in peer recovery support
sen/ices as applicable.

2.15. The Contractor shall maintain an outline of each educational and group
therapy session provided. The Contractor shall ensure;

2.15.1. Clinical groups of

2.15.1.1. No more than twelve (12) individuals with a minimum

of (1) licensed counselor.

2.15.1.2. Thirteen (13) to sixteen (16) individuals with a

minimum of either

2.15.1.2.1. Two (2) licensed counselors; or

2.15.1.2.2. One (1) licensed counselor and one (1)

unlicensed counselor or CRSW.

2.15.2. Recovery support groups of

2.15.2.1. No more than eight (8) individuals with one (1) CRSW,

licensed counselor or unlicensed counselor; or

2.15.2.2. Nine (9) to twelve (12) individuals with two (2) CRSWs,

licensed counselors or unlicensed counselors.

2.16. The Contractor shall ensure progress notes are completed for each individual,
group, or family, treatment or education session and contain the following
components:

2.16.1. Self-report;

2.16.2. Observations;

2.16.3. Interventions:

Gfanite Pathways BdilbltA Contractor I
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2.16.4. Current issues/stressors;

2.16.5. Functionalimpalrment;

2.16.6. Interpersonal behavior.

2.16.7. Motivations:

2.16.8; . Progress, as it relates to the current treatment plan;

2.16.9. Assessment, including progress, evaluation of intervention, and

MGranite Pathways Contrector InAlals.
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obstacles or barriers; and \

2.16.10. Plan, including tasks to be completed between sessions, objectives [
for next session, any recommended changes, and date of next
session. {

2.17. The Contractor, shall ensure residential programs maintain a daily, shift j
change log which documents:

2.17.1. Client behavior; !
I

2.17.2. Significant events; and ;

2.17.3. Anything of which a subsequent shift should be made aware.

2.18. The Contractor shall adhere to continuing care and discharge guidelines, ;
including but not lirriited to: ;

2.18.1. Closed loop referrals to community providers; ;

2.18.2. Providing active outreach to adolescents following discharge; and j

2.18.3. Coordinating referrals, acceptance, and appointments for required ;
services prior to discharge. j

2.19. The Contractor shall ensure that all clients receiving services have continuing . ;
care, transfer and discharge plans which address all ASAM (2013) domains '
as follows:

2.19.1. Begin the process of discharge/transfer planning at the time of the
client's intake Into the program;

2.19.2. Review the three (3) criteria for continuing services or the four (4)
criteria for transfer/discharge, when addressing continuing care or
discharge/transfer that include:
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2.19.2.1. Continuing Service Criteria A: The client is making
progress, but has not yet achieved the goals
articulated in the individualized treatment plan.
Continued treatment at the present level of care is
assessed as necessary to permit the patient to
continue to work toward his or her treatment goals; or

2.19.2.2. Continuing Sen/ice Criteria B; The client is not yet
making progress, but has the capacity to^resotve his or
her problems. He/she is actively working toward the
goals articulated in the individualized treatment plan.
Continued treatment at the present level of care is
assessed as necessary to permit the client to continue
to work toward his/her treatment goals; and /or

2.19.2:3. Continuing Senrice Criteria C; New problems have
. been identified that are appropriately treated at the
present level of care. The new problem or priority
requires services, the frequency and intensity of which
can only safely be delivered by continued stay in the
current level of care,; The level of care which the client

is receiving treatment is therefore the least intensive

level at which the client's problems can be addressed

effectively

2.19.2.4. Transfer/Discharge Criteria A: The Patient has

achieved the goals articulated in the individualized
treatment plan, thus resolving the problem(s) that
justified admission to the present level of care.
Continuing the chronic disease management of the
client's condition at a less intensive level of care is

indicated; or

2.19.2.5. Transfer/Discharge Criteria 8: The client has been

unable to resoh/e the problem(s) that justified the
admission to the present level of care,, despite
amendments to the treatment plan. The patient is

determined to have achiev^ the maximum possible
benefit from engagement in services at the current
level of care. Treatment at another level of care (more
or less intensive) in the same type of services, or
discharge from treatment, is therefore indicated; or
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2.19.2.6. Transfer/Discharge Criteria 0: The client has

demonstrated a lack oF capacity due to diagnostic or
co-occurring conditions that limit his or her ability to
resolve his or her problem(s). Treatment at a

qualitatively different level of care or type of service, or
discharge from treatment. Is therefore indicated; or

2.19.2.7. Transfer/Discharge Criteria 0: The client has
experienced an intensification of his or her problem(s),
or has developed a new problem(s), and can be

treated effectively at a more intensive level of care.

2.20. The Contractor shall ensure clients are discharged from the program for the
following reasons;

2.20.1. Program completion or transfer based on changes in the client's
functioning relative to ASAM criteria;

2.20.2. Termination of services, including:

2.20.2.1. Administrative discharge, only if:

2.20.2.1.1. Client's behavior on program premises is

abusive, violent, or illegal;

2.20.2.1.2. Client is non-compliant with prescription
medication procedures;

2.20.2.1.3. Clinical staff documents therapeutic
reasons for discharge, which may Include

an unwillingness to follow appropriate

clinical interventions; or

2.20.2.1.4. Client violates program rules in a manner

that is consistent with the Contractor's

progressive discipline policy.

2.20.2.2. Non-compliance with the program;

2.20.2.3. Endangering or threatening to endanger other clients
I  or staff;

2.20.2.4. Client is identified as no longer benefiting from the
service(s) dient is receiving;

2.20.2.5. Client Is unable to agree with program staff on a
mutually acceptable course of treatment;

Granite Pathway# A Contracior Initlab
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2.20.2.6. Client refuses to pay for services that client is receiving
despite having the financial resources to do so; or

2.20.2.7. Client refuses to apply for benefits that could cover the
'  cost of the sen/ices that client is receiving despite

client being eligible for such benefits; and

2.20.2.8. Client leaving the program before completion against
advice of treatment staff.

2.21. The Contractor shall ensure in all cases of termination of services the right to
appeal and the appeal process pursuant to HE-C 200 are explained to the
client.

2.22. The Contractor shall ensure in ail cases of termination of services the
Contractor documents in the record of a client who has been terminated;

2.22.1. The client has been notified in writing of the termination; and

2.22.2. The termination has been approved by the Program Director.

2.23. The Contractor shall ensure in all cases of client discharge or transfer, the
client's counselor completes a narrative discharge summary, including but not
limited to the following information:

2.23.1. The effective dates of admission and discharge or transfer;

2.23.2. The client's psychosocial substance misuse history and legal
history;

2.23.3. A summary of the client's progress toward treatment goals in all
ASAM domains;

2.23.4. The clinical and/or managerial reason(s) for discharge or transfer;

2.2^5. The client's DSM 5 (or applicable DSM volume)diagnosis and
summary, to include other assessment testing completed during
treatment;

2.23.6. A summary of the client's physical condition at the time of
discharge or transfer;

2.23.7. A continuing care plan, including all ASAM domains;

2.23.8. The dated signature of the counselor completing the summary.

2.24. The Contractor shall ensure the discharge summary is completed .no later
than seven (7) calendar days following a client's discharge or transfer from
the program.

2.25. The Contractor shall ensure when transferring^ a client, either from one level
of care to another within the same certified contractor agency or to another

'Granite Pathways Contractor inHiab. J0_
RFP-20i9-BOAS-11-REStO Page 14 of 38 Date 44j4iT



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Residential Adolescent Substance Use Disorder Treatment Services

Exhibit A

treatment contractor, the counselor:

2.25.1. Completes a progress note on the client's treatment and progress
towards treatment goals, to l^e included in the client's record; and

2.25.2. Updates the client assessment and treatment plan.

2.26. Upon transfer of a client to another treatment contractor,, the Contractor shall
obtain a release of confidential information from the client to be transferred
and forward copies of the following Information to the new treatment
contractor

2.26.1. The discharge summary;

2.26.2. Client demographic information, including the client's name, date of
birth, address, telephone number, and the last 4 digits of the
client's Social Security number and

2.26.3. A diagnostic assessment statement and other assessment
information, including:

2.26.3.1. IB test results;

2.26.3.2. A record of the client's treatment history; and

2.26.3.3. Documentation of any court-mandated or agency-
recommended follow-up treatment

2.27. The Contractor shall ensure counselors meet clients at the time of discharge
or transfer to establish a continuing care plan that

2.27.1. Includes recommendations for continuing care in all ASAM
domains;

2.27.2. Addresses the use of self-help groups including, when Indicated,
facilitated self-help; and

2.27.3. Assists the client in making contact with other agencies or
services.

2.28. The Contractor shall ensure if the counselor Is unable to meet with the client
at the time of discharge or transfer to establish a continuing care plan, the
counselor documents why the meeting could not take place.

2.29. In the event of discontinuation of the program, the Contractor shall develop
and submit a Discontinuation Plan for approval by the Department prior to the
discontinuation of services. The Discontinuation Plan shall include, but not be

limited to. the following requirements:

2.29.1. The transfer, discharge and/or referral of all clients being served in
the contracted program;
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2.29.2. Obtaining the written consent of the client to release client records;

2.29.3. Developing a plan for the security and transfer of the client's
records;

2.29.4. Arranging for the continued management of all client records;

2.29.5. Notifying the Department in writing of the address where records
will be stored and specify the person managing the records;

/'

2.29.6. Arranging for storage of each client record through one or more of
the following measures:

2.29.6.1. Continuing to manage the records and give written

assurance to the Department that it will respond to

authorized requests for copies of client records within

ten (10) working days;

2.29.6.2. Transferring records of clients who have given written
consent to another contractor; or

2.29.6.3. Entering into a limited service organization agreement
with another contractor to store and manage records.

2.30. The Contractor shall ensure client families receive support sen/ices while
clients are enrolled in the program, including but not limited to providing;

2.30.1. Psychoeducation;

2.30.2. Family Support Groups;

2.30.3. Famity Visiting Days and family-focused recreation.

2.31. The Contractor shall ensure ail services include ia method to screen and
admit clients as follows:

2.31.1. Intake Coordinator shall receive requests and make initial contact

for services; . ^

2.31.2. Intake Coordinator shall gather the following documents:

2.31.2.1. Parental and/or guardian consent when appropriate;
and

2.31.2.2. Data releases required for the sharing of information
between the Contractor and other treatment providers

for the coordination of treatment;
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2.31.3. Intake Coordinator shall send an intake packet, whenever possible,

to the potential client and/or the client's parent and or guardian,
with information about the program and forms to be completed
prior to intake Interviews. The Contractor shall assess individuals

for risk of self-hami, using an evidence based screening tool, at all

phases of treatment, including but not limited to;

2.31.3.1. Initial contact;

2.31.3.2. Screening for probability of a substance use disorder;

2.31.3.3. Intake;

2.31.3.4. Admission;

2.31.3.5. Evaluation; and

2.31.3.6. On-going treatment services and at discharge.

2.31.4. Upon determination a client is at risk of self-harm, the Contractor

shall:

2.31.4.1. Provide or refer the client for additional services to

address this risk;

2.31.4.2. Contact emergency personnel when the client is in

imminent danger of self-harm.

2.31.5. Intake Coordinator shall assess, using an objective screening
instrument, any gender nonconforming appearance or manner or
identification as lesbian, gay. bisexual, transgender, or intersex, for

the purposes of:

2.31.5.1. Making housing, bed, program, education, and work

assignments for clients with the goal of keeping all

clients safe and free from abuse;

^  2.31.5.1.1. Lesbian, gay. bisexual, transgender, or
intersex clients shall not be placed In

particular housing, bed, or other

assignments solely on the basis of such
identification status;
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2.31.5.1.2. Intake Coordinator shall consider

placement of transgender or intersex
clients on a case-by-case basis when
deciding where to assign the client for
housing, bedding, and other assignments

^  as applicable, with the goal of ensuring
the client's health and safety;

2.31.5.1.3. A transgender or Intersex client's own
views with respect to the client's safety
will be given serious consideration;

2.31.5.2. Ensuring that transgender and intersex residents are
provided the opportunity to shower separately frorn
other residents.

2.31.6. The Contractor Shall ensure screening appointments:

2.31.6.1. Are scheduled with the Intake Coordinator in person
whenever possible, or by telephonic or other
electronic face to face method, within two (2) business
days from the date of the initial contact;

2.31.6.2. Complete an initial screening using a Department
approved screening tool or the screening module in
WITS to determine the potential client's eligibility for
services and probability of having a substance use
disorder according to the applicable edition of the

Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorder

(DSM).

2.31.6.3. When the client Is determined as having a probability
for eligibility for service and a substance use disorder
during the screening appointment, evaluate for
appropriate ASAM level of care by either;

2.31.6.3.1. Completing an ASAM Level of Care
Evaluation to determine the appropriate

level of care for treatment services; or

2.31.6.3.2. Use the ASAM Level of Care

Assessments completed by a licensed
counselor from a referring agency to
determine the appropriate level of care

for treatment services;
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2.31.7. Ensure a client's admission into services or placement on a waitlist

when the sen/ices with the appropriate ASAM Level of Care are

not available for the client at the time of screening;

2.31.8. Refer a client to the appropriate provider when a client does not
screen positive for a substance use disorder.

2:32.. The Contractor shall assess all clients for withdrawal risk, using an evidenced
based screening tool based on current ASAM standards, at all phases of
treatment, including but not limited to;

2.32.1. Initial contact;

2.32.2. Screening for probability of a substance use disorder;

2.32.3. Intake;

2.32.4. Admission;

2.32.5. Evaluation; and

2.32.6; On-going treatment services and at discharge.

2.33. Upon determination a client is at risk for withdrawal, the Contractor shall:

2.33.1. Stabilize all clients following ASAM (2013) guidelines;

2.33.2. Upon determination a client's risk level indicates a service within

an ASAM Level of Care that can be provided under his contract:

2.33.2.1. Integrate withdrawal management into the client's
treatment plan; and

2.33.2.2. Provide on-going assessment of withdrawal risk to
ensure that withdrawal is managed safely.

2.33.3. Upon determination a dienfs risk level indicates a sen/ice with an

ASAM Level of Care higher than can be provided under this
contract:

2.33.3.1. Refer clients to another agency to receive withdrawal
management services; and

2.33.3.2. Coordinate with the other agency to admit the client to
an appropriate program service once (he client's

withdrawal risk has reached a level that can be

provided for under this contract.

2.34. The Contractor shall ensure client admissions:

2.34.1. Provides a client orientation, either individually, or by group; that
includes: ^
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2.34.1.1. Rules, policies, and procedures of the Contractor,

program, and facility;

2.34.1.2. Requirements for successfully completing the
program;

'  2.34.1.3. The administrative discharge policy and the grounds
for administrative discharge;

2.34.1.4. All applicable laws regarding confidentiality, including
the limits of confidentiality and mandatory reporting
requirements; and

2.34.1.5. Requiring the client to sign a receipt stating that the
orientation was conducted; or

2.34.1.6. In cases where a client refuses to sign the orientation

receipt, a staff member may sign;

2.34.1.6:1. In the client's presence; and

2.34.1.6.2. Acknowledging the client was asked to

sign and refused.

2.34.2. Upon a client's admission to the program, the Contractor shall
conduct an HIV/AIDS screening, to include:

2.34.2.1. The provision of information;

2.34.2.2. Risk assessment;

2.34.2.3. Intervention and risk reduction education; and

2.34.2.4. Referral for testing, if appropriate, within 7 days of
admission.

2.35. The Contractor shall maintain specific written policies on client rights and
responsibilities.

2.36. The Contractor shall ensure programs inform clients of their rights at
admission and at least once a year after entry, in clear, understandable
language and form, both verbally and in writing.

2.37. The Contractor shall post a copy of the Contractor's policies and procedures
relative to the implementation of client rights and responsibilities, including
client confidentiality, per 42 CFR Part 2. in a public area.

3. Education Services

3.1. The Contractor shall ensure that each client receives education and training
while in the program, including but not limited to:

3.1.1. Regular school attendance as required by law;
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3.1.2. The opportunity to complete high school; or

3.1.3. The opportunity for vocational guidance.

3.2. With the appropriate Release of Information from the parent or child, the
Contractor shall collaborate with the client's school district in order to ensure

the client remains engaged in school work and, when possible and in the best
interest of the client, school attendance, in a manner deemed most
appropriate by the school district, to ensure access to education for the length
of time the client is receiving services.

3.3. The Contractor shall retain client student records in accordance with New

Hampshire regulations.

3.4. Upon client discharge from the program, the Contractor shall provide copies
of client student records of education progress to the Local Education
Authority.

4. Quality Management

4.1. The Contractor shall provide ongoing monitoring and quality improvement
activities in order to ensure the standard of care for clients continuously
improves.

4.2. The Contractor shall participate in all quality assurance and quality
improvement activities requested by the Department including but not limited
to:

4.2.1. Submission of monthly and/or quarterly web based contract

compliance reports;

4.2.2. Participation In electronic and in-person client record reviews;

4.2.3. Participation in site visits;

4.2.4. inspections of any of the following:

4.2.4.1. The facility premises;

4.2.4.2. Any and all programs ar>d services provided;

4.2.4.3. Any and a!) records maintained by the Contractor;

4.3. The Contractor shall participate in training and technical assistance activities
as directed by the Department.

4.4. The Contractor shall include client and family input In quality improvement
activities.

4.5. Upon identification of deficiencies in Quality Assurance, the Contractor shall,
within thirty (30) days from the date the Contractor is notified of the final
findings, provide a corrective action plan that includes:

4.5.1. Actions to be taken to correct each deficiency;
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4.5.2. Actions to be taken to prevent the reoccurrence of each deficiency;

4.5.3. A time line for implementing the actions above;

4.5.4. A monitoring plan to ensure the actions above are effective; and

4.5.5. A plan for reporting to the Department on progress of
implementation and effectiveness. >

5. Staffing

5.1. The Contractor shall ensure that program staff are qualified to sen/e the
adolescent population and committed to program delivery to continuity of
services for adolescent clients.

5.2. The Contractor shall ensure that direct care staff are:

5:2.1. Over the age of twenty-one (21); and

5.2.2. Educated and experienced commensurate with the population
being served; and

5.2.3. Continually in receipt of training that aligns with the needs of the
population, including but not limited to topics on;

5.2.3.1. Youth adolescent development;

5.2.3.2. Youth and adolescent crisis intervention techniques;

5.2:3.3. Understanding addiction and treatment options.

5.3. The Contractor shall ensure program staff provides client care and
supervision at all times to ensure clients are safe and needs are met
according to their developmental level, age, and emotional or behavioral
needs.

5.4. The Contractor shall develop, define and document job descriptions for all
staff, including contracted staff, volunteers and student interns, which must
include:

5.4.1. Job title;

5.4.2. Physical requirements of the position;

5.4.3. Education and experience requirements of the position;

5.4.4^ Duties of the position;

5.4.5. Positions supervised; and

5.4.6. Title of immediate supervisor.

5.5. The Contractor shall meet minimum staffing requirements that include:

5.5.1. A minimum of one (1):
I
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5.5.1.1. Masters Licensed Alcohol and Drug Counselor
(MLADC); or

5.5.1.2. Licensed Alcohol and Drug Counselor (LADC) who
also holds the Licensed Clinical Supervisor (LCS)

credential.

5.5.2. One (1) Program Director who assumes responsibility for the daily
operations of the Residential Adolescent Substance Use Disorder

Treatment Services program;

5.5.3. The Contractor shall maintain minimum staff to resident ratios, with
documentation of the same, on file for a minimum of 6-months,
which includes:

5.5.3.1. At least one (1) staff person per 6 clients during day
time hours;

5.5.3.2. At least one (1) staff person per 12 clients during
overnight hours.

5.5.4. Notwithstanding the required minimum staff to resident ratios,
when a staff person takes one or more residents off the premises
for a planned event, such as a medical or dental appointment, ,or
recreation or social activity, the program, may have one fewer staff
person with the residents who will remain on the premises of the
program, provided that:

5.5.4.1. The Program Director or designee has authorized the

reduced staff to resident ratio, based upon his or her
detemiination that the staff remaining on the premises
of the program can meet the individual needs of each

resident; and

5.5.4.2. In no case shall the staffto resident ratio go below one
to 12.

5.6. The Contractor shall ensure all staff, including contracted staff, volunteers
and student interns:

5.6.1. Meet the educational, experiential and physical qualifications of the
position as listed in their Job description;

5.6.2. Meet all criminal background standards;

5.6.3. Are licensed, registered or certified as required by state statute
and as applicable;
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5.6.4. Receive an orientation wittiln the first three (3) days of work, and
prior to direct contact with clients, which includes;

5.6.4.1. The Contractor's code of ethics, including ethical

conduct and reporting of unprofessional conduct;

5.6.4.2. The Contractor's policies on client rights and
responsibilities and complaint procedures;

5.6.4.3. Confidentiality requirements;

5.6.4.4. Grievance procedures for.both clients and staff;

5.6.4.5. The duties and responsibilities and the policies,

procedures and guidelines of the position for which
staff were hired;

5.6.4.6. Topics covered by both the administrative and staff

manuals;

5.6.4.7. The Contractor's infection prevention program;

5.6.4.8. The Contractor's fire, evacuation and other emergency
plans, which outline the responsibilities for personnel

in an emergency; and

5.6.4.9. f^andatory reporting requirements for abuse or
neglect, such as those found in RSA 161-F and RSA

169-C:29;

5.6.4.10. Education on effective and professional

communication with residents, including lesbian, gay,
bisexual, transgender. intersex, or gender
nonconforming clients;

5.6.5. Sign and date documentation that they have taken part in an

orientation;

5.6.6. Complete mandatory annual in-sen/ice education, which includes a

review of all.orientation elements.

5.7. The Contractor shall ensure all staff, including contracted staff, volunteers
and student interns, prior to having contact with clients:

5.7.1. Submit to the Contractor proof of a physical examination, or health

screening, conducted not more that twelve (12) months prior to

employment, which must, at a minimum, include;

5.7.1.1. The name of the examinee;
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5.7.1.2. The date of the examination;

5.7.1.3. Whether or not the examines has a contagious illness

or any other illness that would affect the examinee's
ability to perform their job duties;

5.7.1.4. Results of a 2-step tuberculosis (IB) test, Mantoux

method or other method approved by the CDC; and

5.7.1.5. The dated signature of the licensed health practitioner

5.7.2. Be allowed to work while waiting for the results of the second step

of the TB test when the results of the first step are negative for TB;

and

5.7.3. Comply with the requirements of the CDC Guidelines for

Preventing the Transmission of Tut>erculo5is in Health Facilities
Settings. 2005, if the person has either a positive TB test, or has

had direct contact or potential for occupational .exposure to
Myobacterium tuberculosis through shared air space with persons

with infectious tuberculosis.

5.8. The Contractor shall ensure staff, including contracted staff, volunteers and
student interns, who have direct contact with clients who have a history of TB
or a positive skin test must have a symptomatology screen of a TB test.

5.9. The Contractor shall ensure all unlicensed staff, including contracted staff,
volunteers and student intern, providing treatment, education and/or recovery
support services shall be under the direct supervision of a licensed
supervisor, defined as a Master Licensed Alcohol and Drug Counselor
(Ml-ADC), a Licensed Alcohol and Drug Counselor (LADC) who is also a
Licensed Clinical Supervisor (LCS) or a licensed mental health professional
who has been approved by the New Hampshire Board of Licensing for
Alcohol and Other Drug Use Professionals to provide supervision.

5.10. The Contractor shall ensure no licensed supervisor supervises more than
twelve (12) unlicensed staff, unless the Department has approved an
alternative supervision plan.

5.11. The Contractor shall provide a minimum of one (1) Certified Recovery
Support Worker (CRSW) for every fifty (50) clients or portion thereof.

5.12. The Contractor shall ensure that all clinical sen/ices are delivered by:

5.12.1. A licensed counselor under the supervision required by the

licensing board; or

5.12.2. An unlicensed counselor under the supervision of a licensed
supervisor. An unlicensed supervisor is defined as:
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5.12.2.1. An individual wtio has completed the educational

requirements required for licensure by the LADC

Board or Board of Mental Health Practice and who is.

working toward obtaining the required experiential

hours; or
t  '

5.12.2.2. An individual who is participating In an internship to
complete the education requirements required for

licensure by the LADC Board or Board of Mental

Health Practice. Such individuals shall only provide

services in the company of a licensed counselor.

5.1,3. The Contractor shall ensure that all psychoeducatlon and other recovery
support services are provided by a CRSW, licensed counselor or unlicensed
counselor.

5.14. The selected Contractor shall ensure a staff to resident ratio that is more

stringent than the required staff to resident ratios stated above when required
by a client's treatment plan.

5.15. The Contractor shall provide, at regular intervals, ongoing clinical supervision,
vvhich Includes but is not limited to:

5.15.1. Receipt of. at least, one (1) hour of supervision for every forty (40)
hours of direct dient contact;

5.15.2. Discussion of cases with suggestions for resources or therapeutic

approaches, co-therapy, and periodic assessment of progress;

5.15.3. Group supervision to help optimize the learning experience, when
two (2) or more candidates are under supervision;

5.15.4. On the spot training on:

5.15.4.1. Knowledge, skills, values, and ethics with specific

application to the practice issues faced by supervised
staff;

5.15.4.2. The twelve (12) core functions;

5.15.4.3. The Addiction Counseling Competencies: The

Knowledge, Skills, and Attitudes of Professional

V  Practice, available at

http://store.samhsa.gov/product/TAP-21-Addiction-

Counsellng-Competencies/SMAI 5-4171; and
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5.15.4.4. The standards of practice ar>d ethical conduct, as

determined by licensing and review boards, with

particular emphasis given to the counselor's role and

appropriate responsibilities, professional boundaries,

and power dynamics.

5.16. The Contractor shall ensure that supervision is provided on an individual or
group basis, or both, depending on staff needs, experience and skill level,
and includes the following;

5.16.1. Review of case records;

5.16.2. Observation of interactions with clients;

5.16.3. Skill development; and

5.16.4. Review of case management activities.

5.17. The Contractor shall ensure that supervisors maintain a log of the supervision
date, duration, content and who was supervised by whom.

5.18. The Contractor shall ensure that individuals licensed or certified must receive

supervision in accordance with the requirements of their licensure.

5.19. The Contractor shall notify the Department in writing of changes In key
personnel within five (5) working days of hiring, along with updated resumes
and other documentation as needed that clearly indicates the staff member is
employed by the Contractor. Key personnel are defined as; those staff for
which at least 10% of their work time is spent providing substance use
disorder treatment and/or recovery support services.

5.20. The Contractor shall notify the Department in writing within one month of hire
when a new administrator or coordinator or any staff person essential to
carrying out this Scope of Senrlces is hired to work in the Program, along with
a copy of the resume of the employee and other documentation as needed
which clearty indicates the staff member is employed by the Contractor..

5.21. The Contractor shall notify the Department in writing within fourteen (14)
calendar days when there is not sufficient staffing to perform all required
services for more than one (1) month.

5.22. The Contractor shall provide the Department with written notice a minimum of
thirty (30) days prior to any changes In;

5.22.1. Organization ownership; and/or

5.22.2. Organization Name

5.23. The Contractor shall submit to the Department, upon change in the
organization name and/or ownership, a copy of the certificate of amendment
from the New Hampshire Secretary of State, if applicable, and the effective
date of the organization name and/or ownership change.
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5.24. The Contractor shall ensure student interns sign the DHHS Data Use and
Confidentiality Agreement (Appendix H) and complete a Department-
approved ethics course and a Department-approved course on the 12 core
functions and the Addiction Counseling Competencies: The Knowledge,
Skills, and Attitudes of Professional Practice, prior to beginning their
Internship.

5.25. The Contractor shall ensure unlicensed staff complete an approved ethics
course and an approved course on the 12 core functions and the Addiction
Counseling Competencies: The Knowledge, Skills, and Attitudes of
Professional Practice, within 6 months of hire.

5.26. The Contractor shall provide in-service training to all staff involved in client
care within 15 days of the contract Effective Date or the staff person's start
date, if after the contract effective date on the following:.

5.26.1. The contract requirements;

5.26.2. All other relevant policies and procedures provided by the
Department.

5.27. The Contractor shall provide pre-approved training on-site or provide the
Department with documentation of alternate training conducted off-site; to
clinical staff on hepatitis C (HCV), human immunodeficiency virus (HIV),
tuberculosis (TB) and sexually transmitted diseases (STDs) annually.

5.20. The contractor shall provide the Department with a list of staff attending an in-
service training or Certificates of Attendance.

6. Policies and Procedures

6.1. The Contractor shall develop and implement written policies and procedures
goveming all aspects of its operation and services provided; including but not
limited to:

6.1.1. Written policies and procedures to include a code of ethics, which
addresses the Contractor and all staff, as well as a mechanism for

reporting unethical conduct;

6.1.2. A written policy mandating zero tolerance toward all forms of
sexual abuse and sexual harassment and outlining the

Contractor's approach to preventing, detecting, and responding to
such conduct;

6.1.3. A staffing plan that provides for adequate levels of staffing to
protect residents against sexual abuse;

6.1.4. A written policy ensuring an administrative or criminal Investigation
Is completed for all allegations of sexual abuse and sexual
harassment;
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6.1.5. Client rights, grievance and appeals policies and procedures;

6.1.6. Progressive discipline, leading to administrative discharge;

6.1.7. Reporting and appealing staff grievances;

6.1.8. Policies on client alcohol and other drug use while in treatment;

6.1.9. Policies on client and employee smoking that are in compliance,
with Exhibit H, Certification Regarding Environmental Tobacco

Smoke;

6.1.10. Drug-free workplace policy and procedures, including a

requirement for the filing of written reports of actions taken In the

event of staff misuse of alcohol or other drugs;

6.1.11.. Policies and prc^dure for holding a client's possessions;

6.1.12.. Secure storage of staff medications;

6.1.13. A client medication policy;

6.1.14. Urine specimen collection, as applicable, that;

6.1.14.1. Ensures that the collection is conducted in a manner

which presences client privacy as much as possible;
and

6.1.14.2. Policies and procedures intended to minimize

falsification, including, but not limited to:

6.1.14.2.1. Temperature testing;

6.1.14.2.2. Observations by same-sex staff

members;

6.1.15. Safety and medical procedures on;

6.1.15.1. Medical emergencies;

6.1.15.2. Infection control and universal precautions, including

the use of protective clothing and devices;

6.1.15.3. Reporting employee injuries;

6.1.15.4. Fire monitoring, warning, evacuation and safety drill

policy and procedures;

6.1.15.5. Emergency closings;

6.1.15.6. Posting of the above safety and emergency

procedures;
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6.1.16. Procedures for the protection of client records that govern use of

records, storage, removal, conditions for release of information and

compliance with 42 CFR, Part 2 and the Health Insurance

Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA); and

6.1.17. Procedures related to quality assurance and quality improvement.

6.2. The Contractor shall have policies and procedures to implement a
comprehensive client record system, in either paper or electronic fonn, or
both, that communicates information within the client record of each client
served in a manner that is;

6.2.1. Organized into related sections with entries in chronological order;

6.2.2. Easy to read and understand;

6.2.3. Complete, containing all the parts; and

6.2.4. Up-to-date, including notes of most recent contacts.

6.3. The Contractor shall develop and implement written policies and procedures
regarding criminal background checks of prospective staff, including but not
limited to:

6.3.1. Requirir^ prospective staff to sign a release to allow the
contractor to obtain the prospective staffs criminal records;

6.3.2. Requiring the administrator or their designee to obtain and review

a criminal records check from the New Hampshire department

of safety for prospective staff;

6.3.3. Standards regarding the following, a finding of which shall be

reason to deny prospective staff employment in order to ensure the
health, safety and well-being of clients;

6.3.3.1. Felony convictions;

6.3.3.2. Convictions for sexual assault, other violent crime,

assault, fraud, abuse, neglect or exploitation of any

person.

6.3.4. SUndards for waiving findings in 6.3.3 for good cause.

6.4. The Contractor shall have written potides and procedures related to student
interns to address minimum coursework, experience and core competencies
for those interns having direct contact with individuals served by this contract.

6.5. The Contractor shall have policies and procedures regarding collections of
client fees, collections from private or public insurance, and collections from
other payers responsible for the client's finances.

6.6. The Contractor shall develop, define and implement processes and
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procedures for denial of service.

6.7. The Contractor shall be responsible for providing the following to any client
who Is denied services;

6.7.1. Infonning the client of the reason for denial;

6.7.2. Assisting the client in Identifying and accessing appropriate
available treatment;

6.7.3. Maintaining a detailed record of the information and* assistance

provided.

6.8. The Contractor shall establish policies and procedures establishing,
maintaining, and storing, In a secure and confidential manner, current
personnel files for staff, contracted staff, volunteers or student interns.
Personnel files shall include, but are not limited to, the following:

6.8.1. A completed application for employment or a resume, including:

6.8.1.1. Employment Identification data; and

6.8.1.2. The education and work experience of the staff

member,

6.8.2. A copy of the current job description or agreement, signed by the
individual, that identifies the:

6.8.2.1. Position title;

6.8.2.2. Qualifications and experience; and

6.8.2.3. Duties required by the position;

6.8.3. Written verification that the person meets the Contractor's

qualifications for the assigned job description, such as school
transcripts, certifications and licenses as applicable;

6.8.4. A signed and dated record of orientation;

6.8.5. A copy of each current New Hampshire license, registration or
certification in health care field and CPR certification, if applicable;

6.8.6. Results of communicable disease screenings;

6.8.7. Written performance appraisals for each year of employment
including description of any corrective actions, supervision, or

training determined to be necessary by a supervisor;

6.8.8. Documentation of annual in-service education;

6.8.9. Information as to the general content and length of alt continuing
education or educational programs attended;
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6.8.10. A signed statement acknowledging the receipt of the Contractor's
policy setting forth the client's rights and responsibilities, including
confidentiality requirements, and acknowledging training and
implementation of the policy:

6.8.11. A statement, which must be signed at the time the initial offer of

emptoyment is made and then annually thereafter, staling the staff
member;

6.8.11.1. Does not have a felony conviction;

6.8.11.2. Has not been convicted of a sexual assault, other
violent crime, assault, fraud, abuse, neglect or
exploitation or pose a threat to the health, safety or
well-being of a cjient; and

6.8.11.3. Has not had a finding by the Department or any
administrative agency in this or any other state for
assault, fraud, abuse, neglect or exploitation of any
person; and

6.8.11.4. Documentation of the criminal records check and any
waivers; ̂

6.8.12. The Contractor shall have and adhere to, or develop, define and
implement a clinical care manual, which includes policies and
procedures related to all clinical services provided.

7. Facilities

7.1. The Contractor's service site shall:

7.1.1. Have a reception area separate from living and treatment areas;

7.1.2. Have private space for personal consultation, charting, treatment
and social activities, as applicable;

7.1.3. Have secure storage of active and closed confidential client

records; and

7.1.4. Have separate and secure storage of toxic substances;

7.2. The Contractor shall meet with the Department as often as is required by the
Director of the Sununu Youth Services Center or his or her designee to
schedule and coordinate the use of all common areas specified in the Lease
Agreement referenced in Section 1 above.

7.3. The Contractor shall provide the necessary equipment and supplies to ensure
the maintenance and operation of the facility and the safety of all staff and
participants thereof.
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7.4. The Contractor shall provide or make arrangements for the provision of
laundry services for clients, including but not limited to the cleaning of all
linens and other washable items.

7.5. The Contractor shall provide or make arrangements for the provision of food
services for clients, including but not limited to providing breakfast, lunch,
dinner, and up to two (2) snacks per day, per client.

7.6. Facilities Licenses:

7.6.1. The Contractor agrees to licensure under RSA 151:2, II, Substance
Use Disorder (SUD) treatment services, at the time an appropriate
regulatory scheme for the services provided in this Agreement has
been adopted by the Department.

7.6.2. All residential services provided in this Contract shall not t)e vh-
considered a child care institution in accordance with RSA 170-

E:25.

7.7. Upon acceptance of a dient known to have a disease reportable under He-P
301, or an infectious disease, the Contractor shall follow the required
procedures for the care of dients, as spedfied by the United States Centers
for Disease Control and Prevention 20017; Guideline for Isolation
FTecautions, Preventing Transmission of Infections Agents in Healthcare

'  settings of June. 2007.

8. Reporting

8.1. Subject to Sections 1.16.3. and 1.18., me Contractor shall utilize the Web
Information Technology System (WITS) to record all client activity and dient
contact within (3) days following the activity or contact.

8.2. The Contractor shall report on National Outcome Measures (NOMs) data
Including but not limited to:

8.2.1. 100% of all clients at admission; '

8.2.2. 100% of all clients who are discharged because they have
completed treatment or transferred to another program;

8.2.3. 50% of all clients who are discharged for reasons other than
completion of treatment or being transferred to another program.

8.3. The Contractor shall report all positive tuberculosis test results for staff,
including contracted staff, volunteers and student interns, to the Office of
Disease Control in accordance with RSA 141-C:7, He-P 301.02 and He-P
301.03.

8.4. The Contractor shall implement state and federal regulations on client
confidentiality, including provisions outlined in 42 CFR 2.13, RSA 172:8-a and
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RSA318-B:12.

8.5. The Contractor shall, upon request, provide a client or the client's parent,

guardian or agent with a copy of the client's record within the confines for 42
CFRPart2.

8.6. The Contractor shall maintain a record of all client screenings, including, but'
not limited to: .

8.6.1. Client name;

8.6.2. Client unique identifier;

8.6.3. Date of initial contact from the client or referring agency;

8.6.4. Dale of screening;

8.6.5. Result of screening, including the reason for denial of services, is
applicable;

8.6.6. For any client who is placed on a waitlist, record of referrals to and
coordination with regional access points and Regional Hubs and

interim services or reason that such a referral was not made;

8.6.7. Record of all client contacts between screening and removal from

the waitlist; arKi

8.6.8. Date client was removed from the waitlist and the reason for

removal.

8.7. The Contractor shall establish a baseline of National Outcome Measures

(NOMs) at the t)eginning of senrice, including but not limited to:

8.7.1. Access to services provided:

8.7.2. At admission;

8.7.3. Client discharge, distinguished by level of care:

8.7.4.. Abstinence: The client reports reduced or no substance use in the
past 30 days prior to the contact

8.7.5. Employment/Education: The client reports increased or retained
employment or the client reports returning to or staying in school at

the time of contact;

8.7.6. Crime and Criminal Justice: The client reports no arrests in the
past 30 days prior to contact;

Gfanhe Pathways Exhibit A Contractof Infttats
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8.7.7. Stability in Housing: The client reports being in stable housing
defined as not homeless or at risk of being homeless, at the time of
contact; and

8.7.8. Social Connectedness: The client reports engagement In Recovery
Support Services, Care Coordination, and/or Community Based
Support Groups In the past 30 days prior to contact.

8.8. The Contractor shall work with Department staff to ensure compliance with all
census requirements as provided for in Section 5 of the Lease Agreement, as
applicable.

9. Client Records

9:1. The Contractor shall ensure dieni records are maintained for each client, in
accordance with professional standards.

9.2. The Contractor shall etisure each client record includes the following
components organized as follows;

9.2,1. Section One (1): Intake/Initial Information:

9.2.1.1. identification data, induding the dient's:

9.2.1.1.1. Name;

9.2.1.1.2. Date of birth;

9.2.1.1.3. Address;

9.2.1.1.4. Telephone number(s); and

9.2.1.1.5. The last four (4) digits of the client's
Social Security number;

9.2.1.2. The date of admission to tl^ program;

9.2.1.3. If either have been appointed for the client, the name
and address of:

9.2.1.3.1. The guardian; and/or

9.2.1.3.2. The representative payee;

9.2.1.4. The name, address, and telephone number(s) of the
person to contact in the event of an emergency;

9.2.1.6. Contact Information for the person or entity referring
the dlent for sen/Ices, as applicable;

9.2.1.6. The name, address, and telephone number(s) of the
primary health care contractor;

Granite Pathways ExhiUl A Contrador iniUats
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9.2.1.7. The name, address, and telephone number(s) of the
behavioral health care contractor, if applicable;

9.2.1.8. The name and address of the client's public or private
health insurance contractor(s), or both;

9.2.1.9. The client's religious preference, If any;

9.2.1.10. The client's physical health history:

9.2.1.11. The client's mental health history:

9.2.1.12. Current medications;

9.2.1.13. Reasons for medications and the timing, requirements
for administration of medication;

9.2.1.14. Records and reports prepared prior to the client's
current admission and determined by the counselor to
be relevant; and

\  '

9.2.1.15. Signed receipt of Initial and annual notification of client
rights:

9.2.2. Section Two (2); Screening/Assessment/Evaluation:

9.2.2.1. Documentation of all elements of screening,
assessments and evaluations;

9.2.3. Section Three (3); Treatment Planning:

9.2.3.1. The Individual treatment plans, updated at designated
intervals; and

9.2.3.2. Signed and dated progress notes and reports from all
programs involved;

9.2.4. Section Four (4): Discharge Planning:

9.2.4.1. A narrative discharge summary;

9.2.5. Section Five (5): Releases of Information/Miscellaneous:

9.2.5.1. Release of inforrnation forms compliant with 42 CFR,
Part 2;

9.2.5.2. Any correspondence pertinent to the client; and

9.2.5.3. Any other information the Contractor deems

significant.

9.3. The Contractor shall utilize tabbed sections if using a paper format client

Granite Pathways ExhItiflA ' Contractorlrtitisls.
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record system.

9.4. The Contractor shall ensure all client records maintained by the Contractor or
Its sub-contractors, including paper files, facsimile transmissions, or electronic
data transfers, are strictly confidential.

9.5. The Contractor shall ensure paper records and external electronic storage
media are securely stored and maintained In locked file cabinets:

9.5.1. All electronic files shall be password protected: and

9.5.2. All confidential notes or other materials that do not require storage
shall be shredded immediately after use.

9.6. Contractors must retain client records after the discharge or transfer of the
client for a minimum of seven (7) years after the client reaches the age of
majority.

10. Employee Records i

10.1. The Contractor shall ensure that employee records are established for each
employee.

10.2. The Contractor shall ensure that employee records maintain any and all
documentation, identified as required for employment, including, but not
limited to:

10.2.1. Employee resumes; <

10.2.2. Job descriptions for position;

10.2.3. Copies of licenses, registrations and/or certifications required for
the position;

10.2.4. Signed documentation of completion of orientation;

10.2.5. Signed documentation of completion of annual in-service
education.

11. Performance Measures

11.1. The Contractor's performance under the Agreement shall te measured and
aligned with the Department's quality assurance standards to evaluate that
services are mitigating negative impacts of substance use, including but not
limited to the opioid epidemic and associated overdoses as follows:

11.1.1. Access to Services: for each client who screens eligible for.
services and starts receiving services, other than evaluation,

whether for the identified service for the ASAM Level of Care or

interim services, within 10 business days following the eligibility
screening;

GranUe Pathways ' e*NaiA ContrBctof inHtaia
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11.1.2. Completion: Subject to section 1.16.3, for each client who is

discharged from the program because they have completed
treatment or transferred to another treatment provider as recorded
in the Discharge Type field of the WITS Discharge Module;

11.1.3. Performance will be measured against the established baseline
and demonstrate a 10% improvement each year. Specific items to
be measured, must be, but wilt not be limited to those defined in

Section 8, Reporting, above.

Granrte Pathwaya EidtRA A Contractor InlUab.
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Payment Schedule

1) The Department will not provide payment to the Contractor for services provided by the Contractor under this
Agreement.

2) The Contractor shall make payments to the Department according to tt>e terms set forth in the Lease Agreement
between the Department and the Contractor (referenced in Exhibit A of this Agreement) for premises located at
1056 North River Road in Manchester, New Hampshire, where the Contractor will provide the Residential
Adolescent Substance Use Disorder Treatment Services required in this Agreement. \

3) In consideration of the work to be performed pursuant to Exhibit A herein, the Department granted Contractor the
right to lease the premises referenced above In accordance with the Lease Agreement. Contractor agrees that
the right to lease the prennises as set forth In the Lease Agreement is sufTtdent consideration under this
Agreement.

Remainder of page left Intentionally blank

Granite Pathways ExhlbHB Contractor initials
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SPFCIAL PROVISIONS

Contractore Obligations: The Contractor covenants and agrees that all funds received by the Contractor
under the Contract shall be used only as payment to the Contractor for services provided to ellgible
individuals and. in the furtherance of the ̂ oresaid covenants, the Contractor hereby covenants and
agrees as follows: .

1. Compliance with Federal and State Laws: If the Contractor is permitted to determine the eligibility
of individuals such eligibility determinalion shall be made In accordance with applicable federal and
state laws, regulations, orders, guidelines, policies and procedures.

2. Time and Manner of Determination: Eligibility determinations shall be rhade on forms provided by
the Department for that purpose and shall be made.and remade at such times as are prescribed by
the Department

3. Documentation: In addition to the determination forms required by the Department the Contractor
shaQ maintain a data file on each recipient of services hereunder, which file shall Include all
Information necessary to support an eligibility determination and such other information as the
Department requests. The Contractor shall furnish the Department with all forms and documentation
regarding eligibility determinations that the Department may request or require.

4. Fair Hearings: The Contractor understands that all applicants for services hereunder, as well as
individuals declared Ineligible have a right to a fair hearing regarding deterimmation. The
Contractor hereby covenants and agrees that all applicants for services shall be permitted to fill out
an application form and that each applicant or re^ppllcant shall be informed of his/her right to a fair
hearing in accordance with Department regulations.

5. Gratuities or Kickbacks: The Contractor agrees that it is a breach of this Contract to accept or
make a payment, gratuity or offer of employment on behalf of the Contractor, any Sub-Contractor or
the Stale in order to Influence the performance of the Scope of Work detailed in Exhibit A of this
Contract. The State may terminate this Contract and any sub-contract or sub-agreement if it Is
determined that paynwnts, gratuitjes or offers of employment of any kind were offered or received by
any ofTtcials, officers, employees or agents of the Contractor or Sub-Contractor.

6. Retroactive Payments: Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained In the Contract or in any
other document, contract or understanding, it is expressly understood and agreed by the parties
hereto, that no payments will be made hereunder to reimburse the Contractor for costs incurred for
any purpose or for any services provided to any individual prior to the Effective Date of the Contract
and no payments shall be made for expenses incurred by the Contractor for any services provided
prior to the date on which the individual applies for services or (except as otherwise provided by the
federal regulations) prior to a determination that the individual Is eligible for such services.

7. Conditions of Purchase: Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Contract, nothing
herein contained shall be deemed to obligate or require the Department to purchase services
hereunder at a rate which reimburses the Contractor In excess of the Contractors costs, at a rate
which exceeds the amounts reasonable and necessary to assure the quality of such service, or at a
rate which exceeds the rate charged by the Contractor to ineligible individuals or other third party
funders for such service. If at any time during the term of this Contract or after receipt of the Final
Expenditure Report hereunder, the Department shall determine that the Contractor has used
payments hereunder to reimburse Items of expense other than such costs, or has received payrrwnt
iri excess of such costs or in excess of such rates charged by the Contractor to ineligible individuals
or other third party funders, the Department may elect to:
7.1. Renegotiate the rates for payment hereunder, in which event new rates shaD be established;
7.2. Deduct from any future payment to the Contractor the amount of any prior reimbursement In

excess of costs; ^
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7.3. Demand repayment of the excess payment by the Contractor in which event failure to make
such repayment shall constitute an Event of Default hereunder. When the Contractor Is
permitt^ to determine the eligibility of individuals for services, the Contractor agrees to
reimburse the Department for all funds paid by the Department to the Contractor for services
provided to any individual who is found by the Department to be ineligible for such services at ;
any time during the period of retention of records estat>(jshed herein. ■

RECORDS: f^^AINTENANCE. RETENTION. AUDIT. DISCLOSURE AND CONFIDENTIALITY:

8. Maintenance of Records; In addition to the eligibilityrecords specified above, the Contractor
covenants and agrees to maintain the following records during the Contract Period:
6.1. Fiscal Records: books, records, documents and other data evidencing and reflecling all costs I

and other expertses incurred by the Contractor in the performance of the Contract, and all
Income received or coltected by the Contractor during the Contract Period, said records to be
maintained in accordance with accounting procedures and practices which sufficiently and
property reflect all such costs and expenses, and which are acceptable to the Department, and ^
to include, without limitation, all ledgers, books, records, and original evidence of costs such as
purchase requisitions and orders, vouchers, requisitions for materials, inventories, valuations of t
in-kind contributions, labor time cards, payrolls, and other records requested or required by the
Department )

8.2. Statistical Records: Statistical, enrollment attendance or visit records for each recipient of
services during the Contract Period, which records shall include all records of application and '
eligibility (including all forms required to determine ellgitxiity for each such recipient), records
regarding the provision of services and all invoices submitted to die Department to obtain
payment for such services.

8.3. M^ical Records: Where appropriate and as prescribed by the Department regulations, the
Contractor shall retain medical records on each patient/recipient of services. !

I

9. Audit: Contractor shall submit an annual audit to the Department within 60 days after the close of the !
agency fiscal year. It is recommended that the report be prepared In accordance with the provision of !
Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133. "Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non '
Profit Organizations" and the provisions of Standards for Audit of Governmental Organizations,
Programs. Activities and Functions, issued by the US General Accounting Office (GAO standards) as <

.  they pertain to financial compliance audits.
9.1. Audit and Review; During the term of this Contract and the period for retention hereunder, the i

Department, the United States Department of Health and Human Services, and any of their
designated representatives shaD have access to all reports and records maintained pursuant to
the Contract for purposes of audit, examination, excerpts and transcripts.

9.2. Audit Liabilities: In addition to and not in any way In limitation of obligations of the Contract, it is
understood and agreed by the Contractor that the Contractor shall be held liable for any state
or federal audit exceptions and shall return to the DepartmenL all payments made under the
Contract to which exception has been taken or which have t>een disallowed because of such an
exception.

10. Confidentiality of Records: All information, reports, and records maintained hereunder or coltected
in connection vrith the performance of the services and the Contract shall be conftdentiai and shall not
be disclosed by the Contractor, provided however, that pursuant to state laws and the regulations of
the Department regarding the use and disclosure of such information, disclosure may be made to
public officials requiring such Information in connection with their official duties and for purposes
directly connected to the administration of the services and the Contract; and provided further, that
the use or disclosure by any party of any information conceming a recipient for any purpose not
directly connected with the administration of the Department or the Contractor's responsibilities with
respect to purchased services hereunder is prohibited except on written consent of the recipient, his
attorney or guardian.

ExhtttH C - Specbi Provbiona Contractor Inttlats

oamn« Page 2 Of 5 Dale j() U j Hi



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Exhibit C

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein the covenants and conditions contained in
the Paragraph shall survive the termination of the Contract for any reason whatsoever. .

11. Reports: Fiscal and Statistical: The Contractor agrees to submit the following reports at the following
times, if requested by the Department
11.1. Interim Financial Reports: Written interim financial reports containing a detailed description of

all costs and non-allowable expenses incurred by the Contractor to the date of the report and
containing such other information as shall be deemed satisfactory by the Department to
justify the rate of payment hereunder. Such Financial Reports shall be submitted on the form
designated by the Department or deemed satisfactory by the Department

11.2. Final Report: A final report shall be submitted within thirty (30) days after the end of the term
of this Contract. The Final Report shall t>e in a form satisfactory to the Department and shall
contain a summary statement of progress toviirard goals and objectives stated in the Proposal
and other informaUon required by the Departrrtent

12. Completion of Services: Disallowance of Costs: Upon the purchase by the Department of the
maximum number of units provided for in the Contract and upon payment of the price limitation
hereunder, the Contract and all the obligations of the parties hereunder (except such obligations as.
by the terms of the Contract are to be performed after the end of the term of this Contract and/or
survive the termination of the Contract) shall terminate, provided however, that If, upon review of the
Final Expenditure Report the Department shall disallow any expenses claimed by the Contractor as
costs hereunder the Department shall retain the right, at Its discretion, to deduct the amount of such
expenses as are disallowed or to recover such sums from the Contractor.

13. Credits: All documents, notices, press releases, research reports and other materials prepared
during or resulting from the performance of the services of the Contract shall include the following
statement:

13.1. The preparabon of this (report, document etc.) was financed under a Contract with the State
of New Hampshire. Department of Health and Human Services, with funds provided in part
by the State of New Hampshire and/or such other funding sources as were available or
required, e.g., the United States Department of Health and Human Services.

14. Prior Approval and Copyright Ownership: All materials (written, video, audio) produced or
purchas^ under the contract shall have prior approval from DHHS before printing, production,
distribution or use. The DHHS will retain copyright ownership for any and all original materials
produced, including, but not limited to, brochures, resource directories, protocols or guidelines,
posters, or reports. Contractor shall not reproduce any materials product under the contract without
prior written approval from DHHS.

15. Operation of Facilities: Compliance with Laws and Regulations: In the operation of any ̂cilities
for providing services, the Contractor shall comply with all laws, orders and regulations of federal,
state, county and municipal authorities and with any direction of any Public Officer or officers
pursuant to laws which shall impose an order or duty upon the contractor vrith respect to the
operation of the facility or the provision of the services at such facility. If any governmental license or
permit shall be required for the operation of the said facility or the performance of the said services,
the Contractor will procure said license or permit, and will at all times comply with the terms and
conditions of each such license or permit. In connection with the foregoing requirements, the
Contractor hereby covenants and agrees that, during the term of this Contract the fadlities shall
comply with alt rules, orders, regulations, and requirements of the State Office of the Fire Marshal and
the local fire protection agency, and shall be in conformance with local building and zoning codes, by
laws and regulations.

16. Equal Employment Opportunity Plan (EEOP): The Contractor will provide an Equal Employment
Opportunity Plan (EEOP) to the Office for Civil Rights, Office of Justice Programs (OCR), if it has
received a single avirard of $5(X),000 or more. If the recipient receives $25,000 or more and has 50 or

^  Exhibit C - Special Provisions Contractor Initials
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more employees, it will maintain a current EEOP on file and submit an EEOP Certification Form to the
OCR. certifying that its EEOP is on file. For recipients receiving less than $25,000. or public grantees
with ie'weT than 50 employees, regardless of the amount of the award, the recipient will provide an
EEOP Certification Form to the OCR certifying it is not required to submit or maintain an EEOP. Non
profit organizations. Indian Tribes, and medical and educational Institutions are exempt from the
EEOP requirement, but are required to submit a ,certification form to the OCR to claim the exemption.
EEOP Certification Forms are available at: http://www:6jp.usdO}/about/ocr/pdfs/cert.pdf.

17. Limited English Proficiency (LEP): As clarified by Executive Order 13166. Improving Access to
Services for persons with Limited English Proficiency, and resulting agency guidance, national origin
discrimination Includes discrimination on the basis of limited English proficiency (LEP). To ensure
compliance with the Omnibus Cringe Control and Safe Streets Act of 1968 and TiOe VI of the Civil
Rights Act of 1964, Contractors must take reasonable steps to ensure that LEP persons have
meaningful access to its programs.

18. Pilot Program for Enhancement of Contractor Employee WhlstJeblower Protections: The
following shall apply to all contracts that exceed the Simplified Acquisition Threshold as defined in 48
CFR 2.101 (currenUy, $150,000)

COMTRACTOR EMPLOYEE WHISTLEBLOWER RlGtfTS AND REQUIREMENT TO INFORM EMPLOYEES OF
Whistleblower Rigkts (SEP 2013) .

(a) This contract and employees working on this contract will be subject to the whistleblower rights
and remedies In the pilot program on Contractor employee whistleblower protections established at
41 U.S.C. 4712 by section 828 of the National Defense Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 2013 (Pub. L.
112-239) and FAR 3.908.

(b) The Contractor shall Inform its employees in vrriting, in the predominant language of the workforce,
of employee whistleblower rights and protections under 41 U.S.C. 4712, as described In section
3.908 of the Federal Acquisition Regulation.

(c) The Contractor shall insert the substance of this clause, including this paragraph (c), in all
subcontracts over the simplified acquisition threshold.

19. Subcontractors: DHHS recognizes that the Contractor may choose to use subcontractors with
greater expertise to perform certain health care services or functions for efficiency or convenience,
but the Contractor shall retain the responsibility and accountability for the function(s). Prior to
subcontracting, the Contractor shall evaluate the subcontractor's ability to perform the delegated
function(s). This Is accomplished through a written agreement that specifies activities and reporting
responsibilities of the subcontractor and provides for revoking the delegation or imposing sanctions if
the subcontractor's performance is not adequate. Subcontractors are sut^ect to the same contractual
conditions as the Contractor and the Contractor Is responsible to ensure subcontractor compliance
with those conditions.

When the Contractor delegates a function to a subcontractor, the Contractor shall do the following:
19.1. Evaluate the prospective subcontractor's ability to perform the activities, before delegating

the function

19.2. Have a written agreement with the subcontractor that specifies activities and reporting
responsibilities and how sanctions/revocation will t>e managed If ttxe subcontractor's
performance Is not adequate

19.3. Monitor the subcontractor's performance on an ongoing basis

Exhibit C-Special Provhions Contractor Inilieb,
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19.4. Provide to DHHS an annuai schedule identifying a!) subcontractors, delegated functions and
responsibilities, and when the subcontractor's performance will be reviewed

19.5. DHHS shall, at its discretion, review and approve all subcontracts.

If the Contractor identifies deficiencies or areas for improvement are identified, the Contractor shall
take corrective action.

DEFINITIONS

As used in the Contract, the following terms shall have the following meanings': '

COSTS: Shall mean those direct and Indirect Items of expense determined by the Oepartnnent to be
3llowat)le ar>d reimt>ur8able in accordance with cost and accounting principles established in accordance
with state and federal laws, regulations, rules and orders.

DEPARTMENT: NH Department of Health and Human Services.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT GUIDELINES: Shall mean that section of the Contractor Manual which Is
entitled "Financial Management Guldetines" and which contains the regulations governing the financial
activities of contractor agencies which have contracted with the State of NH to receive funds.

PROPOSAL: If applicable, shall mean the document submitted by the Contractor on a form or forms
required by the Department and containing a description of the Services to be provided to eligible
individuals by the Contractor in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Contract and setting forth
the total cost and sources of revenue for each service to be provided under the Contract.

UNIT: For each service that the Contractor is to provide to el'igibte individuals hereunder, shall mean that
period of time or that specified activity determined by the Department and specified in Exhibit B of the
Contract.

FEDERAL/STATE LAW: Wherever federal or stale laws, regulations, rules, orders, and policies, etc. are
referred to in the Contract, the said reference shall be deemed to mean all such laws, regulations, etc. as
they may be amended or revised from the time to time. y

CONTRACTOR MANUAL: Shall mean that document prepared by the NH Department of Administrative
Services containing a compilation of all regulations promulgated pursuant to the New Hampshire
Administrative Procedures Act. NH RSA Ch 541-A, for the purpose of impierhenting State of NH and
federal regulations promulgated thereunder.

SUPPLANTING OTHER FEDERAL FUNDS: The Contractor guarantees that funds provided under this
Contract will not supplant any existing federal funds available for these services.

Exhibtt C - Spedxl Provisions Contractor Initials.
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Granite Pathways Exhibit C«1 - Rovisions to Standard Provtsions Contractor InUab.
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REVISIQNS.TO STANDARD CQNTRACT LANGUAGE

1. Revisions to Form P-37, General Provtsions

Paraoraoh 14. Insurance, subsection 14.1.1 is amended to read as follows: ]

14.1.1 comprehensive general liability insurance against all clams of bodily Injury, death or property ^
damage, in amounts of not less than $3,000,000 per occurrence and $5,000,000 aggregate. i

\

ParaaraDh 14. Insurance, is amended to add subsection 14.1.3 to read as follows: (

14.1.3 the Contractor shall maintain business operations coverage to cover professional
malfeasance, errors or omission, or other types of liability resulting from the operations by the •
Contractor under this Agreement, In amounts of not less than $3,000,000 per occurrence and
$5,000,000 aggregate;

Paragraph. .10 of the General Provtsions of this contract, Termination, is amended by adding the |
following language; \

10.1 The State may terminate the Agreement at any time for any reason, at the sole discretion of j
(he State. 30 days after giving the Contractor written notice that the State is exercising Its :
option to terminate the Agreement. \

10:2 The Contractor may terminate the Agreement at any time with or without cause. 90 days after t
giving the State written notice that the Contractor Is exercising Its option to terminate the i
Agreement. Any notice of early termination of the Agreement provided by the Contractor will
constitute rK)tice of termination of the l.ease Agmement entered into by the parties for the j
premises located at the Sununu Youth Services Center, as referenced In Exhibit A of this
Agreement The Agreement and the Lease Agreement will terminate on the same date.
Contractor acknowledges and agrees that all clients will be transitioned to a new Contractor i
In the event of an early termination. The Contractor shall complete and provide the State with
a Transition Plan In accordance with Sections 10.3 through 10.6 below.

10.3 In the event of early terminatior^, the Contractor shall, within 15 days of notice of early
termination, develop and submit to the State a Transition Plan for services under the ''
Agreement, including but not limited to, identifying the present and future needs of clients !
receiving services under the Agreement and establishes a process to meet those needs.

10.4 The Contractor shall fully cooperate with the State and shall promptly provide detailed <
Information to support the Transition Plan including, but not limited to, any infomriation or data
requested by the State related to the termination of the Agreement and Transition Plan and
shall provide ongoing communication and revisions of the Transition Plan to the State as
requested.

10.5 In the event that services under the Agreement, including but not limited to clients receiving
services under 0)6 Agreenient are transitioned to having services delivered by another entity
including contracted providers or the State, the Contracfor shall provide a . process for
uninterrupted delivery of services In the Transition Plan.

10.6 The Contractor shall establish a method of notifying clients and other affected individuals
about the transition. The Contractor shall include the proposed communications in its
Transition Plan submitted to 0)e State as described above.

2. .Revlslor)s to Standard Exhibit C. Special Provisions

2.1. Delete the following Preamble:

Contractor's Obligations: The Contractor covenants and agrees 0)at all funds received by the
Contractor under the Contract shall be used only as payment to the Contractor for services
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^ provided to eligible Individuals and. in the furtherance of the aforesaid covenants, the Contractor
hereby covenants and agrees as follows:

And replace with the following:

Contractor's Obligations: The Contractor hereby covenants and agrees as follows:

2.2. Paragraph 2. Time and Manner of Determination, is deleted In Its entirety.

2.3. Paragraph 3. Documentation, is deleted and is replaced to read as follows:

The Contractor shall maintain a data file on each recipient of services hereunder, which file shall
include all information necessary to support an eligibility determination and such other Informdlion
as the Department requests. The Contractor shall fumish the Department with all forms and
documentation regarding eligibility determinations that the Department may request or require in
accordance with appropriate law or regulations or as detailed in the Service Agreement.

2.4. Paragraph 4. Fair Hearings, is deleted In Its entirety.

2.5. Paragraph 6, Retroactive Payments, is deleted and Is replaced to read as follows:

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Contract or in any other document,
contract or understanding, it is expressly understood and agreed by the parties hereto, that
no retroactive payments will be made hereunder to reimburse the Contractor for costs incurred
for any purpose or for any services provided.

2.6. Paragraph 7. Conditions of Purchase, is deleted In its entirety.

2.7. Paragraph 8; Maintenance of Records. Subparagraph^6.2, Statistical Records, is amended to
read as follows:

Statistical, enrollment, attendance or visit records for each recipient of services during the
Contract Period, which records shall include all records of application and eligibility (including
all forms required to determine eligibility for each such recipient), and records regarding the
provision of services. ^

2.8. Paragraph 9. Aud'rt, is deleted and is replaced to read as follows:

Audit Contractor shall submit an annual aud'rt to the Department within 150 days after the close
of the agency fiscal year. It is recommended that the report e prepared in accordarice with the
provision of Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133. 'Audits of States, Local
Governments, and Non Profit Organizations* and the provisions of Standards for Audit of
Governmental Organizations. Programs. Activities and Functions, issued by the US General
Accounting Office (GAO standards) as they pertain to financial compliance audits.

9.1 AudK and Review: Contractor shall comply with all access and audit requirements imposed
by its various funders, including Medicaid arid will maintain, retain and produce records as required
by those funder relationships.

2.9. Paragraph 10, Confidentiality of Records, is deleted and is replaced to read as follovrs:

All Information, reports, and records maintained hereunder or collected in connection with the
performance oil the services and the Contract shall be confidential and shall not be disclosed by
the Contractor to third parties other than the State, provided however, that pursuant to state laws
and the regulations of the State regarding the use and disclosure of such information, disclosure
may be made to public offtcials requiring such information as reasonably required in connection
with their official duties and for purposes directly connected to the administration of the services
of the Contract.

Gfsnita P8lhway» Exhibit C-1 - Revblons to Standard Provlsiotn Contractor Inittals ■ - t .
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The Contractor is a covered entity as defined under 45 CFR 160,162 and 164 and shall comply
with alt compliance and confidentiality safeguards set forth In state and federal laws and rules.

The Contractor is a substance use disorder provider as defined under.42 CFR Part 2; the
Contractor shall safeguard confidential information as required, and shall ensure compliance
with ail consent and notice requirements prohibiting redisclosure. *

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the covenants and conditions
contained in this Paragraph shall survive the termination of the Contract for any reason
whatsoever.

2.10. Paragraph 11. Reports, Section 11.2. Is deleted and is replaced to read as follows:

11.2. Final Report A final report shall be submitted within ninety (90) days after the end of the
term of this Contract The Final Report shall be in a form satisfactory to the Department and shall
contain a summary statement of progress toward goals and objectives stated in the Proposal and
other information required by the Department.

2.11. Paragraph 12, Completion of Services. Is deleted and is replaced to read as follows:

Disallowance of Costs: Upon termination of the Contract, the Contract and all the obligations of
the parties hereunder (except such obtigations as. by the terms of the Contract are to be performed
after the end of the term of this Contract and/or survive the termination of the Contract) shall
terminate. ,

2.12; Paragraph 13, Credits. Is deleted in its entirety.

2.13.. Paragraph 13, Credits, Subparagraph 13.1, is deleted in its entirety.

2.14. Paragraph 15. Operation of Facilities: Compliance with Laws and Regulations, is deleted and is
replaced to read as follows;

In the operation of any facilities for providing services, the Contractor shall comply with all laws,
orders and regulations of federal, state, county and municipal authorities and cooperate with the
State in order to comply with all laws, orders, and regulations of federal, state, county and
municipal authorities, and shall comply wHh any direction of any Public Officer or offit^rs pursuant
to laws which shall Impose an order or duty upon the State or Contractor with respect to the
operation of the facility or the provision of the services at such facility. If any governmental license
or permit shall be required for the operation of the said facility or the performance of the said
services, the Contractor will procure said license or permit, and will at all times comply with the
terms and conditions of each such license or permit. In connection with the foregoing
requirements, the parties further acknowledge that the State is responsible for ensuring
compliance with all rules, orders, regulations, and requirements of the State Office of the Fire
Mar^al and the local fire protection agency, except that the Contractor acknowledges it is
responsible for cooperating v^th the State to meet the requirements of the State Office of the Fire
Marshal.

2.15. Remove and delete the foDowing under 'Defnitions':

SUPPLANTING OTHER FEDERAL FUNDS: The Contractor guarantees that funds provided
under this Contract will not supplant any existing federal funds available for these services.

Granite Pathways Exhibit C>1-Revbbns to Startdard Provtsiorw Contractor inftiats
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3. Revisions to Standard Exhibit I, Business Associate Agreement

The parties agree that the State's standard ̂ Ibit I. Business Associate Agreement, Is not
applicable to this Agreement and is hereby deleted in Its entirety.

4. Renewal

3(1. The Department reserves the right to renew the Agreement for up to four (4) additional years,
contingent upon satisfactory delivery of seivlces, available funding, written agreement of the
parties' and approval of the Governor and Executive Council.

Granite Pathwaya ExMM C-1 - Revislona io Standard Provtslona Comractor irdlbb
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING DRUG-PRFE WORKPLACE REQUIREMgNTS

The Contractor Identified In Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
Sections 5151-5160 of the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988 (Pub. L. 100-690, Title V. Subtitle D; 41
U.S.C. 701 et seq.), and further agrees to have the Contractor's representative, as identified in Sections
1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions execute the following Certification:

ALTERNATIVE 1 - FOR GRANTEES OTHER THAN INDIVIDUALS

US DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES - CONTRACTORS
US DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION • CONTRACTORS
US DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE - CONTRACTORS

This certification is required by the regulations implementing Sections 5151-5160 of the Drug-Free
Workplace Act of 1988 (Pub. L. 100-690, Title V. Subtitle D; 41 U.S.C. 701 el seq.). The January 31.
1989 regulations were ameruied and published as Part II of the May 25,1990 Federal Register (pages
21681-21691), and require certirication by grantees (and by inference, sub-grantees and sub
contractors). prior to award, that they will maintain a drug-free worltplace. Section 3017.630(c) of the
regulation provides that a grantee (and by Inference, sub-grantees and sub-contractors) that is a State
may elect to make one certificdtion to the Department In each federal fiscal year in lieu of certificates for
each grant during the federal fiscal year covered by the certification. The certificate set out below is a
material representation of fact upon v^ich reliance is placed when the agency awards the grant. False
certihcation or violation of the certification shall be grounds for suspension of payments, suspension or
termination of grants, or government wide suspension or debaiment. Contractors using this form should
send it to:

Commissioner

NH Department of Health and Human Services
129 Pleasant Street,
Concord, NH 03301-6505

1. The grantee certifies that it will or will continue to provide a drug-free workplace by:
1.1. Put>lishlng a statement notifying employees that the unlawful manu^cture, distribution,

dispensing, possession or use of a controlled substance is prohibited in the grantee's
workplace and specifying the actions that will be taken against emrMoyees for violatton of such
prohibition;

1.2. Establishing an ongoing drug-free awareness program to inform employees about
1.2.1. The dangers of drug abuse in the workplace;
1.2.2. The grantee's policy of maintaining a drug-free workplace;
1.2.3. Any available drug counseling, rehabilitation, ar>d employee assistance programs; and
1.2.4. The penalties that may be Imposed upon employees for drug abuse violations

occurring in the workplace;
1.3. Making it a requirement that each employee to be engaged in the performance of the grant be

given a copy of the statement required by paragraph (a);
1.4. Notifying the employee In the statement required by paragraph (a) that, as a condition of

employment urKfer the grant, the employee will
1.4.1. Abide by the terms of the statement; and
1.4.2. Notify the employer In writing of his or her conviction for a violation of a criminal drug

statute occurring in the workplace no later than five calendar days after such
conviction;

1.5. Notifying the agency In writing, within ten calendar days after receiving notice under
subparagraph 1.4.2 from an employee or otherwise receiving actual notice of such conviction.
Employers of convicted employees must provide notice, including position title, to every grant
officer on whose grant activity the convicted employee was working, unless the Federal agency

ExhbK 0 - C«ilinc«tiofl regarding Drug Free Contractor Inltiata
. WofXptace Re<iuirements
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New Hampshire Department of Heatth and Human Services
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has designated a central point for the receipt of such notices. Notice shall Include the
identification nufnber(s) of each affected grant;

1.6. Taking one of the following actions, within 30 calendar days of receiving notice under
subparagraph 1 .A.2, with respect to any employee who Is so convicted
1.6.1. TaMng appropriate personnel action against such an employee, up to and Including

termination, consistent with the requirements of the Rehat)ilitation Act of 1973, as
amended; or

1.6.2. Requiring such employee to participate satisfactorily in a drug abuse assistance or
rehabilitation program approved for such purposes by a Federal. State, or local health,
law enforcement, or other appropriate agency;

1.7. Making a good feith effort to continue to maintain a drug-free workplace through
implementation of paragraphs 1.1,1.2. 1.3.1.4, 1.5, end 1.6.

2. The grantee may insert In the space provided below the slte(s) for the performance of work done In
connection with the specific grant

Place of Performance (street address, city, county, state, zip code) (list each location)
1056 North River Road

Manchester, NH 03104

Check □ If there are workplaces on file thiat are not Identified here.

Contractor Name; Granite Pathways, Inc.

1Q/1/1S

Date Name; Kenneth Brezendff
Title; General Counsel

Exhibit 0 - Centflcatlon reosnilng Drug Free Contrector Inltieb
Workplace Requlremet^
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CERTIFICA-nOW REGARDING LOBBYING

The Contractor identified in Sectton 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
Section 319 of Pubiic Law 101-121, Government wide Guidance for New Restrictions on Lobbying, and
31 U.S.C. 13S2. and further agrees to have the Contractor's representative, as identified in Sections 1.11
and 1.12 of the Generai Provisions execute the foliowing CertiHcation:

US DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES - CONTRACTORS

US DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION - CONTRACTORS
US DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE - CONTRACTORS

Programs (indicate applicable program covered):
•Temporary Assistance to Needy Families under Trtte IV-A
•Child Support Enforcen>ent Program under Title IV-D
•Social Services Block Grant Program under Title XX
•Medicaid Program under Title XIX
•Community Services Block Grant under Title VI
'Child Care Development Block Grant under Title IV

The undersigned certifies, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, that:

1. No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid by or on behalf of the undersigned, to
any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member
of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in
connection with the awarding of any Federal contract, continuation, renewal, amendment or
modification of any Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement (and by specific mention
sub-grantee or sub-contractor).

2. If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for
influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress,
an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this
Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement (and by specffic mention sub*grantee or sub
contractor). the undersigned shaJI complete and submit Standard Form LLL. (Disclosure Form to
Report Lobbying, in accordance with its instructions, attached and Identified as Standard Exhibit E-l.)

3. The undersigned shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award
document for sub-awards at all tiers (including subcontracts, sub-grants, and contracts under grants,
loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all sut>-reclpients shall certify and disclose accordingly.

This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this transactbn
was made or entered into. Submission of this certification Is a prerequisite for making or entering into this
transaction imposed by Section 1352, Title 31. U.S. Code. Any per^n who falls to file the required
certification shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than $10,000 and not more than $100,000 for
each such failure.

Contractor Name: Granite Pathways. Inc.

1Q/1/18

Date Name: Kenneth Brezenoff
Title; General Counsel

ExhbU E - Cerlificstion Regarding Lobbying Contractor InUalt.
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rPRTIFICATlQN REGARDING nPRARMFNT: SUSPENSION

AND OTHER REftPrtMSIHII ITY MATTERS

The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
Executive Office of the President. Executive Order 12549 and 45 CFR Part 76 regarding Debarment,
Suspension, and Other Responsibility flatters, and further agrees to have the Contractor's
representative, as identified in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions execute the foDowing
Certification:

INSTRUCTIONS FOR CERTIFICATION
1. By signing end submitting this proposal (contract), the prospective primary participant is providing the

certification set out below.

2. The inability of a person to provide the certification required below will not necessarily result in denial
of participation in this covered transaction. If necessary, the prospective participant shall submit an
explanation of why it cannot provide the certification. The certification or .explanation will be
considered in connection with the NH Department of Health and Human Services' (DHHS) (
determination whether to enter into this transaction. However, failure of the prospective primary
participant to furnish a certification or an explanation shall disqualify such person from participation in
this transaction.

3. The certification in this clause is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed
when DHHS determined to enter into this transaction. If it is later determined that the prospective
primary participanl knowingly rendered an erroneous certification, in addition to other remedies
available to the Federal Govemment. DHHS may terminate this transaction for cause or default.

4. The prospective primary participant shaD provide immediate written notice to the DHHS agency to
whom this proposal (contract) is submitted if at any time the prospective primary participant learns
that its certification was erroneous when submitted or has become erroneous by reason of changed
circumstances.

5. The terms 'covered transaction," "debarred." "suspended," "ineligible." "lower tier covered
transaction," "participant," "person," "primary covered transaction." "principal." "proposal." and
"voluntarily excluded.' as used in this clause, have the meanings set out In the Definitions and
Coverage sections of the rules implementing Executive Order 12549; 45 CFR Part 76. See the
attached definitions.

6. The prospective primary participant agrees by submitting this proposal (contract) that, should the
proposed covered transaction be entered into, it shall not knowingly enter into any lower tier covered
transaction with a person who is debarred, suspended, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded
from participation In this cohered transaction, unless authorized by DHHS.

7. The prospective primary participant further agrees by submitting this proposal that It will include the
clause titled "Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibilily and Voluntary Exclusion •
Lower Tier Covered Transactions,' provided by DHHS. without modification, in all lower tier covered
transactions and in all solidtations for lower tier covered transactions.

8. A participant in a covered transaction may rely upon a certification of a prospective participant in a
lower tier covered transaction that it is not debarred, suspended. Ineligible, or involuntarily excluded
from the covered transaction, unless It knows that the certification is erroneous. A participant may
decide the method'and frequency by which It determines the ellgibllHy of Its principals. Each
participant may. but is not required to. check the Nonprocurement List (of excluded parties).

9. Nothing contained in the foregoing shall be construed to require establishment of a system of records
In order to render In good faith the certification required by this clause. The knowledgeand

Exhib'it F - Certification Regvdlno O^rment, Suopension Conuactor Irritlats ̂  Mb
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information of a participant is not required to exceed that which is normally possessed by a pnjdent j
person in the ordinary course of business dealings. I

I-

10. Except for transactions authorized under paragraph 6 of these instructions, if a participant in a '
covered transaction knowingly enters into a lower tier covered transaction with a person who is
suspended, debarred, ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation In this transaction, in
addition to other remedies available to the F^eral government, DHHS may terminate this transaction
for cause or default.

PRIMARY COVERED TRANSACTIONS

11. The prospective primary participant certifies to the best of its knowledge and belief, that it and its
principals;
11.1. are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or

voluntarily excluded from covered transactions by any Federal department or agency;
11.2. have not within a three-year period preceding this proposal (contract) been convicted of or had

a ctvll judgment render^ against them for commission of fraud or a criminal offense in
connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a public (Federal. State or local)
transaction or a contract under a public transaction; violation of Federal or State antitrust
statutes or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of
records, making false statements, or receiving stolen properly;

11.3. are not presently indicted for otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a governmental entity
(Federal, State or local) with commission of any of the offenses enumerated in paragraph (l)(b)
of this certification; and

11.4. have not within a three-year period preceding this application/proposal had one or more public
transactions (Federal, State or local) terminated for cause ordefeuit.

12. Where the prospective primary participant Is unable to certify to any of the statements in this
certification, such prospective participant shall attach an explanation to this proposal (contract).

LOWER TIER COVERED TRANSACTIONS ■

13. By signing and submitting this lower tier proposal (contract), the prospective lower tier participant, as
defined in 45 CFR Part 76. certifies to the best of its knowledge and belief that it and its principals;
13.1. are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment. declared ineligible, or

voluntarily excluded from participation in this transaction by any Mera) department or agency.
13.2. where the prospective lower tier participant Is unable to certify to any of the above, such

prospective participant shall attach an explanation to this proposal (contract).

14. The prospective lower tier participant further agrees by submitting this proposal (contract) that it will
include this clause entitled 'Certiflcation Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility, and
Voluntary Exclusion - Lower Tier Covered Transactions,' without modincation in all lower tier covered
transactions and in all solicitations for lower tier covered transactions.

Contractor Name: Granite Pathways, Inc.

^ fir
Date Name: Kenneth Brezenoff

Title: General Counsel

Exhibit F - Certlficatiofl Regartling Debarment. Suspension Contractor Initials
And Other Resportslbiltty Matters
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CeRTtFICATtON OF CQMPI IANCg.WITH.REQUtREMENTS PERTAINING,TQ

PPr^FRAL NQNPISCRIMINATIQN: FQIJAL TREATMENT OF FAITHiBASEgQRbANIZAtiQNS AND
WHISTLEBLQWER.PRQTECTIQNS

The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees by signature of the Contractor's
representative as identitied in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions, to execute the following
certification:

Contractor will comply, and will require any subgrantees or subcontractors to comply, with any applicable
federal nondiscrimination requirements, which may include:

- the Omnibus Crime Control and Safe Streets Act of 1968 (42 U.S.C. Section 3769d) which prohibits
recipients of federal funding under this statute from discriminating, either in employment practices or in
the delivery of services or benefits, on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, and sex. The Act
requires certain recipients to produce an Equal Employment Opportunity Plan;

- the Juvenile Justice Delinquency Prevention Act of 2002 (42 U.S.C. Section S672(b)) which adopts by
reference, the civil rights obligations of the Safe Streets Act Recipients of federal funding under this
statute are prohibited from discriminating, either In employment practices or in the delivery of services or
benefits, on the t>asls of race, color, religion, national origin, and sex. The Act Includes Equal
Employment Opportunity Plan requirements;

• the Civil Rights Ad of 1964 (42 U.S.C. Section 2000d, which prohibits recipients of federal ftnanclal ^
assistance from discriminating on the basis of race, color, or national origin in any program or activity);

• the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. Sedion 794). which prohibits recipients of Federal finandal
assistance from discriminating on the basis of disability, in regard to employment and the delivery of
services or t>eneftts, in any program or activity;

• the Americans with Disabilities Ad of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sections 12131-34), which prohibits
discrimination and ensures equal opportunity for persons with disabilities in employment, -State and local
government services, public accommodations, commercial facilities, and transportation;

• the Education Amendments of 1972 (20 U.S.C. Sections 1681,1683, 1685-86), which prohibits
discrimination on the basis of sex In federally assisted education programs;

-the Age Discrimination Ad of 1975 (42 U.S.C. Sections 6106-07), which prohibits discrimination on the
basis of age In programs or activities receiving Federal financial assistance. It does not include
employment discrimination;

-28C.F.R. pt. 31 (U.S. Department of Justice Regulations - OJJDP Grant Programs); 28C.F.R. pt 42
(U.S. Department of Justice Regulations - Nondiscrimination; Equal Employment Opportunity; Policies
arid Procedures); Executive Order No. 13279 (equal protection of the lav^ for faith-based and community
organizations); Executive Order No. 13559, which provide fundamental principles and policy-making
criteria for partnerships with faith-based and neighborhood organizations;

• 26 C.F.R. pt. 36 (U.S. Department of Justice Regulations - Equal Treatment for Faith-Based
Organizations); and Whlstleblower protections 41 U.S.C. §4712 and The National Defense Authorization
Ad(NDAA) for Fiscal Year 2013 (Pub, L. 112-239. enaded January 2,2013) the Pilot Program for
Enhancement of Contract Employee Whlstleblower Protedions, which protects employees against
reprisal for certain whistle blowing activities in connection with federal grants and contracts.

The certificate set out below is a material representation of fact upon which reliance Is placed when the
agency awards the grant. False certificdtlon or violation of the certification shall be grounds for
suspension of payments, suspension or termination of grants, or government wide suspension or
debarment.
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In the event a Federal or State court or Federal or State administrative agency makes a finding of
discrimination after a due process hearing on the grounds of race, coior. religion, national origin, or sex
against a recipient of funds, the recipient will forward a copy of the finding to the Office for Civil Rights, to
the applicable contracting agency or division within the Department of Health and Human Services, and
to the Department of Health and Human Services Office of the Ombudsman.'

The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees by signature of tt^ Contractor's
representative as Identified in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions, to execute the following
certification;

I. By signir>g and submitting this proposal (contract) (he Contractor agrees to comply with the provisions
indicated above.

Contractor Name: Granite Pathways, Inc.

1Q/1/1B h
Date Name: Kenneth Brezenoff

Title: General Counsel

ExtiibfeG
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CERTIPiCAtiQN REGARDING ENVIRONMENTAL TOBACGQ SMOKE

Public Law 103-227, Part C - Environmenlal Tobacco Smoke, also known as the Pro-Children Act of 1994
(Act), requires that smoking not be permitted In any portion of any indoor facility owned or leased or
contracted for by an entity and used routinely or regularly for the provision of health, day care, education,
or library services to children under the age of 18, If the services are funded by Federal programs either
directly or through State or local governments, by Federal grant contract, loan, or loan guarantee. The
law does not apply to children's services provided in private residences, facilities funded solely by
Medicare or Medlcaid funds, and portions of facilities used for Inpatient drug or alcohol treatrnenL Failure
to comply with the provisions of the law may result in the imposition of a'clvll monetary penalty of up to
$1000 per day and/or the Imposition of an administrative compliance order on the responsible entity.

The Contractor identified In Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees, by signature of the Contractor's
representative as identlFied In Section 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions, to execute the following
certiflcatiori;

1. By signing and submitting this contract, the Contractor agrees to make reasonable efforts to comply
with all applicable provisions of Public Law 103-227, Part C, known as the Pro-Children Act of 1994.

Contractor Name; Granite Pathways. Inc.

1Q/1/18

Date Name; Kenneth Brezenoff

Title; General Counsel

CUVDHHaniOTO
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CERT1FICATIQN:REGARDING.ENViRONMENtALTQBACCQSMQKE

Public Law 103-227, Part C - Environmental Tobacco Smc^e, also known as Ihe Pro-Children Act of 1994
(Act), requires that smoking not be permitted in any portion of any indoor facility owned or leased or
contracted for t>y an entity and used routinely or regularly for the provision of health, day care, education,
or library services to children under the age of 18^ if the services are funded by Federal programs either
directly or through State or local governments, by Federal grant, contract loan, or loan guarantee. The
law does not apply to children's services provided in private residences, facilities funded solely by
Medicare or Medicaid funds, and portions of facilities used for Inpatient drug or alcohol treatment. Failure
to comply with the provisions of the law may result in the imposition of a civil monetary penalty of up to
$1000 per day and/or the Imposition of an administrative compliance order on the responsible entity.

The Contractor Identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees, by signature of the Contractor's
representative as Identified In Section 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions, to execute the following
certification:

1. By signing and submitting this contract, the Contractor agrees to make reasonable efforts to comply
with all applicable provisions of Public Law 103-227. Part C. known as the Pro-Children Act of 1994.

Contractor Name:

03T? m,Name.

Title:

Exhibit H - Certincstion R^srding Corttivctor Initisls
Environments! Tobacco Smoke
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3^

HEALTrt INSURANCE. PQRTABLITY ACT
BUSINESS ASSQCIATE AGREEMENT

The Contractor Identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions of the Agreement agrees to
comply with''the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act, Public Law 104-191 and
with the Standards for Privacy and Security of Individually Identifiable Health Information, 45
CFR Parts 160 and 164 applicable to business associates. As defined herein, "Business
Associate" shall mean the Contractor and subcontractors and agents of the Contractor that
receive, use or have access to protected health information urvfer this Agreement and 'Covered
Entity" shall mean the State of New Hampshire. Department of Health and Human Services.

(1) Deflnltlona.

a. "Breach* shall have the same meaning as the term "Breach" in section 164.402 of Title 45,
Code of Federal Regulations.

b. "Business Associate' has the meaning given such term in section 160.103 ofTltle 45, Code
of Federal Regulations.

c. "Covered Entity' has the meaning given such term in section 160.103 of Title45,
Code of Federal Regulations.

d. 'Desionated Record Set* shall have the same meaning as the term 'designated record set"
in 45 CFR Section 164.501.

e. 'Data AaoreQalion' shall have the same meaning as the term 'data aggregation' in 45CFR
Section 164.501.

f. THealth Care Operations' shall have the same meaning as the term "health care operations'
in 45 CFR Section 164.501.

9- "HITECH Act' means the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health
Act. TitleXIII, Subtitle D, Part 1 & 2 of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of
2009.

h. "HIPAA" means the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of1996. Public Law
104-191 and the Standards for Privacy and Security of Individually Identifiable Health
Information, 45 CFR Parts 160,162 and 164 and amendments thereto.

i. 'Individuar shall have the same meaning as the term 'individual" in 45 CFR Section 160.103
and shall include a person who qualifies as a personal representative in accordance with 45
CFR Section 164.501(g).

j. 'Privacy Rule" shall mean the Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health
Information at 45 CFR Parts 160 and 164, promulgated under HIPAA by the UnitedStates
Department of Health arid Human Services.

K. "Protected Health Information' shall have the same meaning as the term 'protected health
information' in 45 CFR Section 160.103, limited to the information created or received by
Business Associate from or on behalf of Covered Entity. .
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Exhibit I

I. "Required bv Law" shall have the same meaning as the term "required by law" in 45CFR
Section 164.103.

m. 'Secretary*'shall mean the Secretary of the Department of Health and Human Servlcesor
his/her designee.

n. 'Security Rule' shall mean the Security Standards for the Protection of Electronic Protected
Health Information at 45CFR Part 164, Subpart C. and amendments thereto.

o. 'Unsecured Protected Health Information' means protected health information that is not
secured by a technology standard that renders protected health information unusable,
unreadable, or indecipherable to unauthorized individuals and is developed or endorsed by
a standards developing organization that is accredited by the American National Standards
Institute.

p. Other' Defihitioris - Ail terms not othervrise defined herein shall have the meaning
established under 45 C.F.R. Parts 180,162 and 164, as amended from time to time, and the
HITECH

Act.

(2) Business Associate Use and Disclosure of Protected Health Informatioh.

a. Business Associate shall not use, disclose, maintain or transmit Protected Health
Information (PHI) except as reasonably necessary to provide the services outlined under
Exhibit A of the Agreement. Further. Business Associate, Including but not limited to all
its directors, officers, employees and agents, shall not use, disclose, maintain or transmit
PHI in any manner that would constitute a violation of the Privacy and Security Rule.

b. Business Associate may use or disclose PHI:
I. For the proper management and administration of the Business Associate;
II. As required by law. pursuant to the terms set forth in paragraph d. below; or
III. For data aggregation purposes for the health care operations of Covered

Entity.

c. To the extent Business Associate is permitted under the Agreement to disclose PHI to a
-third party. Business Associate must obtain, prior to making any such disclosure, (i)
reasonable assurances from the third party that such PHI will be held confidentially and
used or further disclos^ only as required by law or for the purpose for which rt was
disclosed to the third party; and (ii) an agreement from such third party to notify Business
Associate. In accordance vrith the HIPAA Privacy, Security, and Breach Notification Rules
of any breaches of the confidentiality of the PHI. to the extent it has obtalr^ed knowledge
of such breach.

d. The Business Associate shall not, unless such disclosure is reasonably necessary to
provide services under Exhibit A of the Agreement, disclose any PHI in response to a
request for disclosure on the basis that it is required by law, without first notifying
Covered Entity so that Covered Entity has an opportunity to object to the disclosure and
to seek appropriate relief. If Covered Entity objects to such disclosure, the Business
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Associate shall refrain from disclosing the PHI until Covered Entity has exhausted all
remedies.

e. If the Covered Entity notifies the Business Associate that Covered Entity has agreed to
be bound by additional restrictions over and above those uses or disclosures or security
safeguards of PHI pursuant to the Privacy and Security Rule, the Business Associate
shall be bound by such additional restrictions and shall not disclose PHI in violation of
such additional restrictions and shall abide by any additional security safeguards.

(3) dbllQatlons and Activities of Buftlnesa Aasoclate.

a. The Business Associate shall notify the Covered Entity's Privacy Officer immediately
after the Business Associate becomes aware of any use or disclosure of protected
health information not provided for by the Agreement including breaches of unsecured
protected health Information and/or any security incident that may have an impact on the
protected health information of the Covered Entity.

b. The Business Associate shall immediately perform a risk assessment when ltt>ecomes
aware of any of the at)ove situations. The risk assessment shall Include, but not be
limited to;

o The nature and extent of the protected health information involved, including the
types of Identifiers and the likelihood of re-identification;

0 The unauthorized person used the protected health information or to whom the
disclosure was made;

o Whether the protected health information was actually acquired or viewed
0 The extent to which the risk to the protected health information has been

mitigated.

The Business Associate shall complete the risk assessment within 48 hours ofthe
breach and Immediately report the findings of the risk assessment in writing to the
Covered Entity.

c. The Business Associate shall comply with all sections of the Privacy, Security, and
Breach Notification Rule.

\

d. Business Associate shall make available all of its internal policies and procedures, books
and records relating to the use and disclosure of PHI received from, or created or
received by the Business Associate on behalf of Covered Entity to the Secretai^ for
purposes of determining Covered Entity's compliarKe with HIPAA and the Privacy and
Security Rule.

e. Business Associate shall require all of its business associates that receive, use or have
access to PHI under the Agreement, to agree In writing to adhere to the same
restrictions and conditions on the use and disclosure of PHI contained herein, including
the duty to return or destroy the PHI as provided under Section 3 (I). The Covered Entity
shall be cor^sldered a direct third party beneficiary of the Contractor's txjsiness associate
agreements with Contractor's intended business associates, who will be receiving PHI
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pursuant to this Agreement, with rights of enforcement and indemnrfication from such {
business associates who shall be governed by standard Paragraph #13 of the standard
contract provisions (P-37) of this Agreement for the purpose of use and disclosure of
protected health information.

f. Within five (5) business days of receipt of a written request from Covered Enthy,
Business Associate shall make available durirtg normal business hours at its offices all ^
records, books, agreements, policies and procedures.relating to the use arxtdisclosure j
of PHI to the Covered Entity, for purposes of enabling Covered Entity to determine (
Business Associate's compliance with the terms of the Agreement.

g. Within ten (10) business days of receiving a written request from Covered Entity, i
Business Associate shall provide access to PHI In a Designated Record Set to the ;
Covered Entity, or as directed by Covered Entity, to an individual in order to meet the
requirements under 45 CFR Section 164.524. .

h. Within ten (10) business days of receiving a written request from Covered Entity for an
amendment of PHI or a record about an individual contained in a Designated Record
Set, tt^e Business Associate shall make such PHI available to Covered Entity for
amendment and incorporate any such amendment to enable Covered Entity to fulfill its
obligations under 45 CFR Section 164.526.

i. Business Associate shall document such disclosures of PHI and information related to
such disclosures as would be required for Covered Entity to respond to a request byan
individual for an accounting of disclosures of PHI in accordance Mrlth 45 CFR Section
164.528.

j, Within ten (10) business days of receiving a vmitten request from Covered Entity for a
request for an accounting of disclosures of PHI, Business Associate shall make available
to Covered Entity such Information as Covered Entity may require to fulfill its obligatior^s
to provide an accounting of disclosures with respect to PHI In accordance with 45 CFR
Section 164.528.

k. In the event any individual requests access to, amendment of, or accounting of PHI
directly from the Business Associate, the Business Associate shall within two (2)
business days forward such request to Covered Entity. Covered Entity shall have the
responsibility of responding to forwarded requests. However, If forwarding the
Individual's request to Covered Entity would cause Covered Entity or the Business
Associate to violate HIPAA and the Privacy and Security Rule, the BusinessAssociate
shall instead respond to the individual's request as required by such law and notify
Covered Entity of such response as soon as practicable.

I. Within ten (10) business days of termination of the Agreement, for any reason, the
Business Associate shall return or destroy, as specified by Covered Entity, all PHI
received from, or created or received by the Business Associate In connection with the
Agreement, and shall not retain any copies or back-up tapes of such PHI. If return or
destruction is not feasible, or the disposition of the PHI has been othenmse agreed toin
the Agreement, Business Associate shall continue to extend the protections of the
Agreement, to such PHI and limit further uses and disclosures of such PHI to those
purposes that make the return or destruction infeasible, for so long as Business if Ji\.
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Associate maintains such PHI. If Covered Entity, in its sole discretion, requires that the
Business Associate destroy any or all PHI, the Business Associate shall certify to
Covered Entity that the PHI has been destroyed.

(4) QbiibatlOhs 6f Covefed Entity

a. Covered Entity shall notify Business Associate of any changes or limita1ion(s) in its
Notice of Privacy Practices provided to individuals in accordance with 45 CFR Section

. 164.520, to the extent that such change or limitation may affect Business Associate's
use or disclosure of PHI.

b. Covered EntKy shall promptly notify Business Associate of any changes in, or revocation
of permission provided to Covered Entity by individuals whose PHI may be used or
disclosed by Business Associate under this Agreement, pursuant to 45 CFR Section
164.506 or 45 CFR Section 164.508.

c. Covered entity shall promptly notify Business Associate of any restrictions on the use or
disclosure of PHI that Covered Entity has agreed to in accordance with 45 CFR 164.522,
to the extent that such restriction may affect Business Associate's use or disclosure of
PHI,

(5) Termiiiatlon for Cause

In addition to Paragraph 10 of the standard terms and conditions (P-37) of this
Agreement the Covered Entity may immediately terminate the Agreement upon Covered
Entity's kr^owledge of a breach by Business Associate of the Business Associate
Agreement set forth herein as Exhibit I. The Covered Entity may either immediately
terminate the Agreement or provide an opportunity for Business Associate to cure the
alleged breach within a timeframe specified by Covered Entity. If Covered Entity
determines that neither termination nor cure is feasible. Covered Entity shall report the
violation to the Secretary.

(6) Miscellaneous

a. Defihitlbhis.and Reoulatoiv References. All terms used, but not otherwise defined herein,
shall have the same meaning as those terms in the Privacy and Security Rule, amended
from time to time. A reference in the Agreement, as amended to include this Exhibit 1. to
a Section in the Privacy and Security Rule means the Section as in effect or as
amended.

b. Amendment. Covered Entity and Business Associate agree to take such action as is
necessary to amend the Agreement, from time to time as is necessary for Covered
Entity to comply with the changes In the requirements of HIPAA, the Privacy and
Security Rule, and applicable federal and state law.

c. Data Ownership. The Business Associate acknowledges that it has no ownership rights
with respect to the PHI provided by or created on behalf of Covered Entity.

d. Interpretation. The parties agree that any ambiguity in the Agreenrwnt shall be resolved
to permit Covered Entity to comply with HIPAA, the Privacy and Security Rule.
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SeorMation. If any term or condition of this Exhibit I orihe application thereof to any
person(s} or circumstance is held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect other terms or
conditions which can be given effect without the invalid term or cortdition; to this end the
terms and conditions of this Exhibit I are declared severable.

Survival. Provisions in this Exhibit I regarding the use and disclosure of PHI. return or
destruction of PHI, extensions of the protections of the Agreement in section (3) i. the
defense and indemnification provisions of section (3) e and Paragraph 13 of the
standard terms and conditions (P-37), shall sun/ive the termination of the Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have duly executed this Exhibit I.

Department of Health and Human Services

The State

Signature of Authorized Representative.

Name of Authorized Representative

Title of Authorized Representative

Date

Granite Pathways, Inc.

Name of the Contractor

Signature of Authorized Representative

Kenneth Brezenoff

Name of Authorized Representative

General Counsel

Title of Authorized Representative

10/1/18 :

Date
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rPRtlFrCAttON-RFfiARblNrt THE FEDERAL FUNDING ACCQllNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCYi.rn.n ■vr...wnn. ArT/FFATA^ compliance

The Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act (FFATA) requires prime awardees of Indtvtdual
Federal grants equal to or greater than $25,000 and awarded on or after October 1.2010. to report on
data related to executive compensation and associated first-tier sub-grants of $25,000 or more. If the Initial
award is below $25,000 but subsequent grant modifications result in a total award equal to or over
$25 000, the avrard Is subject to the FFATA reporting requirements, as of the date of the award.
In »:cortance with 2 CFR Part 170 {Reporting Subaward and Executive Compensation Information), the
Department of Health and Human. Services (DHHS) must report the following information for any
subaward or contract award subject to the FFATA reporting requirements:
1. Name of entity
2. Amount of award
3. Funding agericy
4. NAICS code (or contracts ICFDA program number for grants
5. Program source
6. Award title descriptive of the purpose of the funding action
7. location of the entity
8. Principle place of performance
9. Unique identifier of the entity (DUNS #)
10. Total comper>sation and names of ttie top five executives If:

10.1. IWore than 80% of annual gross revenues are from the Federal government and those
revenues are greater than $25M annually and

10.2. Compensation information is not already available through reporting to the SEC.

Prime grant recipients must submit FFATA required data by the end of the month, plus 30 days, in which
the award or aw^ amendment Is made.
The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
The Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act. Public Law 109-282 and Public Law 110-252,
and 2 CFR Part 170 (Reporting Subaward and Executive Compensation Information), and further agrees
to have Uie Contractor's representative, as identified in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions
execute the following Certification:
The below named Contractor agrees to provide needed Information as outlined atxwe to the NH
Department of Health and Human Sen/ices'and to comply with all applicable provisions of the Federal
Financial AccountaWlily and Transparency Act

Contractor Name: Granite Pathways. Inc.

1Q/1/1fi

Date Name: Kenneth Brezenoff
Title: General Counsel

C(X0HHS/1107O
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FORM A

As the Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions. I certify that the responses to the
below listed questions are true and accurate.

1. The DUNS numt>er for vour entity is:. 019392707

2. In your business or organization's preceding completed fiscal year, did your business or organization
receive (1) 80 percent or more of your annual gross revenue in U.S. federal contracts. sut>contracts.
bans, grants, sub-grants, and/or cooperative agreements; and (2) $25,000,000 or more in annual
gross revenues from U.S. federal contracts, subcontracts, loans, grants, subgrants, and/or
cooperative agreements?

NO YES

If the answer to #2. above is NO. stop here

If the answer to #2 above is YES. please answer the following:

3. Does the public have access to information about the compensation of the executives in your
business or organization through periodic reports filed under section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (IS U.S.C.78m(a). 78o(d)) or section 6104 of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986?

NO YES

If the answer to #3 above is YES, stop here

If the answer to #3 above is NO, please answer the following:

The names and compensation of the five most highly compensated officers in your business or
organization are as follows:

Name:.

Name:.

Name:.

Name:.

Name:

Amount

Amount:

Amount

Amount.

Amount

CUOHKSntO?13
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Exhibit K

DHHS Information Security Requirements

A. Definitions ^

The following terms may be reflected and have the described meaning in this document:

1. 'Breach' means the loss of control, compromise, unauthorized disclosure,
unauthorized acquisition, unauthorized access, or any similar term referring to
situations where persons other than authorized users and for an other than authorized
purpose have access or potential access to personally identifiable information,
vvhether physical or electronic. With regard to Protected Health Information," Breach"
shall have the same mearting as the tenn "Breach* In section
164.402 of Title 45, Code of Federal Regulations.

2. "Computer Security Incident" shall have the same meaning "Computer Security
Incident" In section two (2) of NIST Publication 800-61, Computer Security Incident
Handling Guide, National Institute of Standards and Technology, U.S. Department of
Commerce.

3. "Confidential Information' or 'Confidential Data' means all confidential information
disclosed by one party to the other such as all medical, health, financial, public
assistance benefits and personal information Including without limitation, Substance
Abuse Treatment Records, Case Records, Protected Health Infonnation and
Personally Identifiable Information.

Confidential Information also includes any and ail information owned or managed by
the Stale of NH - created, received from or on behalf of the Department of Health and
Human Services (DHHS) or accessed in the course of performing contracted services
- of which collection, disclosure, protection, and disposition is govemed by state or
federal law or regulation. This information includes, but Is not limited to Protected
Health Information (PHI), Personal Information (PI), Personal Financial Information

'  (PFI), Federal Tax Information (FTI), Social Security Numbers (SSN), Payment Card
Industry (PCI), and or other sensitive and confidential information.

4. 'End User' means any person or entity (e.g., contractor, contractor's employee,
business associate. sut>contractor, other downstream user, etc.) that receives DHHS
data or derivative data in accordance with the terms of this Contract.

5. 'HIPAA' means the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 and the
regulations promulgated thereunder.

6. 'Incident' means an act that potentially violates an explicit or implied security policy,
which includes attempts (either failed or successful) to gain unauthorized access to a
system or its data, unwanted disruption or denial of service, the unauthorized use of a
system for the processing or storage of data; and changes to system hardware,
firmware, or software characteristics without the owner's knowledge. Instruction, or
consent. Incidents include the loss of data through theft or device misplacement, loss
or misplacement of hardcopy documents, and misrouting of physical or electronic

m.
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DHHS Information Security Requirements

mail, all of which may have the potential to put the data at risk of unauthorized
access, use, disclosure, modification or destruction.

7. "Open Wireless Networic" means any network or segment of a network that is not
designated by the State of New Hampshire's Department of Information
Technology or delegate as a protected network (designed, tested, and approved,
by rr>eans of the State, to transmit) will be considered an open netvrork and not
adequately secure for the transmission of unencrypted PI, PFI, PHI or confidential
DHHS data.

8. "Personal Information" (or "PI") means Information which can be used to distinguish or
trace an individual's identity, such as their name, social security number, personal
information as defined in New Hampshire RSA 359-C:19, biometric records, etc..
alone, or when combined with other personal or identifying information which is linked
or linkable to a specific individual, such as date and place of birth, mother's maiden
name. etc.

9. "Privacy Rule" shall mean the Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health
Information at 45 C.F.R. Parts 160 and 164, promulgated under HIPAA by the United
Stales Department of Health and Human Services.

10. "Protected Health Information" (or "PHr) has the same meaning as provided in the
definition of 'Protected Health Information" in the HIPAA Privacy Rule at 45 C.F.R. §
160.103.

11. "Security Rule" shall mean the Security Standards for the Protection of Electronic
Protected Health Information at 45 C.F.R. Part 164, Subpart C. and amendments
thereto.

12. "Unsecured Protected Health Information' means Protected Health Information that is
not secured by a technology standard that renders Protected Health Information
unusable, unreadable, or Indecipherable to unauthorized individuals and is developed
or endorsed by a standards developing organization that is accredited by the American
National Standards Institute.

I. RESPONSIBILITIES OF DHHS AND THE CONTRACTOR

A. Business Use and Disclosure of Confidential Information.

1. The Contractor must not use. disclose, maintain or transmit Confidential Information
except as reasonably necessary as outlined under this Contract. Further, Contractor,
including but not limited to all its directors, officers, employees and agents, must not
use, disclose, maintain or transmit PHI In any manner that would constitute a violation
of the Privacy and Security Rule.

2. The Contractor must not disclose any Confidential Information in response to a
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request for disclosure on the basis that it is required by law, in response to a subpoena,
etc.. without first notifying DHHS so that DHHS has an opportunity to consent or object
to the disclosure.

3. If DHHS notifies the Contractor that DHHS has agreed to be bourtd by additional
restrictions over and above those uses or disclosures or security safeguards of PHI
pursuant to the Privacy and Security Rule, the Contractor must be bound by such
additional restrictions and must not disclose PHI in violation of such additional

restrictions and must abide by any additional security safeguards.

4. The Contractor agrees that DHHS Data or derivative there from disclosed to an End
User must only be used pursuant to the terms of this Contract.

5. The Contractor agrees DHHS Data obtained under this Contract may not be used for
any other purposes that are not irKlicated in this Contract

6. The Contractor.agrees to grarrt access to the data to the authorized representatives of
DHHS for the purpose of inspecting to confirm compliance with the terms of this
Contract.

METHODS OF SECURE TRANSMISSION OF DATA

1. Application Encryption. If End User Is transmitting DHHS data containing Confidential
Data between applications, the Contractor attests the applications have been
evaluated by an expert knowledgeable in cyber security and that said application's;
encryption capabilities ensure secure transmission via the internet

2. Computer Disks ar>d Portable Storage Devices. End User may not use computer disks or
portable storage devices, such as a thumb drive, as a method of transmitting DHHS data.

3. Encrypted Email. End User may only employ email to transmit Confidential Data if
email is encrvoted and being sent to and being received by email addresses of
persons authorized to receive such Information.

4. Encrypted Web Site. If End User is employing the Web to transmit Confidential Data,
the secure socket layers (SSL) must be used and the web site must be secure. SSL
encrypts data transmitted via a Web site.

5. File Hosting Sennces, also known as File Sharing Sites. End User may not use file
hosting services, such as Dropbox or Google Cloud Storage, to transmit Confidential
Data.

6. Ground Mall Service. End Usermay only transmit Confidential Data via cerf/7ied ground
mail within the continental U.S. and when sent to a named individual.

7. Laptops and PDA. If End User is employing portable devices to transmit Confidential
Data said devices must be encrypted and password-protected.

8. Open Wireless Networks. End User may not transmit Confidential Data via an open
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wireless r^twork. End User must employ a virtual private network (VPN) when
remotely transmitting via an open wireless network.

9. Remote User Communication. If End User is employing remote communication to
access or transmit Conndential Data, a virtual private network (VPN) must be installed
on the End User's mobile device(s) or laptop from which information will be
transmitted or accessed.

10. SSH File transfer Protocol (SFTP). also known as Secure File Transfer Protocol. If
End User is employing an SFTP to transmit Confidential Data. End User will structure
the Folder and access privileges to prevent Inappropriate disclosure of information.
SFTP folders and sub-folders used for trar^mitting Confidential Data will be coded for
24-hour auto-detetlon cycle (i.e. Confidential Data will be deleted every 24 hours).

I

11. Wireless Devices. If End User Is transmitting Confidential Data via wireless devices, all
data must be encrypted to prevent inappropriate disclosure of Information.

III. RETENTION AND DISPOSITION OF IDENTIFIABLE RECORDS

The Contractor win only retain the data and any derivative of the data for the duration of this
Contract. After such time, the Contractor will have 30 days to destroy the data and any
derivative in whatever form it may exist, unless, otherwise required by law or permitted under
this Contract. To this end. the parties must;

A. Retention

1. The Contractor agrees It will not store, transfer or process data collected in
connection with the services rendered under this Contract outside of the United

States. This physical location requirement shall also apply in the implementation of
cloud computing, cloud service or cloud storage capabilities, and includes backup
data and Disaster Recovery locations.

2. The Contractor agrees to ensure proper security monitoring capabilities are in place
to detect potential security events that can impact State of NH systems and/or
Department confidential information for contractor provided systems.

3. The Contractor agrees to provide security awareness and education for Its End Users
in support of protecting Department confidential information.

4. The Contractor agrees to retain all electronic and hard copies of Confidential Data
in a secure location and Identified in section IV. A.2

5. The Contractor agrees Confidential Data stored in a Cloud must be in a
FedRAMP/HITECH compliant solution and comply with ail applicable statutes and
regulations regarding the privacy and security. All servers and devices must have
currently-supported and hardened operating systems, the latest anti-viral, anti-
hacker, anti-spam, anti-spyware, and anti-malware utilities. The environment, as a
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whole, must have aggressive intrusion-detection and firewall protection. ^

6. The Contractor agrees to and ensures its complete cooperation with the State's
Chief Information Officer In the detection of any security vulnerability of the hosting
infrastructure.

B. Disposition ,

1. If the Contractor will maintain any Confidential Information on Its systems (or its sub- j
contractor systems), the Contractor will maintain a documented process for securely ;
disposing of such data upon request or contract termination; and will obtain written \
certification for any State of New Hampshire data destroyed by the Contractor or any '<
subcontractors as a part of ongoing, emergency, and or disaster recovery \
operations. When no longer in use. electronic media containing State of New ■
Hampshire data shall be rendered unrecoverable via a secure wipe program in !
accordance with industry-accepted standards for secure deletion and media \
sanltization, or otherwise physically destroying the media (for example, degaussing)
as described in NIST Special Publication 8(X)-88, Rev 1, Guidelines for Media
Sanitization, National Institute of Standards and Technology, U. S. Department of i
Commerce. The Contractor will document and certify in writing at time of the data
destruction, and will provide written certification to the Department upon request. i
The written certification will include all details necessary to demonstrate data has I
been properly destroyed and validated. Where applicable, regulatory and j
professional standards for retention requirements will be jointly evaluated by the i
State and Contractor prior to destruction.

2. Unless otherwise specified, within thirty (30) days of the termination of this Contract,
Contractor agrees to destroy all hard copies of Confidential Data using a secure
method such as shreddir>g. ■

3. Unless otherwise specified, within thirty (30) days of the termination of this Contract,
Contractor agrees to completely destroy all electronic Confidential Data by means
of data erasure, also known as secure data wiping.

IV. PROCEDURES FOR SECURITY

A. Contractor agrees to safeguard the DHHS Data received under this Contract, and any —
derivative data or files, as follows;

1. The Contractor will maintain proper security controls to protect Department confidential
information collected, processed, managed, and/or stored in the delivery of contracted
services.

2. The Contractor will maintain policies and procedures to protect Department confidential
information throughout the information Irfecyde, where applicable, (from creation,
transformation, use. storage and secure destruction) regardless of the media used to
store the data (i.e., tape, disk, paper, etc.).
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

Exhibit K

DHHS Information Security Requirements

3. The Contractor will maintain appropriate authentication and access controls to
contractor systems that collect, transmit, or store Department confidential information
where applicable.

4. The Contractor will ensure proper security monitoring capabilities are in place to detect
potential security events that can impact State of NH systems and/or Department
confidential information for contractor provided systems.

5. The Contractor will provide regular security awareness and education for its End Users
in support of protecting Department confidential information.

6. If the Contractor will be sub-contracting any core functions of the engagement
supporting the services for State of New Hampshire, the Contractor will maintain a
program of an internal process or processes that defines speciftc security expectations,
and monitoring compliance to security requirements that at a minimum match those for
the Contractor, including breach notification requirements.

7. The Contractor will work with the Department to sign and comply with all applicable
State of New Hampshire and Department system access and authorization policies and
procedures, systems access forms, and computer use agreements as part of obtaining
and maintaining access to any Department sy8tem(s). Agreements will be completed
and signed by the Contractor and any applicable sub-contractors prior to system
access being authorized.

8. If the Department determines the Contractor is a Business Associate pursuant to 45
CFR 160.103, the Contractor will execute a HIPAA Business Associate Agreement
(BAA) with the Department aruj is responsible for maintaining compliance with the
agreement.

9. The Contractor will work with the Department at its request to complete a System
Management Survey. The purpose of the survey is to enable the Department and
Contractor to monitor for any changes in risks, threats, and vulnerabilities that may
occur over the life of the Contractor engagement. The survey will be completed
annually, or an alternate time frame at the Departments discretion with agreement by
the Contractor, or the Department may request the survey be completed when the
scope of the engagement between the Department and the Contractor charges.

10. The Contractor will not store, knowingly or unknowingly, any State of New Hampshire
or Department data offshore or outside (he boundaries of the United States unless prior
express written cor^sent is obtained from the Information Security Office leadership
member within the Department.

11. Data Security Breach Liability. In the event of any security breach Contractor shall
make efforts to investigate the causes of the breach, promptly take measures to prevent
future breach and minimize any damage or loss resulting from the breach. The State
shall recover from the Contractor all costs of response and recovery from
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DHHS Information Security Requirements

the breach, including but not limited to: credit monitoring services, maiiing costs and [
costs associated wHh website and telephone cail center services necessary due to the ;
breach. j

I

12. Contractor must, comply with ail appiicable statutes and regulations regarding the 1
privacy and security of Confidential Information, and must in all other respects maintain '
the privacy ar^ security of PI and PHI at a level artd scope that is not less than the 1
level and scope of, requirements applicable to federal agencies, including, but not
limited to, provisions of the Privacy Act of 1974 (5 U.S.C. § 552a), DHHS Privacy Act ^
Regulations (45 C.F.R. §5b), HIPAA Privacy and Security Rules (45
C.F.R. Parts 160 and 164) that govern protections for individually identifiable health
information and as applicable under State law.

13. Contractor agrees to establish and maintain appropriate administrative, technical, and i
physical safeguards to protect the confidentiality of the Confidential Data and to prevent
unauthorized use or access to it. The safeguards must provide a level and scope of
security that is not less than the level and scope of security requirements established
by the State of New Hampshire. Department of Information Technology. Refer to
Vendor Resources/Procurement at http$://www.nh.gov/doit/vendor/index.htm for the
Department of Information Technology policies, guidelines, standards, and
procurement information relating to vendors.

14. Contractor agrees to maintain a documented breach notification and incident response
process. The Contractor will notify the State's Privacy Officer, and additional email
addresses provided in this section, of any security breach within two
(2) hours of the time that the Contractor learns of Its occurrence. This includes a
cpnfidentiai information breach, computer security incident, or suspected breach which
affects or includes any State of New Hampshire systems that connect to the State of
New Hampshire network.

15. Contractor must restrict access to the Confidential Data obtained under this Contract
to only those authorized End Users who need such DHHS Data to perform their
official duties in connection with purposes identified in this Contract.

16. The Contractor must ensure that all End Users:

a. comply with such safeguards as referenced in Section i V A. above, implemented
to protect Confidential information that is furnished by DHHS under this Contract
from loss, theft or inadvertent disclosure.

b. safeguard this Information at all times.

c. ensure that laptops and other electronic devices/media containing PHI, PI, or PR
are encrypted and password-protected.

d. send emails containing Confidential i nformation only if encrvoted and being sent
to and t>eing received by email addresses of persons authorized to receive such
information.
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e. limit disclosure of the Confidential Information to the extent permitted by law.

f. Confidential Information received under this Contract and individually identifiable
data derived from DHHS Data, must be stored in an area that is physically and
technologically secure from access by unauthorized persons during duty hours
as well as noTKlirty hours (e.g., door locks, card keys, biometric Identifiers, etc.).

g. only authorized End Users may transmit the Confidential Data, including any
derivative files containing personally Identifiable information, and In all cases,
such data must be encrypted at all times when in transit, at rest, or when stored
on portable media as required in section IV above.

h. In all other instances Confidential Data must be maintained, used and disclosed
using appropriate safeguards, as determined by a risk-based assessment of the
circumstances involved.

i. understand that their user credentials (user name and password) must not be
shared with anyone. End Users will keep their credential information secure. This
applies to credentials used to access the site directly or indirectly through a third
party application.

Contractor Is responsible for oversight and compliance of their End Users. DHHS
reserves the right to conduct onsite inspections to monitor compliance with this Contract,
including the privacy and security requirements provided in herein. HIPAA, and other
applicable laws and Federal regulations until such time the Confidential Data is disposed
of in accordance with this Contract.

V. LOSS REPORTING

The Contractor must notify the State's Privacy Officer, Information Security Office and
Program Manager of any Security incidents and Breaches within two (2) hours of the time
that the Contractor learns of their occurrence.

The Contractor must further handle and report Incidents and Breaches involving PHI In
accordance with the agency's documented Incident Handling and Breach Notification
procedures and in accordance with 42 C.F.R. §§ 431.300 - 306. In addition to, and
notwithstanding, Contractor's compliance with all applicable obligations and procedures.
Contractor's procedures must also address how the Contractor will;

1. Identify Incidents;

2. Determine if personally identifiable information is involved in Incidents;

3. Report suspected or confirmed Incidents as required in this Exhibit or P-37;

4. Identify and convene a core response group to determine the risk level of Incidents
and determine risk-based responses to Incidents; and
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5. Determine whether Breach notification Is required, and, if so, identify appropriate
Breach notification methods, timing, source, and contents from, among different
options, and bear costs associated with the Breach notice as well as any mitigation
measures.

Incidents and/or Breaches that implicate PI must be addressed and reported, as
applicable, in accordance with NH RSA 359-C:20.

VI. PERSONS TO CONTACT

A. DHHS contact for Data Management or Data Exchange issues;

DHHSInformatlonSecurityOffice@dhhs.nh.gov

B. DHHS contacts for Privacy issues:

DHHSPrivacyOfficer@dhhs.nh.90v

C. DHHS contact for Information Security Issues:

DHHSInformationSecurityOffice@dhhs.nh.gov

D. DHHS contact for Breach notifications:

DHHSInformatlonSecurityOfflce@dhhs.nh.gov

DHHSPrlvacy.Officer@dhhs.nh.gov
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